

JCCCS Journal of Childhood, Education & Society

Volume 5 Issue 3 November 2024

ISSN: 2717-638X

Journal of Childhood, Education & Society

Volume 5 • Issue 3 November 2024

Editor in Chief Mehmet Toran, Ph.D., Istanbul Kultur University, Türkiye

Associate Editors

Adrijana Višnjić Jevtić, Ph.D., University of Zagreb, Croatia Aileen Garcia, Ph.D., University of Missouri, USA
Carmen Huser, Ph.D., Early Childhood Australia, Australia Eleonora Teszenyi, Ph.D., The Open University, UK Ibrahim H. Acar, Ph.D., Ozyegin University, Türkiye Mesut Saçkes, Ph.D., Balıkesir University, Türkiye Mine Gol-Guven, Ph.D., Boğaziçi University, Türkiye Stamatios Papadakis, Ph.D., The University of Crete, Greece

Assistant Editors

Fatma Büşra Aksoy-Kumru, Ph.D., The University of Edinburgh, UK Kerem Avci, Ph.D., Hacettepe University, Türkiye Taibe Kulaksiz, Ph.D., Heidelberg University of Education, Germany

Editorial Board

Ahmet Simsar, Ph.D., Sharjah Education Academy, United Arab Emirates Lasse Lipponen, Ph.D., University of Helsinki, Finland Alicje Renata Sadownik, Ph.D., Western Norway University of Applied Sciences, Norway Maelis Karlsson Lohmander, Ph.D., University of Gothenburg, Sweden Anikó Vargáné Nagy, Ph.D., University of Debrecen, Hungary Maide Orcan, Ph.D., Mugla Sitki Kocman University, Türkiye Aysel Tufekci, Ph.D., Gazi University, Türkiye Marcruz Yew Lee Ong, Ph.D., Saint Francis University, Hong Kong Betty Liebovich, Ph.D., Goldsmiths University of London, UK Martha Allexsaht-Snider, Ph.D., University of Georgia, USA Burcu Unlutabak, Ph.D., John Hopkins University, USA Maryam S. Sharifian, Ph.D., James Madison University, USA Carolyn Brockmeyer Cates, Ph.D., State University of New York Purchase College, USA Mehmet Mart, Ph.D., Necmettin Erbakan University, Türkiye Ebru Aydın Yüksel, Ph.D., Istanbul Kultur University, Türkiye Michael F. Kelley, Ed.D., Arizona State University, USA Elif Karsli, Ph.D., University of South Carolina, USA Mustafa Yasar, Ph.D., Cukurova University, Türkiye Noelia Sánchez-Pérez, Ph.D., University of Zaragoza, Spain Elsa Lucia Escalante Barrios, Ph.D., Universidad del Norte, Colombia Ersoy Erdemir, Ph.D., Bogazici University, Türkiye Ozcan Dogan, Ph.D., Hacettepe University, Türkiye Francesca Zanatta, Ph.D., University of East London, UK Paulette A. Luff, Ph.D., Anglia Ruskin University, UK Eva Mikuska, Ph.D., University of Portsmouth, UK Pekka Mertala, Ph.D., University of Jyväskylä, Finland Gulsah Ozturk, Ph.D., Federation University Australia, Australia Ramazan Sak, Ph.D., Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Türkiye Hasina Banu Ebrahim, Ph.D., University of South Africa, South Africa Riza Ozdemir, Ph.D., Zonguldak Bulent Ecevit University, Türkiye Heidi Kloos, Ph. D., University of Cincinnati, USA Sabina Savadova, Ph.D., The University of Edinburgh, UK Ibrahim Halil Diken, Ph. D., Anadolu University, Türkiye Sharolyn Pollard-Durodola, Ph.D., University of Nevada Las Vegas, USA Ikbal Tuba Sahin-Sak, Ph.D., Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Türkiye Sharon L. Raimondi, Ph.D., University at Buffalo, USA Jesús Paz-Albo, Ph.D., King Juan Carlos University, Spain Sonnur Isitan, Ph.D., Balikesir University, Türkiye Jie Gao, Ph.D., University College London, UK Sultan Kilinc, Ph.D., Syracuse University, USA Jolyn Blank, Ph.D., University of South Florida, USA Tim Rohrmann, Ph.D., University of Applied Science and Arts Hildesheim, Germany Kathy Cabe Trundle, Ph.D., Utah State University, USA Tony Bertram, Ph.D., Centre for Research in Early Childhood, UK Ken Blaiklock, Ph.D., Unitec Institute of Technology, New Zealand Yan Zhu, Ph.D., University College London, UK Konstantina Rentzou, Ph.D., University of Ioannina, Greece Yasin Ozturk, Ph.D., Trabzon University, Türkiye Kristin M. Gagnier, Ph.D., Johns Hopkins University, USA Yuwei Xu, Ph.D., University College London, UK Kyunghwa Lee, Ph.D., University of Georgia, USA Zsuzsa Millei, Ph.D., Tampere University, Finland

Language Editor

Fetiye Erbil, Bogazici University, Türkiye

Editorial Assistants

Gizem Alvan, Bogazici University, Türkiye Helena Biškup, University of Zagreb, Croatia Serbest Ziyanak, Ph.D., Van Yuzuncu Yil University, Türkiye

Publisher: Journal of Childhood, Education and Society

Publishing Manager: Dr. Mehmet Toran

Editorial Office: Istanbul Kültür University, Faculty of Education, Basin Ekspres Campus, 34303 Küçükçekmece/ Istanbul-Türkiye

e-mail: editor@j-ces.com Phone: +902124984131 Cover Page Picture: Diren Toran (3 years old-2019)

Publication Type: Published triennially, peer-reviewed, open-access academic journal.

WEB: https://www.j-ces.com/index.php/jces/index, DOI: https://doi.org/10.37291/2717638X.202453

ISSN: 2717-638X

Journal of Childhood, Education & Society

Volume 5 • Issue 3 November 2024

CONTENTS

RESEARCH ARTICLES	
Presentations of children in research articles framed within the theory of pedagogical content knowledge	
Anneli Hippinen Ahlgren	305-318
Drama-based pedagogy for preschoolers: A narrative inquiry of Nepali educators	
Dolma Lama, Niroj Dahal & Pushpa Kumari Sunar	319-328
The naturalistic teaching process as an inclusive practice: Preschool teachers' perspectives	
Düriye Merve Tuna & Ibrahim Halil Diken	329-341
Enhancing playful interactions: eCoaching mothers of preschool children with disabilities	
Amanda H. Passmore & Marie Tejero Hughes	342-358
'So, this will do for you guys': A closer look at Maine's Part C rural service delivery	
Deborah L. Rooks-Ellis & Christine M. Spence	359-370
Unintentional injuries at home and in the preschool setting: Greek ECEC professionals' and preschoolers' parents' knowledge and attitudes towards first aid	
Konstantina Rentzou & George Daglas	371-385
A systematic review of studies investigating quality of inclusive preschool classrooms	
Lisa Butterworth, Salih Rakap & Emrah Gülboy	386-406
An international scoping review focused on gifted and talented children: Early identification and inclusive education	
Fanny Mossberg, Johanna Lundqvist & Louise Sund	407-423

Presentations of children in research articles framed within the theory of pedagogical content knowledge

Anneli Hippinen Ahlgren¹

Abstract: Teachers' knowledge about children is a part of teachers' Pedagogical Content Knowledge (PCK). With this in mind, the purpose of this study is to generate knowledge about how children are presented in PCK research. This is carried out by examining both the existence and the nature of descriptions related to presentations of children in selected PCK research articles. The method used in this qualitative study is inspired by document analysis and the analysis is a combination of content analysis and thematic analysis. In the analysis, articles presenting results from studies conducted in primary schools and in preschools were used. The focus of the analysis is on whether or not children are presented in the texts as active participants in teaching situations. The findings were divided into three themes: Presentations of children through the construct of PCK, Presentations of children's thinking and motivation, and Presentations of children in play-based situations. The results show children as active participants with materials and in informal learning spaces, and that children can influence teaching situations through the teachers' knowledge of children. One theme stands out in the analysis of the texts where children are presented as active participants: Presentations of children in play-based situations where children are described as being in control of their play, to which the teachers then adapt their teaching. It is in these presentations that children's active participation and agency is most clearly defined.

Introduction

Article History Received: 31 August 2023 Accepted: 24 July 2024

Keywords Children; PCK; Teaching; Agency; Document analysis

This study focuses on presentations of children in research articles that present research in the tradition of the Pedagogical Content Knowledge (PCK) theoretical framework (Shulman, 1986; 1987). The research interest focuses on when and how children are described as active participants and in this way earlier PCK research may illustrate how children are viewed in different educational practices. In this study, two educational practices for learning are central: primary school and preschool. Studying these two practices may provide an understanding of whether or not the practice in which the PCK research takes place influences the way children are presented.

One profession that could be affected by this study is the school-age educare teachers in Sweden. In Sweden, school-age educare is directed towards education and care of pupils between the ages of six and twelve before, after, and during school. School-age educare teachers teach in an interdisciplinary way, using different fields of knowledge simultaneously, taking into account the needs, interests, and experiences of the children. PCK research in school-age educare is almost non-existent and could be an important part of the development of the profession of school-age educare teachers. Teachers in school-age educare therefore need to have pedagogical content knowledge about how to teach and plan teaching in which children are active participants. The scrutiny of the articles produced in the PCK research tradition in this study focuses on how children are presented in research articles from the related educational practices of primary school and preschool, in an attempt to initiate a discussion on how school-age educare is aimed at the age of children in primary school. In addition, preschool articles are selected because of the kindred educational attitude between preschool and school-age educare with a more holistic approach

¹ Stockholm University, Department of Child and Youth Studies, Stockholm, Sweden, e-mail: anneli.hippinen-ahlgren@buv.su.se, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0003-4032-0877

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

based on education, care, and developmental progression with the priority of the child's wellbeing and enjoyment.

PCK originated in the 1980s and has been scrutinised, criticised and developed since then (Gess-Newsome, 2015; Hume et al., 2019; Shulman, 1986; 1987; 2015). Research using PCK as a theoretical framework emphasises teachers and their knowledge. This is often related to a specific subject in school. The concept *Subject matter content knowledge* is important in this tradition for depicting teachers' ability to make instructional choices which is an important part of teachers' PCK (Shulman, 1986). According to Shulman, PCK is teachers' professional knowledge related to teaching.

The concept of agency is inspired by the sociology of childhood (James & Prout, 1997) where children are perceived as active agents in the construction of their own lives, the lives of those around them and of the societies in which they live. According to Dreke (2016), the concept of children's agency is now setting normative standards for the academic discipline of pedagogy through its influence on educational institutions through the integration of the concept into the curriculum in, for example, Brazil and New Zealand. However, the concept of agency is an important part of the analysis in this study to find out how children are presented as active participants in PCK research articles. The concept of agency is thus part of the analysis, although the focus of this study is on when and how children are presented as active participants in the texts. This study explores how children are perceived as part of teaching situations in the texts and how this is described. For this reason, the study is inspired by the sociology of childhood and not, for example, by child-centred teaching, where children may be at the centre of teaching or where children should direct their activities in teaching situations (Chung & Walsh, 2000).

A systematic analysis of how children are presented in PCK articles could contribute to an overview of how children are described in research on primary and preschool teachers' PCK, as well as to initiate a discussion of how children may be viewed in teaching situations in different educational practices including school-age educare in Sweden.

Background

This section provides a background to PCK and children's agency. Within this background there is also a section on school-age educare in relation to children and children's agency in this setting. This is to problematise children's agency in relation to the PCK of school-age educare teachers.

Reconceptualising PCK

The core idea of PCK is that teachers have a specific kind of knowledge about teaching, called pedagogical content knowledge, which is different from the knowledge of a subject expert. The current research discourse has been reformulated since Shulman (1986; 1987) began to theorise about PCK. Shulman (2015) himself then criticised his own original formulations from the 1980s. One of Shulmans criticisms of his own work was that the original research and theorising did not take into account pupils' context and learning. In recent years, researchers who have taken note of this criticism have developed new models for understanding PCK. The two most commonly used are a model of teachers' professional knowledge and skills that includes teaching knowledge and influences on classroom practice and student outcomes (Gess-Newsome, 2015, p. 31), and the other model that shows teacher knowledge and skills, student outcomes, teacher contributions, student contributions, other contributions, and knowledge exchange (Carlson et al., 2019, p. 83).

As Shulman (2015) states in his critique, the link between PCK and pupils' learning has only been studied by a few researchers, for example Alonzo et al. (2012). In their study, they show that there is a relationship between teachers' use of PCK and pupils' learning and outcomes. Based on their study, they conclude that teachers need to have *flexible, rich,* and *learner-centred* ways of teaching. Flexible teaching consists of a familiarity with different ways of teaching, so that teachers can choose between alternatives in the classroom, and an understanding of content and the ability to identify content ideas as expressed by novices. Teachers need to have a repertoire of representations to illustrate topics in different ways in order to provide rich teaching. In the learner-centred way of teaching, teachers need to have knowledge of the

Presentations of children in research articles framed...

common difficulties that pupils have with subjects. Knowledge of pupils' learning difficulties may be used to improve the sequencing of instructional representations (Alonzo et al., 2012).

Studies using PCK as a theoretical framework may differ, for example, depending on the subject and teacher group on which the research is focused (Park & Oliver, 2007). This provides an opportunity to rephrase concepts in PCK. Studies of preschool teachers' teaching that have used PCK as a theoretical framework rephrase concepts in PCK to fit the professional knowledge of preschool teachers. Kutluca's (2021) findings on preschool teachers' PCK and science teaching show that, for example, teaching with preschool children should be based on children's previous experiences, capturing unexpected phenomenon as they happen, asking children questions to challenge them and stimulate further investigation, and listening to children and their explanations. The study shows that preschool teachers' PCK includes child-centred teaching, where preschool children's ways of learning are central, for example through play-based and everyday activities to apply the teaching of different subjects in teacher-child interactions.

Dunekacke and Barenthien (2021) problematise the components of PCK in relation to early childhood teachers. This is because content knowledge, which refers to the teacher's knowledge of a specific topic, is different in early childhood education, where teachers have knowledge in many areas. In early childhood, as opposed to later childhood, learning is seen as play-based and integrated into everyday life, with a more holistic view of the child itself (Dunekacke & Barenthian, 2021).

Although PCK has been reformulated since Shulman's (1986; 1987) original conceptualisation, the starting point of PCK mentioned children (students) as a factor in teachers' pedagogical content knowledge: "...the conceptions and preconceptions that students of different ages and backgrounds bring with them to the learning of those most frequently taught topics and lessons" (Shulman, 1986, p. 9) and "...knowledge of learners and their characteristics" (Shulman, 1987, p. 8). These statements show that from the very beginning of Shulman's conceptualisation of PCK, children were considered as a part of the teachers' acquired knowledge base and thus their PCK.

Children's Positions in School-Age Educare

In Sweden, school-age educare focuses on education and care before, after and during school for pupils between the ages of six and twelve years. The educational activity in school-age educare is regulated by the Education Act (SFS 2010:800) and the curriculum for the compulsory school, preschool class and school-age educare (Swedish National Agency for Education [SNAE], 2022). The knowledge that school-age educare teachers transform into teaching is not directly related to traditional school subjects such as mathematics, science or language, but more often to values, social interaction, identity, crafts, play, care, and meaningful leisure time. School-age educare teachers teach in an interdisciplinary way, incorporating different areas of knowledge at the same time.

In school-age educare, children's needs, interests and experiences are the starting point and the activity is regulated in the national curriculum (SNAE, 2022). In this sense, school-age educare teachers' should teach children with their agency in mind. However, according to Ljusberg (2023), this can be a difficult task because of how children themselves can formulate what they are interested in and how the teachers view children as co-actors or objects. In Ljusberg's (2023) study, the school-age educare teachers could view the children as co-actors, as objects to be taught, or show a total disinterest in the children's interests, indicating the children's subordinate position in the school-age educare setting.

In the school-age educare setting, children are offered free space without the teachers, which creates opportunities for children to form their own communities (Sparrman, 2002). According to the children in Ackesjö and Landefrö's (2014) study, school-age educare is a place for play, where they can do what they want and where they learn social skills, whereas in school children learn school subjects and the teaching is based more on teacher-centered perspectives. However, the children's participation is negotiated with the teachers and with the other children on a daily basis in the school-age educare setting. For example, in the study by Elvstrand and Närvänen (2016), the children expressed that they did not oppose the rules set

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

by the teachers.

Research focusing on children's perspectives in the school-age educare setting shows that teachers take children's agency into account to varying degrees. In her study of children's multimedia storytelling, Klerfelt (2007) shows that teachers in the school-age educare setting gave children autonomy to use their own culture in activities. School-age educare was identified as an institution that provided space for children's perspectives.

Hippinen Ahlgren's (2021) study shows that teachers' interaction with the children varied, they positioned the children with agency or without agency in their participation. The results show that in some teaching situations in school-age educare children can be positioned with no participation and the teacher controls the teaching in these situations. However, in other teaching situations in school-age educare, the children control the teaching situations and are positioned as an active part of the teaching, and the teacher takes a position of listening to the children and supporting the children with teaching when needed (Hippinen Ahlgren, 2021).

In the school-age educare setting, the capacity to act as a child is limited and constrained by structures. Activities in the institution provide a framework within which children can act. The institution is run by school-age educare teachers who may enable or inhibit children's participation, influence, and agency. A key factor in children's agency is the interaction between teachers and children and how children have agency in their participation in the teaching situations or are seen as objects for the teachers' instructional choices.

Conceptual Framework

The notion of children as active participants in this article is inspired by the sociology of childhood (James & Prout, 1997; Mayall, 2001). Mayall describes a shift in thinking about children in the sociology of childhood, where children move from being objects of adults' work to being competent, contributing social actors, and where children's own wishes and expressed needs are relevant to the construction and implementation of social policies and practices. Mayall (2001) states that if adults are to respect children's right to participate, they must create the conditions for participation.

Children can be seen as social agents, which in turn influences the way in which adult-child interactions take place and are sustained (James & Prout, 1997). Mayall (2001) points to the need for teachers to take children's views into account. The best thing about school for children is their friends, according to the results of Mayall's study. Relationships with friends enable children to make sense of, endure and even enjoy school (Mayall, 2001). Children's agency, according to Mayall (2001), is an important consideration for teaching and teachers. However, the extent to which children can be social actors in the context of school depends on how they are able to act as pupils.

Children's agency should not be viewed uncritically. Children's agency should be scrutinised with the aim of not putting too much pressure on children (Tisdall & Punch, 2012). On the other hand, what kind of agency children are allowed to have and what rights to agency the children have are other critical questions on the political agenda to expose children's minority status (James, 2009). There is also an ongoing generational process within and outside institutions with social consequences for those categorised as children (Alanen, 2005). The generational condition determines the extent to which children have access to expand their agency. In society, children are placed in a subordinate position in relation to other groups. This position may limit the extent to which children can be active agents (Corsaro, 2015). Children themselves actively contribute to maintaining the social structure in their interactions with adults, they reproduce society (Moll & Betz, 2016). Children's status in society has consequences for their identity and the recognition of their agency (Wihstutz, 2016).

According to Coffey and Farrugia (2014), the concept of agency is a contested and controversial term in sociology of youth and contemporary sociological theory. What young people's agency consists of, and how the concept may be legitimately used, is an important factor in the debate. The view that is identified in Coffey and Farrugia's (2014) study, where agency is seen as the subject's embodied potentiality to form intra-active relations with material structures, discourses and intersubjective environments, is also a view relevant to this study. Lee (1998) argues that sociologists of childhood fit children into a standard form of sociological theory rather than developing sociological theory that fits children. Essential agency should be based on children's independence. Lee (1998) describes that "...agency is an effect of independence that emerges from a fundamental dependency" (p. 472). Children's agency in this description is dependent on external mediation.

Purpose

The purpose of the study is to create knowledge about how children are presented in PCK research. This is carried out by examining both the existence and the nature of descriptions of children as active participants in the presentations of children in selected PCK research articles.

Method

The method used in this study is document analysis, which is a systematic procedure for reviewing and evaluating documents (Bowen, 2009). "The analytic procedure entails finding, selecting, appraising (making sense of), and synthesizing data contained in documents" (Bowen, 2009, p. 28). In this study, the analysis is a combination of *content analysis* and *thematic analysis*. This type of analysis is an iterative process used in document analysis (Bowen, 2009). *Content analysis* in this study is inspired by Bowen's discussion of content analysis in the context of document analysis, where content analysis involves a document review in which meaningful and relevant parts of texts are identified in order to find pertinent information. *Thematic analysis* in this study is inspired by Braun and Clarke's (2006) way of conducting a qualitative analysis and was used in coding and constructing categories. This is done through a reading that focuses on the patterns when using the concepts of analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

My analysis consists of five steps in which I have used both content and thematic analysis to develop my analytical steps: 1. Skimming the documents, 2. Reading the documents thoroughly, 3. Interpreting and coding patterns in the documents according to the concepts of analysis, 4. Constructing categories and themes according to the concepts of analysis, and 5. Presenting the results.

The concepts used in the analysis are inspired by the sociology of childhood and are used to identify how children are described in the selected PCK articles. The analysis focuses on how children's *active participation* can be understood in previous PCK research. Agency as an analytical concept is understood here from a relational approach, where agency occurs in relation to interactions (Mayall, 2008).

In the result, the presentations of children in the research articles were analysed with a focus on whether they were described as active participants. When children, students or pupils were mentioned in the articles, this sequence in the article was coded to see if it was a text that presented children as *active participants* in a teaching situation. If the description of children could be analysed with the notion of being active participants in teaching, the sequence became a segment of the coding pattern. The aims of the studies may not be primarily focused on children's agency, or may not discuss children as active participants, but if the text in the articles is written in such a way that children are seen as active participants, it is analysed as such. In the examined articles, children are referred to as children, students or pupils. However, in my analysis they are referred to as children.

The articles selected for analysis were those most frequently cited by other researchers in the Scopus database available at Stockholm University Library in June 2022. The search was done within article titles, abstracts, and keywords. The search terms were *pedagogical content knowledge* and *primary school* or *pedagogical content knowledge* and *preschool*. From the search, the 12 most cited articles of each practice were selected for analysis. The skimming process revealed that some researchers did not use PCK as a theoretical framework in their study. These articles were removed from the list and not analysed. One study focused on high school and was removed from the study. This resulted in 9 articles presenting results from studies conducted within the PCK framework in primary school and 10 articles presenting results from studies conducted within the PCK framework in preschool.

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

The search attempted to find research on school age educare and PCK, but no studies were found in Scopus that included school age educare and PCK or leisure time centers and PCK in titles, abstracts, or keywords. This shows the relevance of analysing studies that focus on PCK research in primary and preschool education in order to start a discussion about PCK of school-age educare teachers.

The articles focusing on primary school and PCK included studies from these subject areas: *mathematics* (Blömeke et al., 2012; Carpenter et al., 1996), *science* (Appleton, 2002; Appleton, 2003) and *educational technology* TPACK and ICT-TPCK (Angeli & Valanides, 2009; Chai et al., 2011; Koh et al., 2014; Koh et al., 2016; Webb et al., 2016).

The articles that focused on preschool and PCK included topics such as: *mathematics* (Anders & Rossbach, 2015; Blömeke et al., 2017; Dunekacke et al., 2016; Lee, 2017; McCray & Chen, 2012; Oppermann et al., 2016; Tirosh et al., 2011) *educational technology* TPACK (Liang et al., 2013; Roig-Vila et al., 2015) and *science* (Gropen et al., 2017).

Ethical Considerations

The Swedish Research Council's (2017) information on ethical considerations information, consent, confidentiality, and use of data was followed. No sensitive material was collected in this study.

In a document analysis of previous research focusing on PCK, it is important to consider the researchers' purpose of the studied articles. Their purpose is to illustrate a part of PCK that is different from the focus of this study. This study does not criticise previous articles. The focus here is to analyse how children are presented in the texts.

The other consideration is the selection of articles. The most cited articles consist of the most popular topics for PCK research and may not be the most recent articles, as they need to have been in circulation for a while in order to be exposed to the scrutinising eye of other researchers and to be cited by them. These two considerations could be seen as a limitation of this study.

Results

In this section, the findings from the research articles are presented in themes that focus on the concept of analysis when children are presented as active participants in the text. The themes are: *Presentations of children through the construct of PCK, Presentations of children's thinking and motivation,* and *Presentations of children in play-based situations.*

Some of the articles have been given more space in the presentation of the findings because they illustrate the findings of this study. However, some of the articles are not mentioned at all if they do not present children as active participants in the texts.

Presentations of Children Through the Construct Of PCK

In Shulman's (1986; 1987) construct of PCK there are descriptions of what teachers should have in their PCK and one of these areas of knowledge is knowledge about the children they are teaching. Shulman's descriptions of teachers' knowledge about children were a starting point in some of the articles analysed, a starting point where the text shows a child with possibility to learn and that teachers in the articles have to adapt their teaching to the children. Children are described in this theme as part of teachers' PCK and how teachers should adapt their teaching to learners. For example, in Angeli and Valanides (2009) conceptualisation of ICT-TPCK (Information and Communication Technology-Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge) the children are presented through Shulman's (1986; 1987) descriptions of the knowledge teachers need to have about learners.

...knowledge of learners are blended into an understanding about how particular topics to be taught are represented and adapted to learners' characteristics, interests, and abilities... Accordingly, PCK encompasses an understanding of students' preconceptions and learning difficulties, and includes the most useful forms of representation, the most powerful analogies, illustrations, examples, explanations, demonstrations, and other ways of representing and formulating the subject in forms that are comprehensible to learners (Angeli & Valanides., 2009, p. 155).

Presentations of children in research articles framed...

Angeli and Valanides (2009) present how the pre-service teachers need to tailor the design of lessons to the learners. In this way, the article describes children as being at the centre of teaching, where they have agency in their own characteristics, interests, and abilities. The text shows that teachers need to adapt their teaching to these ideas of children and that technology as a tool in teaching, where children are active participants with these tools, supports their learning.

Children's active participation is evident in the text of the article when it states that ICT-TPCK may support the learning of children with different learning styles by transforming content with multiple representations using a variety of technological means in such a way that learners and technology form a shared cognitive system (Angeli & Valanides, 2009). "Each step of the process was exemplified with specific examples of how the pedagogical affordances of specific ICT tools could transform the content into powerful pedagogical representations tailored to the learners' abilities, interests, and previous knowledge and/or alternative conceptions" (Angeli & Valanides, 2009, p. 164-165). In this way the children are at the centre of the teaching, they have agency in deciding what is taught and the teachers have to adapt their teaching to the children. In this way, children's needs, interests, and experiences should form part of teachers' PCK, as in school-age educare. When children are seen as co-actors and not as objects to be taught, as described in Ljusberg's (2023) study. Children's active participation in this way is achieved through the presentation of their own characteristics, interests, and abilities, rather than agency through pressure on children (Tisdall & Punch, 2012).

One article by Koh et al. (2016) also presents children through Shulman's (1986; 1987) description of teachers' knowledge of children. According to the text, teachers need to have an understanding of children's preconceptions and difficulties in their PCK. In Koh's et al. (2016) study with primary school teachers on 21st century learning, children are presented with different difficulties in understanding the lessons and when teachers change their planning through ICT and thereby 21st century learning improves their teaching, according to the article. In the text, the children had *weaknesses* in articulating their scientific reasoning, *problems* in applying grammar rules, *weaknesses* in asking higher order questions to support the generation of rich content for their conversations. The teachers in the article revised their lessons and supported the children through various ICT tools that the children actively used. The article presents the children's preconceptions and difficulties and shows how the teachers in the study supported the children by changing their lessons. In this way, the children were then presented with agency to change teaching.

In the formulations of the research articles, children were presented with reference to Shulman's (1986; 1987) construct of PCK, particularly in the descriptions of teachers' knowledge of children. The nature of the descriptions focused on how the teachers' knowledge of children would enhance their teaching with the children as active participants and in some way at the centre of teaching. The children were presented with agency to change teaching in the texts.

Presentations of Children's Thinking and Motivation

The knowledge of children is in most of the articles a knowledge that teachers need to have in their PCK, although it is not explicit in all of the texts. The knowledge of children is directed towards different areas. In some of the articles there are sections that illustrate teachers' knowledge of children's thinking or children's motivation. For example, in the text written by Tirosh et al. (2011), the teachers in the development programme had to reflect on the children's thinking, they had to be aware of the relationship between affect and learning. There are descriptions in the formulations about the relationship between children's emotions and their ability to solve problems (Tirosh et al., 2011). Carpenter's et al. (1996) text focused on primary school children's mathematical thinking. The text describes a research-based model of children's thinking that complements teachers' PCK. More specifically, that a part of PCK is knowledge of pupils thinking, knowledge of conceptions, preconceptions, and misconceptions that children bring to the learning of a subject, which make it easy or difficult to learn. In the text it is described that pupils construct knowledge in an active way rather than assimilating knowledge. Children are presented in the text as having agency in the way that they bring informal or intuitive knowledge of mathematics to school. Children can construct viable solutions to a variety of mathematical problems. In the article the children

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

are presented at the centre of teaching situations, and teachers need to have knowledge of children's mathematical thinking to be able to teach in ways that help children understand mathematics. The text suggests that teachers' detailed knowledge of children's thinking in mathematics provides an explicit context for evaluating and reconceptualising decisions about pedagogy. In these articles, as in others in this study, children are seen through the lens of teachers, and in this way may have a minority status (James, 2009). On the other hand, in many of the articles it is stated that teachers need to have knowledge about the children in their PCK in order to be able to offer agency to the children, but the generational condition or position of the relationship between teachers and children determines how children have access to extend their agency (Alanen, 2005; Corsaro, 2015).

Children's motivation and engagement in activities is central to their active participation and is explored in Appleton's (2002) text where it is described that an important part of science PCK is activities that children can engage in. The text presents children in the context of how teachers in the study develop science activities that work. The presentations of children illustrate that children need to be engaged in activities, they should not be bored. Children are presented as active participants when it is described that teaching needs to involve children and be enjoyable to them. Children's active participation in activities is at the centre of what is presented in Appleton's article.

Some teachers looked for a "gimmick" or something spectacular which should grab the children's attention: "You get the 'Oh ahh' from the kids and they remember" (Loiuse). Others merely wanted to ensure that the activity was of interest to the children, would get them involved, and would be enjoyable: "The (activities) that work the best are the ones that they have really enjoyed. Because I know that once we have done it in the class they will go home and explore it further because they have enjoyed it" (Karen) (Appleton, 2002, p. 399).

In this way, children are presented with agency to explore the phenomenon in the class and at home, they are active and have to be active according to the text.

The children's active participation is sometimes not explicitly formulated in the articles, but the notion of the teachers' knowledge of the children, of their thinking and of their motivation shows the children's activity in some of the text segments.

Presentations of Children in Play-Based Situations

When children play, they are active in the play situations. Some of the articles presented children in play. In Lee's (2017) article, which mainly focused on preschool teachers' PCK in mathematics, formulations in the text show a view of children as active in their informal learning. The text points out that preschool children are "... active mathematics learners, possessing informal mathematical knowledge... this informal mathematical knowledge is developed when children engage in problem-solving processes which often occur during children's free play time..." (Lee, 2017, p. 232). However, the text describes how preschool teachers should notice mathematical situations in children's free play time, where children are seen as active participants, despite the teachers' focus on mathematics in the text.

Another article in the study that presents children in free play is one article by Anders and Rossbach (2015). In the text it is stated that child-oriented beliefs are very common among preschool teachers and that approaches to learning that emphasise play-based learning and cooperative learning, as well as children's freedom of choice. Thus, children's active participation is illustrated in the text through play-based learning where children are active participants and where their freedom of choice is emphasised (Anders & Rossbach, 2015).

Children's active participation in play-based activities in preschool is also mentioned in the articles by Oppermann et al. (2016) and Dunekacke et al. (2016). Oppermann et al. (2016) illustrate in their text that early mathematics education should be integrated into children's everyday play activities, while Dunekacke et al. (2016) define in their text that preschool learning takes place in open and informal settings and starts with children's interests and needs. In this sense, the texts show children as co-actors rather than objects to be taught (Ljusberg, 2023). The children are perceived as capable of agency and not in a subordinate position (James, 2009). However, the texts in the articles do not mention the concept agency and how children are able to extend it or not (Alanen, 2005; Corsaro, 2015).

Presentations of children in research articles framed...

To summarise, the presence of descriptions of children is evident in the selected PCK research articles. Although it is not in the main focus of the articles, the texts show presentations of children in various forms. The nature of the descriptions of children is related to Shulman's (1986; 1987) construct of PCK and how teachers' knowledge of children is a part of their PCK. The presentations of children in the texts also illustrated descriptions of children's own characteristics, interests, and abilities as well as difficulties. The descriptions of children showed that teachers needed to have knowledge of children's thinking and knowledge construction. In order for the children to be active participants, the texts emphasized the need for children to be motivated, engaged and to enjoy the activities. In this way, children were interpreted as active participants in teaching situations. The presentation of active participation was clearly interpreted when the texts referred to children's free play and freedom of choice. Children were presented as active participants in the articles studied when teachers were described as adapting their teaching to children's own characteristics, and abilities; when children were described as motivated, engaged, and enjoying activities; and when they participated in play-based situations.

Discussion

The purpose of this study is to create knowledge about how children are presented in PCK research articles. The findings consist of three themes that emerged as the most prominent patterns when analysing children as active participants in the research articles. These themes were: *Presentations of children through the construct of PCK, Presentations of children's thinking and motivation,* and *Presentations of children in play-based situations.*

In the theme *Presentations of children through the construct of PCK*, it was evident that Shulman's description of teachers' knowledge of children in the construct of PCK was a starting point for the presentations of children in the texts. According to PCK, teachers need to have knowledge about children's characteristics, interests, and abilities, as well as their preconceptions and learning difficulties. In this way, the texts present children with the opportunity to actively participate in how teachers adapt and revise their teaching according to children's interests and difficulties.

In the school-age educare in Sweden, the national curriculum regulates the activities in the schoolage educare so that the starting point is the children's needs, interests and experiences (SNAE, 2022). The studied articles show that in order to be able to do this, teachers need to have knowledge of, for example, children's characteristics, interests, and abilities in their PCK, which could be an argument for claiming that knowledge of children should be at the centre of school-age educare teachers' PCK. However, attention should also be directed towards how this knowledge can be used to make children active participants in teaching situations and how children can be given agency. Teachers' knowledge of children's needs, interests, and abilities may not ensure that children are given agency in teaching situations, given the teachers' view of children, for example when children are in a subordinate position (Corsaro, 2015).

In this theme, children's active participation is also evident in the way teaching with ICT tools is described in the texts, where ICT tools can, according to the articles, enhance both teaching and learning when children actively participate with these tools (Angeli & Valanides, 2009; Koh et al., 2016). ICT tools can now be seen as a tool used in society at large and as a powerful tool in children's own culture. Using children's own culture in activities is a way of adapting these activities through children's perspectives and agency, which is a part of teaching in the school-age educare setting (Klerfelt, 2007). Perhaps in this way, children form agency in their active participation with ICT tools and the discourse of school, preschool and school-age educare in interactive relations with material structures, discourses and intersubjective environments, in the line with how Coffey and Farrugia (2014) see agency in their study.

The theme *Presentations of children's thinking and motivation* shows presentations of children in the research articles that illustrate their thinking in mathematics and their motivation towards learning science. According to the texts, children's emotions are a part of their ability to solve problems as well as their thinking, and teachers need to have knowledge about these areas in order to teach the children (Carpenter et al., 1996; Tirosh, 2011). The nature of the presentations in this theme is that children think and feel

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

differently about different subjects, and teachers need to have knowledge about this and adapt their teaching to include children's feelings and thinking in different subjects. In this way, the texts present children with the opportunity to actively participate in how teachers adapt and revise their teaching according to children's feelings and thinking. Children's motivation in this theme is described through their engagement in science activities as described in Appleton's (2002) article. Children's active participation is presented in the text in a way that describes that children should not be bored in the science activities, they should be engaged, involved, and the activity should be enjoyable. Activities that motivate children are at the heart of teaching in school-age educare. Children negotiate their participation with the teachers and other children on a daily basis (Elvstrand & Närvänen, 2016). In this theme, the nature of presentations of children in the articles shows the importance of considering children's thinking, emotions, and motivation in the construction of teaching situations. However, it is questionable how the institution of school, preschool or school-age educare can always have this is in mind. Elvstrand and Närvänen (2016) state that the children in the school-age educare setting did not disagree with the rules set by the teachers. Teachers may interpret children's thoughts and feelings in different ways. The questions that arise are whether teachers are able to take children's views into account in the school context (Mayall, 2001) and what kind of agency the children are able to have in their minority status (James, 2009).

In the theme *Presentations of children in play-based situations,* children were presented as active participants in play-based situations. The articles in this theme were focused on PCK in a preschool context (Anders & Rossbach, 2015; Dunekacke et al., 2016; Lee, 2017; Oppermann et al., 2016). All articles presented children as learners in an informal context, often in play-based activities. The nature of the descriptions showed children with agency in their own free play, and some of the articles highlighted children's freedom of choice. Teachers in preschool settings, according to the texts, should integrate teaching into play-based situations. This is echoed in research by Dunekacke and Barenthien (2021) and Kutluca (2021) who describe that in early childhood, in contrast to later childhood, learning is seen as play-based and integrated into everyday life, with a more holistic view of the child itself. This is similar to how learning is perceived in the school-age educare settings, where children are given space to form their own communities (Sparrman, 2002). According to the children in Ackesjö and Landefrö's (2014) study, school-age educare is a place for play where they can do what they want. Mayall (2001) states that the best thing about school for children is the relationships they make with their friends, and in this way it is an important consideration for teaching and teachers to take children's agency into account.

PCK is a theoretical construct in which teachers have a particular kind of knowledge about teaching. This theoretical framework, as well as research using this framework, focuses on teachers and their teaching. However, as Shulman (2015) points out, there is a need for further research on, for example, children's contexts and learning. One study that focuses on the relationship between teachers' use of PCK and pupils' learning and outcomes shows that teachers need to have flexible, rich, and learner-centred ways of teaching to improve pupils' learning and outcomes (Alonzo et al., 2012). This study shows that some PCK research do show the children in a learner-centred way and that these texts describe the importance of teachers' knowledge of children. In this way, teachers in the research articles may engage children to become active participants and thereby the teachers may improve their teaching. In the research articles from the preschool context, it was illustrated that teachers need to have specific knowledge of children in order to be able to integrate their teaching into informal and play-based situations where the children are active participants. In a school context, the mediations could be influenced by teachers' instructional choices. Mayall (2001) argues that if adults are to respect children's rights to participate, they need to create conditions for participation. The findings of this study show descriptions of teachers' instructional choices, and in the texts it is evident that teachers decide how children can or cannot participate. Children's participation and agency is in the hands of teachers and their view of children, even though the teachers in the research articles talk about child-centred teaching (Chung & Walsh, 2000). Children's agency may be limited in this way by their subordinate position (Corsaro, 2015).

Children's agency and active participation in teaching situations, I argue, is an important part of developing PCK in different educational contexts. Teachers' knowledge of pupils is a part of the knowledge

Presentations of children in research articles framed...

domains in PCK, but how children might have agency and thus be active participants in teaching situations is shown in the texts, but is not foregrounded or conceptualised in the research articles studied. The question is how children's perspectives, including their agency, can be a part of teachers' PCK.

Limitations and Implications for Future Research

The limitations of this study are related to ethical considerations. In this study, it is described that the purpose of the researchers in the research articles is different from the focus of this study, which may limit the findings in how children are presented. The other factor in the ethical considerations was the selected articles, which consisted of the most cited articles, which limits the selection of, for example, different types of PCK research. In addition, this is a small study and the study might have benefited from a larger number of articles analysed.

Implications for future research would be to continue to explore how knowledge of children's agency might form part of teachers' PCK. In addition, this study could possibly be the starting point for a discussion about conceptualising school-age educare teachers' PCK in relation to children's agency.

Conclusions

This study focuses on presentations of children in PCK research articles. The results show examples of formulations in the texts where children are being presented as active participants in teaching situations. The ways in which children are presented in the research articles reveal three themes: *Presentations of children through the construct of PCK, Presentations of children's thinking and motivation,* and *Presentations of children in play-based situations.* The presentations of children focus on teachers' knowledge of children in a variety of ways, where their knowledge and view of children's active participation may be crucial to whether children are given possibilities to agency in teaching situations. However, the theme that stands out is *Presentations of children in play-based situations* where children are described as being in control of their play to which the teachers then adapt their teaching. It is in these presentations that children's active participation and agency is most clearly defined.

From the perspective of school-age educare, this study shows that a conceptualisation of PCK adapted to school-age educare, where for example children's active participation and agency are a part, could make PCK an important theoretical framework for school-age educare, where the starting point for teaching is children's needs, interests, and experiences. In conclusion, a discussion is needed on the relationship between school-age educare and PCK to create a shift in thinking, as well as on PCK and children's participation rights and agency in different educational practices. This shows the need for further research to discuss children's agency within the theoretical framework of PCK.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: This is a single-authored paper.

Competing interests: The author declares that there are no competing interests.

Funding: No funding was used for this study.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The paper is based on a systematic review and involves no human participants.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Eleonora Teszenyi through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

Ackesjö, H., & Landefrö, A. (2014). På spaning efter en gräns. Några barns perspektiv på skillnader mellan förskoleklassens och

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

fritidshemmets verksamheter i Sverige. Barn. Forskning om barn og barndom i Norden, 32(3), 27-43.

- Alanen, L. (2005). Childhood as generational condition: Towards a relational theory of childhood. In C. Jenks (Eds.) Childhood, (pp. 206-305). Routledge.
- Alonzo, C. A., Kobarg, M., & Seidel, T. (2012). Pedagogical content knowledge as reflected in teacher-student interactions: Analysis of two video cases. *Journal of Research in Schience Teaching*, 49(10), 1211-1239.
- *Anders, Y., & Rossbach, H-G. (2015). Preschool teachers' sensitivity to mathematics in children's play: The influence of math-related school experiences, emotional attitudes, and pedagogical beliefs. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 29(3), 305-322.
- *Angeli, C., & Valanides, N. (2009). Epistemological and methodological issues for the conceptualization development, and assessment of ICT-TPCK: Advances in technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPCK). Computes & Education, 52(1), 154-168.
- *Appleton, K. (2002). Science activities that work: Perceptions of primary school teachers. Research in Science Education, 32, 393-410.
- *Appleton, K. (2003). How do beginning primary school teachers cope with science? Toward an understanding of science teaching practice. *Research in Science Education*, 33, 1-25.
- *Blömeke, S., Jenssen, L., Grassmann, M., Dunekacke, S., & Wedekind, H. (2017). Process mediates structure: The relation between preschool teacher education and preschool teachers' knowledge. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 109(3), 338-354.
- *Blömeke, S., Suhl, U., Kaiser, G., & Döhrmann, M. (2012). Family background, entry selectivity and opportunities to learn: What matters in primary teacher education? An international comparison of fifteen countries. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(1), 44-55.
- Bowen, A. G. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. Qualitative Research Journal, 9(2), 27-40.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77-101.
- Bremmer, M. (2021). Where's the body? Reconsidering the concept of pedagogical content knowledge through research in music education with Dutch specialist preschool music teachers. *British Journal of Music Education*, 38(2), 119-130.
- Carlson, J., Daehler, R. K., Alonzo, C. A., Barendsen, E., Berry, A., Borowski, A., Carpendale, J., Chan Ho Kam, K., Cooper, R., Friedrichsen, P., Gess-Newsome, J., Henze-Rietveld, I., Hume, A., Kirschner, S., Liepertz, S., Loughran, J., Mawhunga, E., Neumann, K., Nilsson, P., Park, S., Rollnick, M., Sickel, A., Schneider, M. R., Suh Kjung, J., van Driel, J., & Wilson, D. C. (2019). The refined consensus model of pedagogical content knowledge in science education. In A. Hume, R. Cooper & A. Borowski. (Eds.), Repositioning pedagogical content knowledge in teachers' knowledge for teaching science, (pp. 77-94). Springer.
- *Carpenter, P. T., Fennema, E., & Franke, L. M. (1996). Cognitively guided instruction: A Knowledge base for reform in primary mathematics instruction. *The elementary School Journal*. 97(1), 3-20.
- *Chai, S. C., Koh L. H. J., Tsai. C-C., & Tan, W. L. L. (2011). Modeling primary school pre service teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) for meaningful learning with information and communication technology (ICT). Computers and Education, 57(1), 1184-1193.
- Chung, S., & Walsh, J. D. (2000). Unpacking child-centredness: a history of meanings. Journal of Curriculum Studies. 32(2), 215–234.
- Coffey, J., & Farrugia, D. (2014). Unpacing the black box: the problem of agency in the sociology of youth. *Journal of Youth Studies*. 17(4), 461-474.
- Corsaro, W.A. (2015). The sociology of childhood. Sage.
- Dreke, C. (2016). Agency. Educators' imaginations as triggered by photographs of pre-school children. In F. Esser, M S. Baader, T. Betz, & T. Hungerland. *Reconceptualising agency and childhood. New perspectives in childhood studies* (pp. 224-239). Routledge.
- Dunekacke, S., & Barenthien, J. (2021). Research in early childhood teacher domain-specific professional knowledge a systematic review. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 29(4), 633-648.
- *Dunekacke, S., Jenssen, L., Eilerts, K., & Blömeke, S. (2016). Epistemological beliefs of prospective preschool teachers and their relation to knowledge, perception, and planning abilities in the field of mathematics: A process model. *ZDM Mathematics Education*. 48, 125-137.
- Elvstrand, H., & Närvänen, A-L. (2016). Children's own perspectives on participation in Leisure-time centers in Sweden. *American Journal of Educational Research*, 4(6), 495-503.
- Gess-Newsome, J. (2015). A model of teacher professional knowledge and skill including PCK: Results of the thinking from the PCK Summit. In A. Berry, P. Friedrichsen & J. Loughran (Eds.), *Re-examining pedagogical content knowledge in science education* (pp. 28-42). Routledge.
- *Gropen, J., Kook, F. J., Hoisington, C., & Clark-Chiarelli, N. (2017). Foundations of science literacy: efficacy of a preschool professional development program in science on classroom instuction, teachers' pedagogical content knowledge, and children's observations and predictions. *Early Education and Development*, 28(5), 607-631.

Presentations of children in research articles framed...

- Hippinen Ahlgren, A. (2021). Lärare i fritidshems undervisningskunskap: undervisningshandlingar i interaktion mellan lärare och barn. [Licentiate thesis]. Stockholm University.
- Hume, A., Cooper, R., & Borowski, A. (Eds.) (2019), Repositioning pedagogical content knowledge in teachers' knowledge for teaching science. Springer.
- James, A. & Prout, A. (Eds.) (1997). Constructing and reconstructing childhood: contemporary issues in the sociological study of childhood, (2nd ed.) Falmer.
- James, A. (2009). Agency. In J. Qvortrup, W. A. Corsaro, & M-S.Honig (Eds.), *The palgrave handbook of childhood studies* (pp. 34-45). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Klerfelt, A. (2007). Barns multimediala berättande. En länk mellan mediakultur och pedagogisk praktik. [Doctoral thesis]. University of Gothenburg.
- *Koh, L. H. J., Chai, S. C., & Lim, Y. W. (2016). Teacher professional development for TPACK-21CL: Effects on teacher ict integration and student outcomes. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 55(2), 172-196.
- *Koh, L. H. J., Chai, S. C., & Tay, Y. L. (2014). TPACK-in-action: Unpacking the contextual influences of teachers' construction of technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK). *Computers & Education, 78,* 20-29.
- Kutluca, A. Y. (2021). Exploring preschool teachers' pedagogical content knowledge: The effect of professional experience. *Journal of Science Learning*, 4(2), 160-172.
- *Lee, E. J. (2017). Preschool teachers' pedagogical content knowledge in mathematics. *International Journal of Early Childhood*. 49, 229-243.
- Lee, N. (1998). Towards an immature sociology. The Sociological Review, 46(3), 458-482.
- *Liang, J-C., Ching S. C., Koh, L. H. J., Ching-Ju, Y., & Chin-Chung, T. (2013). Surveying in-service preschool teachers' technological pedagogical content knowledge. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 29(4), 581-594.
- Ljusberg, A.-L. (2023). The concept of pupils' interests in the context of SAEC in Sweden. *Early Child Development and Care*, 193(2), 223-234.
- Mayall, B. (2001). The Sociology of Childhood in Relation to Children's Rights. *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 8(3), 243-259.
- Mayall, B. (2008). Towards a sociology for childhood: thinking from children's lives. Open University Press.
- *McCray, S. J., & Chen, J-Q. (2012). Pedagogical content knowledge for preschool mathematics: Construct validity of a new teacher interview. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 26(3), p291-307.
- Moll, D. F., & Betz, T. (2016), Accounting for children's agency in research on educational inequality. The influence of children's own practices on their academic habitus in elementary school. In F. Esser, M S. Baader, T. Betz, & T. Hungerland. *Reconceptualising* agency and childhood. new perspectives in childhood studies (pp. 271-289). Routledge.
- *Oppermann, E., Anders, Y., & Hachfeld, A. (2016). The influence of preschool teachers' content knowledge and mathematical ability beliefs on their sensitivity to mathematics in children's play. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 58*, 174-184.
- Park, S. & Oliver, J. S. (2007). Revisiting the conceptualisation of pedagogical content knowledge (PCK): PCK as a conceptual tool to understand teachers as professionals. *Research in Science Education*, *38*, 261-284.
- *Roig-Vila, R., Mengual-Andrés, S., & Quinto-Medrano, P. (2015). Primary teachers' technological, pedagogical and content knowledge. *Media Education Research Journal*, 45(23), 151-159.
- SFS 2010:800. Education Act. Ministry of Education.
- Shulman, S. L. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. Educational Researcher, 15(4), 4-14.
- Shulman, S. L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 1-23.
- Shulman, S. L. (2015). PCK: Its genesis and exodus. In A. Berry, P. Friedrichsen & J. Loughran (Eds.), Re-examining pedagogical content knowledge in science education (pp. 3-13). Routledge.
- Sparrman, A. (2002). Visuell kultur i barns vardagsliv bilder, medier och praktiker. [Doctoral thesis]. Linköping University.
- Swedish National Agency for Education. (2022). Curriculum for school, pre-school class and school-age educare 2022. Swedish National Agency for Education.
- The Swedish Research Council. (2017). God forskningssed. Vetenskapsrådet.
- *Tirosh, D., Tsamir, P., Levenson, E., & Tabach, M. (2011). From preschool teachers' professional development to children's knowledge: Comparing sets. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 14, 113-131.
- Tisdall, M. K. E., & Punsch, S. (2012). Not so 'new'? Looking critically at childhood studies. Childrens Geographies. 10(3), 249-264.

Anneli HIPPINEN AHLGREN

- *Webb, M., Davis, N., Bell, T., Katz, J. Y., Reynolds, N., Chambers, P. D., & Syslo, M. M. (2016). Computer science in K-12 school curricula of the 21st century: Why, what and when?. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22, 445-468.
- Wihstutz, A. (2016). Children's agency. Contributions from feminist and ethic of care theories to sociology of childhood. In F. Esser, M S. Baader, T. Betz, & T. Hungerland. *Reconceptualising Agency and Childhood. New perspectives in Childhood Studies*. (pp. 71-82). Routledge.

* Analysed research articles

Drama-based pedagogy for preschoolers: A narrative inquiry of Nepali educators

Dolma Lama¹, Niroj Dahal², Pushpa Kumari Sunar³

Abstract: Drama-based pedagogy has become a widespread approach in early childhood education worldwide. However, in the context of Nepal, drama-based pedagogy is a new concept in early childhood education, as conventional teaching is highly influential in pedagogical practices. This study explores the early-grade teachers' understanding of drama-based pedagogy, privileges, and challenges. This study subscribes to narrative inquiry as a method and social constructivism and experiential learning as theoretical referents to present the stories of two early-grade teachers of a private preschool in Lalitpur, Nepal, regarding their experience of knowing and using drama-based pedagogy in the classroom. Data was collected through in-depth interviews with the participants and analyzed using themes-drama-based pedagogy for conceptual-building, drama-based pedagogy for holistic development, and time constraints as a hindrance in drama-based pedagogy. The study argued that drama-based pedagogy supports holistic development and strong conceptual building in early graders. Thus, it enhances their cognitive, psychomotor, socioemotional, and language skills. However, this study also revealed that teachers find time constraints significantly hinder practising drama-based pedagogy. Despite the challenges, this study strongly recommends using drama-based pedagogy for meaningful engagement of early graders.

Introduction

Early childhood is an essential and crucial phase in one's life as it is a foundation phase to build one's life and future. Early Childhood Education (ECE) provides an education program focusing on children's developmental stages, personal differences, and capabilities (Maharjan et al., 2024; Street, 2021). In Nepal, the Government and private sectors are operating ECE programs with similar goals of providing quality education and care to children in their early years. Education during the early years of development has a life-long impression on children's development, and researchers especially emphasize the significance of quality education during these phases (Haslip & Gullo, 2018). The primary objective of early childhood education is to maximize the prospective a child inherits by birth or, in other words, to foster holistic development in a child. Different pedagogies, like experiential learning, project-based learning, play-based learning, inquiry-based learning, and drama-based pedagogy (Laverie et al., 2022) are applied in preschools in Nepal. However, the primary concern of this article is to explore and understand the preschool teachers' experience of using drama-based pedagogy in Nepal. It also helps understand the importance of drama-based pedagogy in preschool classrooms.

Early childhood is the most significant phase in human life. Irwin et al. (2007) stated that achieving a successful life course becomes problematic if the window of opportunity provided by early years is missed. So, as educators, we are responsible for creating better learning opportunities for young children at school. Preschools in Nepal have been trying to provide child-friendly and developmentally appropriate learning environments. With trained teachers and various teaching-learning resources, preschools have implemented child-centric learning activities to some extent. Subedi and Shrestha (2020) have argued that

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the <u>CC BY- NC- ND</u> license.

Article History Received: 14 March 2024

Accepted: 12 August 2024

Keywords

Drama-based pedagogy; Early childhood; Roleplay; Narrative; Preschool teachers

¹ Kathmandu University, School of Education, Lalitpur, Nepal, e-mail: dolma_mpsteam22@kusoed.edu.np, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0009-0009-6520-4745

² Kathmandu University, School of Education, Department of STEAM Education, Lalitpur, Nepal, e-mail: <u>niroj@kusoed.edu.np</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7646-1186</u>

³ Kathmandu University, School of Education, Lalitpur, Nepal, e-mail: pushpa_mpsteam22@kusoed.edu.np, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6765-1703

Dolma LAMA et al.

sociocultural barriers still obstruct the creation of a learner-friendly environment. In our society, children are expected to read and write once they are admitted to preschool. To fulfill these expectations, teachers focus on the academic achievement of a child rather than skill development, leading toward implementing a traditional approach to teaching and learning. Namaziandost and Çakmak (2020) argued that there is no opportunity to adapt the pace of learning to the students' different learning capabilities in the traditional teaching approach. One of the significant drawbacks of the conventional teaching approach is that it does not promote 21st-century skills among learners. The 21st-century skills are communication, collaboration, critical thinking, problem-solving, and creativity (Wrahatnolo, 2018). These skills help preschoolers build a strong foundation for their future. These skills can be obtained through implementing different innovative pedagogies in classroom teaching, such as drama-based pedagogy. Based on our engagement, preschools in Nepal still need to catch up and implement innovative pedagogies like drama-based pedagogy in their classrooms.

Drama-based pedagogy is a blend of teaching techniques (including activating dialogue, theatre games as metaphor, image work, and role work) designed for classrooms aligned with the curriculum (Dawson & Lee, 2018; Lamichhane et al., 2023). Teachers can use drama-based pedagogy in several academic areas. It can launch a new concept or theme, check students' knowledge, or expand their learning. For instance, a teacher can introduce roleplay activities while introducing family members under the theme "My Family," where the students will play the role of different family members and learn about the distinguished characteristics of each family member. The central concept of Drama-based pedagogy is that the educator acts as an artist, collaborating with students who each bring unique characteristics shaped by their varied life journeys and cultural contexts (Ma & Subbiondo, 2022). Students from various social and cultural backgrounds come together in a classroom to achieve shared learning goals. These students have their own diverse experiences and prior knowledge. Drama-based pedagogy allows these students to express and share their experiences and learn from each other by engaging meaningfully.

Drama-based pedagogy activities help students acquire skills in communication, cooperation, and critical thinking to work in groups, challenge traditional ideas about texts, and raise questions (Dunn & Jones, 2022). When students get the opportunity to perform, they also get the opportunity to express themselves. Creative drama supports the natural development of early-grade learners (Lindberg, 2015). Through creative drama, young learners develop their imagination and communication skills. Implementing drama-based pedagogy in preschool helps young students develop socially and emotionally as they get to know themselves and their emotions and live in harmony within society. Usakli (2018) stated, "Drama gives children opportunities to explore, discuss and deal with difficult issues and to express their emotions in a supportive environment." (p. 13). Drama-based pedagogy is about more than just performing. It is also about creating, discussing, and planning, which allows the students to develop several skills along with knowledge development. When students get involved in role plays, they get opportunities to enact characters and conceptualize the idea of the theme they are learning. Guided by the question-how do early-grade teachers narrate their experiences of knowing and doing drama-based pedagogy in their classroom practices? This study explores the understanding and experiences of dramabased pedagogy by early-grade teachers. Thus, this study incorporates narrative inquiry to narrate the participants' stories through the lens of social constructivism and experiential learning as theoretical referents.

Theoretical Referents

The authors have adopted social constructivism and experiential learning as the theoretical referents for this study. Social constructivism posits that learning occurs through interaction, particularly social interaction (Vygotsky, 2011). Scholars like Kim (2002) and Amineh and Asl (2015) emphasize that humans develop meaning through interactions with others and their environment. Amineh and Asl (2015) define social constructivism as a theory of knowledge in sociology and communication, examining individuals' jointly developed understandings of the world. Aligning with these perspectives, the researchers also interacted with the participants (preschool teachers) to generate meanings from their lived experiences

regarding drama-based pedagogy. Similarly, Adams (2006) asserts that social constructivism views learners as active co-constructors of knowledge and meaning. In this study, students construct knowledge by communicating and interacting with peers and teachers, aligning with social constructivist perspectives.

Additionally, we view the study through the lens of experiential learning. Kolb et al. (1984) propose that experiential learning theory (ELT) provides a holistic model of the learning process and adult development. Experience plays a central role in learning and educating the learners (Dewey, 1986). For instance, how have teachers experienced integrating drama as a pedagogical tool? Did they find it effective in developing learning skills among students, or did they encounter challenges in implementing drama-based pedagogy? Teachers' experiences significantly impact this study. Participants' views on drama-based pedagogy are subjective and shaped by their experiences. Alongside the researchers' interest in drama-based pedagogy, newly generated knowledge becomes intersubjective. Boggs et al. (2007) highlight that drama is a powerful mode of teaching and learning, drawing students into an experiential process. Kolb (1984) further emphasizes that learning is a continuous process grounded in experience. Meaningful learning occurs when individuals engage in social activities. Intersubjectivity, a shared understanding based on common interests and assumptions, forms the foundation for communication among individuals.

Method

This article sought to explore how preschool teachers incorporate drama-based pedagogies in their classrooms, using narrative inquiry as the research method. Clandinin et al. (2007) added, "Narrative inquiry is a methodology that frequently appeals to teachers and teacher educators. Part of the appeal is, no doubt, the comfort that comes from thinking about telling and listening to stories" (p. 21). Hence, narrative inquiry was applied to capture early-grade teachers' lived stories regarding drama-based pedagogy's application in their pedagogical practices. Further, Clandinin (2022) has stated that narrative inquiry is a process of conceptualizing and studying individuals' experiences over time and in context. Through this study, the authors have explored how the implementation of drama-based pedagogy has helped early graders understand what they are learning through the narratives of two preschool teachers. This article further highlights the importance and scope of drama-based pedagogy in preschool or early childhood education. As the first author has been working in the Early Childhood Education (ECD) sector for over two decades, she found that young learners benefit more through innovative pedagogies that engage them in learning. For example, children who play different characters conceptualize the drama's theme through play. Since the authors planned on writing a drama-based pedagogy article, they considered exploring the benefits and challenges of implementing drama-based pedagogy in preschool. To serve the purpose of the article, the first author conducted the fieldwork with assistance from the second and third authors. The second author provided critical and constructive feedback, shaping the article's overall structure by offering comments here and there. Similarly, the third author acted as a critical friend, adding observations and editing the article. We valued each of our contributions from the beginning to the final stage of the article. The selected site was a preschool at Gokarneshwor Municipality in Kathmandu. The site was purposively selected because the authors had positive experiences from previous cooperation in the same school, so it was technically easier for them to conduct the research. Moreover, the authors knew the school had been applying innovative pedagogies to engage the learners. The authors chose two early-grade teachers from this school as research participants because they wanted to get the participants' in-depth narratives. Aligning with the above, Cresswell (2013) stated that "narrative research is best for capturing the detailed stories or life of a single individual or the lives of a small number of individuals" (pp. 73-74). Thus, before conducting the interview, the researchers verbally obtained consent from the participants and assured them their identity would be kept confidential by using pseudonyms.

The first participant was a grade teacher of Senior Kindergarten (SKG). She has been teaching in this school since its establishment. She started teaching in this school as a grade teacher of Play Group; later, she was upgraded, and currently, she has been a grade teacher of the SKG for the past two years. The interview started with her brief introduction. She was pursuing her master's degree in humanities from Tribhuvan University. The second research participant was new compared to other teachers working in

Dolma LAMA et al.

the school; she was teaching Junior Kindergarten (JKG) students. She has just completed her one year of teaching in the school. She was studying in a second-year bachelor's program; thus, she used to go to college in the morning from 6 am to 9 am and work in the school from 9:30 am to 4:30 pm.

Before the interviews, the authors briefly studied drama-based pedagogy and its importance in preschool education and prepared the in-depth interview questions. In-depth interview was the tool used to explore the experiences and understanding of the research participants. In-depth interviews help coproduce knowledge, collaborating with participants, researchers, and other aspects of their encounters (Dahal, 2023; Djenontin & Meadow, 2018). Hence, the authors used an in-depth interview as a research method, where we prepared and asked open-ended questions to the participants with the help of the first author. The first author was responsible for conducting the interview. The first author got involved in the dialogical process during the interview, which offered a deeper understanding of how the participants understood and implemented drama-based pedagogy in their classrooms. Before the interview, the authors obtained consent from the school and the teachers (research participants) and took their appointment. The questions asked during the interview were guided by the main research question, "How do early-grade teachers narrate their experiences of knowing and doing drama-based pedagogy in their classroom practices?" The authors listened and captured all the responses through recording and field notes. The narratives derived from the interview recordings were transcribed, coded, categorized, and interpreted under suitable themes, along with literature support. After listening to the recorded interviews, we found that the teachers were not trained in drama-based pedagogy, so they were initially unaware of it. However, they have been practicing roleplay activities in their school as an influence on different social media platforms like Facebook and YouTube.

Participant's Vignette of Drama-based Pedagogy

This section of the article unleashes the experiences and sharing of preschool teachers in terms of the use of drama-based pedagogy in their classrooms.

First participant: The Senior Teacher

The first author shared the purpose of taking the interview and took the participant's consent. She then started the interview by asking the first participant (Senior teacher) whether she had heard about the term' drama-based pedagogy'. The senior teacher said she had not heard about it but guessed that maybe using drama to teach is a drama-based pedagogy. Next, again, the first author asked the participant about the different types of activities that she has been doing in her classroom. The teacher said she uses flashcards, videos, and chart papers to teach the students. Further, the first author asked her if she had ever conducted roleplays or storytelling sessions in the classroom because the participant was unclear about drama-based pedagogy and its varieties. In response to the question, the senior teacher said she has been using roleplay activities in her classroom to teach concepts like 'My family and my home'. She further shared one of the incidents of using roleplay activity, which is narrated below:

Recently, when I taught the "My Family and My Home" theme, I conducted a roleplay activity where students were asked to perform a drama about the roles and responsibilities of different family members. For this particular activity, I prepared a head crown with the names of different family members on it. Before the roleplay, I told the students about the roleplay activity we would do. I briefly told them that the roleplay is about the roles and responsibilities of different family members and responsibilities of different family members at home. I told them that some of them would be doing the roleplay activity, whereas others would watch and observe the act. I further told them that those performing students would be given head crowns with the names of family members they would be portraying in the roleplay, and they must act accordingly. Then, I asked the students to volunteer their names for the roleplay. After selecting the performers, I gave them crowns and asked them to act accordingly. I was very astonished by the act they had come up with. Everyone enjoyed the roleplay activity; even the ones who were watching loved the activity. I found that this particular activity was very helpful in making the learning process fun, and I found the students more attentive. The concept that the students learned from this roleplay activity was more effective than the one they received from other types of activity. I will use these activities whenever I get enough time.

Second Participant: The Junior Teacher

Similarly, the first author shared the purpose of taking the interview and asked the participant

Drama-based pedagogy for preschoolers: A narrative...

whether she knew what drama-based pedagogy was. The Junior teacher also responded that she had not heard about it. Next, the first author asked the Junior teacher whether she was also doing roleplay activities or dramas in her classroom. The junior teacher responded that initially, she was confused about how to teach small children. However, as time passed, she started spending time with other fellow teachers, and with their support and guidance, she began conducting roleplay activities in her class. The junior teacher said she started using roleplay as one of the activities inside the classroom after her seniors suggested it to her.

I am very new in this field of education. Although I recently completed my three months of Montessori teacher's training, I have no teaching experience. Hence, I have been getting help from my seniors and coordinator, ma'am, in terms of making lesson plans and designing activities for my classes. We have been using different varieties of teaching-learning activities in our classroom to give the concept of the same content. We mostly use flashcards, audio, rhymes, videos, display charts, and concrete materials or models to teach in our classes. We also use roleplays for some themes, but as the roleplay activity is a bit time-consuming, we do not use it frequently. My students love roleplay activities, as they are more engaging and entertaining. Last year, in the 'animal' theme, we did a roleplay activity where all the students (12 students) in my class were asked to pick the name of an animal. Then, they were asked to act and make the sound of that particular animal and share some information about it. I also made each child prepare a facemask of the particular animal that they had chosen. All the students loved that roleplay activity. All the children in my class talk about this activity, and I also love to have these kinds of activities in class, but sometimes time constraints are an issue. We also have to prepare for these types of roleplay activities. Because of that, we cannot do these kinds of fun activities in our class frequently.

Meaning-Making of the Narratives with Themes

This section of the article presents and explores the understanding of the ideas or knowledge generated from the above narratives in the form of different themes based on the formulated research problem, research question, and purpose of the study.

Drama-based Pedagogy for Conceptual-building

Children need concepts to help them understand and handle the world around them (Magolda, 2023). Preschools help children learn different concepts through child-centric learning approaches. Dramabased pedagogy, being a child-centered approach, promotes artistic experiences among students. Rather than the final product or theoretical outcome, it emphasizes the pedagogical approach to how learners engage and learn concepts and skills (Lee et al., 2020). Unlike the traditional teaching approach, dramabased pedagogy allows students to explore and engage their role as learners in the learning process. Drama is a valuable form of communication that enables students to work together cooperatively in a shared experience (Hawkins, 2021). Drama-based pedagogy in preschool promotes developing listening, speaking, and comprehension skills. It further focuses on the broader objectives of problem-solving and creative thinking by creating a kinesthetic and interactive experience. Cawthon and Dawson (2011) stated that drama-based pedagogy works as a catalyst for knowledge generation. In drama-based pedagogy, teachers approach students to have a direct role in teaching and learning through constructivist practices such as discussing and executing the drama. When students and teachers include drama-based pedagogy activities, discussions can be encouraged and created more passionately and knowingly (Caliba, 2022). Dialogue and communication help reserved or solitary students to become more poised about contributing to classroom learning. These students often lack confidence in their capabilities; drama-based pedagogy provides the students with the skills and confidence required to speak out their thoughts among their classmates. Drama also provides room for endless improvisation and experimentation. Hence, incorporating drama into classroom learning helps to increase the retention of information or knowledge shared. With the above, the Senior grade teacher says,

The concept that the students learned from this roleplay activity was more effective than the one they received from other types of activity. I use these types of activities whenever I get enough time.

As students get involved in the process of action and dialogue followed by a discussion of the topic taught through drama, it promotes lifelong learning. Conceptual building and knowledge retention are more effective when taught through drama-based pedagogy.

Dolma LAMA et al.

Drama-based Pedagogy for Holistic Development

Nordgaard (2023) has defined drama-based pedagogy as an umbrella term covering various drama activities: roleplay, writing-in-role, improvisation, theatre, creative drama, and process drama, to name. Children of all ages love roleplay, and preschools use it as one of the classroom pedagogies. Both the participants have shared how they have been using roleplay to introduce topics in their classroom. The senior teacher says, *'Everyone enjoyed the roleplay activity; even the ones who were watching loved the activity.'* Drama-based pedagogy helps to promote holistic development among learners. Holistic development in young learners refers to the comprehensive growth of a child across various areas, including physical, cognitive, and social-emotional development, connecting their feelings, doings, and thinking (Dahal, 2022; Ntshangase, 2022). The junior grade teacher mentioned in her sharing that once she had implemented a roleplay activity in her class, she asked her students to roleplay different animals. *'The students acted like their favorite animal, made their sounds, and shared the information they knew about the animal,'* says a junior-grade teacher.

Later, the teacher made them make face masks of that particular animal. All these activities that the teacher did were part of drama-based pedagogy. When the students were asked to act and make sounds like the given animal, they learned through experiential learning. The activity conducted by the Junior grade teacher, where the students enacted their favorite animal by making their sounds and gestures, helped the students to learn more about the animals. Further, the roleplay activity helped the students to remember the animals they knew about. Research has revealed that "Play is fundamental to cognitive development" (Bhagat et al., 2018, p. 130). These activities further helped the children develop their cognitive skills as they learned new concepts. It also promoted physical development among the children as they acted out animal roles through movements.

Along with these, the students also got the opportunity to express their emotions (joy and excitement) through this activity; hence, the roleplay activity, a form of drama-based pedagogy, helped promote holistic development (physical, cognitive, and social-emotional development) among the students. Through drama-based pedagogy, students learn gestures, develop socio-emotional skills, and enhance their speaking skills while boosting their creativity and imagination (Irugalbandara, 2023). Drama also engages learners from diverse backgrounds to share their unique perspectives and tales. The beauty of drama-based pedagogy is that it quickly engages students actively and instantly to help create a learning environment where their reasoning skills are acknowledged within multidisciplinary to transdisciplinary learning opportunities (Sotireli, 2019). Further, it supports students of different learning styles, such as learning by doing (Kinesthetic), learning through audio/visual (visual and audio), learning through collaboration and interaction (intra and interpersonal), and involving them actively in the learning process. Drama-based pedagogy seeks dynamic and dramatic methods to involve students in scholastic, emotional, and creative educational processes through discourse in all curriculum areas (Dunn & Jones, 2022; Lee et al., 2020). Thus, drama-based pedagogy promotes a child's holistic development.

Time Constraints as a Hindrance in Drama-based Pedagogy

Time is one of the essential factors that a teacher should consider while preparing lesson plans or classroom activities. In Nepali preschool, teachers are provided with a limited period to complete their lesson plan execution as there are other activities the child needs to spend time on, like refreshments and recreational activities. Moreover, they are strictly assigned course completion on time, and parents' expectations are more focused on writing and reading skills; therefore, teachers are skeptical about drama-based pedagogy due to losing class control, noise level, time constraints, and inability to achieve their learning goals. Both teacher participants have shared their views on how time plays a critical role as a constraint in the continuation of drama-based pedagogy in class, primarily when a single teacher handles twenty students in a class. According to government standards, the teacher-student ratio in Nepali preschools is 1:25, and access to primary education has improved (UNICEF, 2023).

Similarly, the school where the participants are teaching has a 1:20 teacher-student ratio. Thus, it becomes very challenging for the teacher to manage the time and run the class effectively. The Junior

Drama-based pedagogy for preschoolers: A narrative...

teacher says, 'It needs a lot of time to plan, prepare, and execute role plays (drama) in a class, and frequently using it as classroom pedagogy is impossible.' Planning and executing drama-based activities in the classroom is a very time-consuming activity. Dimililer et al. (2017) states that drama-based pedagogy is time-consuming. Designing and implementing drama with learners of an early age is challenging. The limited period to complete preplanned content delivery in the classroom with early-grade children is a tough job as things might not go as planned most of the time. Early-grade learners' behaviors are unpredictable, and working with them is challenging. Oktavia et al. (2022), in their study, found the unexpected characteristics of early-grade learners very challenging for teachers.

When a learner showcases unpredictable behavior or characteristics in a classroom while the teacher is teaching, the whole teaching-learning process gets disturbed, and the learning outcome is not achieved. The Junior teacher shared that while conducting the roleplay activity, students got so excited that the class was uncontrollable, and the teacher had to struggle a lot to complete the activity in a limited time frame.

Discussion

This study shows that drama-based pedagogy has gained the limelight for engaging and meaningful learning in the era of different innovative pedagogical approaches. Belanger (2022) says learners conceptualize better when actively engaging in the experience. Drama-based pedagogy enables students to actively participate in learning by putting them in the center (Köksal, 2020). In the roleplay activity the Junior grade teacher conducted, she asked the early-grade learners to choose their favorite animal and enact how it moves or makes sounds. The teacher could have allowed the students to enact any random animals of her choice, but she let them choose themselves by offering choices for the early-grade learners. This small gesture by the teacher helped the students gain ownership of the activity and led to their active involvement.

After the interview sessions with the research participants with the help of the first author, we researchers realized that drama-based pedagogy is not implemented in Nepali preschools. Although the Junior and Senior teachers have been using roleplay as a classroom activity, they are not using drama as a form of classroom pedagogy. In the Nepali context, educational awareness regarding the use and importance of drama as a form of art-based pedagogy, especially in the early years of education, is very much needed (Pant et al., 2023). Preschools claim to provide child-friendly and child-centered learning environments in preschool, but different innovative pedagogies that help early-grade learners learn more effectively and in a fun way have rarely been explored and implemented. The educational system is very much lacking in implementing different innovative educational pedagogies. Educational institutions still focus on implementing traditional rote learning methods, which disorients early-grade learners' learning.

One of the participants mentioned time as one of the constraints in the implementation of dramabased pedagogy. The authors knew preschool classes have a grade teaching system. When a school provides the facility of grade teaching, as an efficient teacher, one should manage time and promptly and effectively conduct classroom activities. Teachers struggle to manage time while incorporating dramabased pedagogy in their classrooms because they lack skills as they have not been well-trained. Teachers should learn and embrace innovative pedagogies to effectively engage early-grade learners. Most educational practitioners in Nepal are very comfortable continuing their traditional teaching approaches (Dahal et al., 2019; Sunar et al., 2024). They are not ready to leave their comfort zone and try new educational pedagogies (Luitel et al., 2022). It is high time that educationists jump into action and conduct teacher professional training programs that help create awareness about different innovative pedagogies like drama-based pedagogy so that our teachers will be aware of it, know its importance, and know how and why to implement it.

Conclusion and Implications

This article attempted to explore the use of drama-based pedagogy in preschools in Nepal. These explorations shall help those preschool teachers who want to understand drama-based pedagogy and its

Dolma LAMA et al.

importance in preschool. Among different forms of drama-based pedagogy, this article explored roleplay, its implementation in preschool, and its effect on early-grade learners' learning. Based on the experiences of the participants and the supporting literature, this article concludes that drama-based pedagogy promotes the holistic development of early-grade learners by enhancing their cognitive skills, psychomotor skills, social-emotional skills, and language; however, there are challenges of time constraints that a teacher experiences in their classroom.

This study can provide educators with remedial approaches to drama-based pedagogy, its importance, and its implications in Early Childhood Education (ECD). It also strongly recommends that in Nepal, drama-based pedagogy can be one of the practical, innovative pedagogies that early-grade teachers can use in their classrooms to promote the holistic development of children through life experiences. Similarly, it includes the stories of ECD teachers about their experiences of implementing roleplay and its effect on early-grade learners' learning; thus, it supports ECD teachers in adapting this innovative pedagogy. However, the challenges of using drama-based pedagogy in early-grade classrooms need further research on how it could be mitigated to be more effective and efficient.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: We would like to express our gratitude to all research participants, anonymous reviewers, and language editors for their tremendous support throughout the fieldwork, article review process, and finalization of this article. Equally, we extend our thanks to the University Grants Commission (UGC), Nepal, for providing the MPhil fellowship for the first author, which facilitated the successful publication of research work on time. Last but not least, we appreciate everyone who directly or indirectly supported us in this journey.

Authors' contributions: All three authors made equal contributions from the beginning to the final stages of the article. The first author conducted the fieldwork with assistance from the second and third authors. The second author provided critical and constructive feedback, shaping the article's overall structure by offering comments. Similarly, the third author acted as a critical friend, adding observations and editing the article. The first author equally acknowledged the roles of all authors.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: The work was partially funded by the University Grants Commission (UGC), Nepal.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Consent to the research instrument was granted by the Research Committee of Kathmandu University School of Education, Hattiban, Lalitpur, Nepal.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Adrijana Visnjic Jevtic through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Adams, P. (2006). Exploring social constructivism: Theories and practicalities. *Education*, 34(3), 243-257. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004270600898893
- Amineh, R. J., & Asl, H. D. (2015). Review of constructivism and social constructivism. Journal of Social Sciences, Literature, and Languages, 1, 9-16. <u>https://www.scirp.org/reference/referencespapers?referenceid=2783231</u>
- Belanger, L. (2022). ACT (like you know what you're doing) fostering engagement and motivation in language learners through drama-based pedagogy [Unpublished Master Thesis]. Queen's University.
- Bhagat, V., Haque, M., & Jaalam, K. (2018). Enrich schematization in children: Play as the tool for cognitive development. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 8(7), 128-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.7324/JAPS.2018.8720</u>
- Boggs, J. G., Mickel, A. E., & Holtom, B. C. (2007). Experiential learning through interactive drama: An alternative to student role plays. *Journal of Management Education*, 31(6), 832-858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1052562906294952</u>
- Caliba, I. (2022). Self-efficacy, working conditions, school-based management practices and performance of teachers. *Psychology and Education: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 1(2), 107-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.6523194</u>

Cawthon, S. W., & Dawson, K. M. (2011). Drama-based instruction and educational research: Activating praxis in an interdisciplinary

Drama-based pedagogy for preschoolers: A narrative...

partnership. International Journal of Education & the Arts, 12(17), n17.

Clandinin, D. J. (2022). Engaging in narrative inquiry. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003240143

Clandinin, D. J., Pushor, D., & Orr, A. M. (2007). Navigating sites for narrative inquiry. Journal of Teacher Education, 58(1), 21-35. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487106296218

Cresswell, J. (2013). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches. Sage.

- Dahal, N. (2022). Transformative STEAM education as a praxis-driven orientation. *Journal of STEAM Education*, 5(2), 167-180. https://doi.org/10.55290/steam.1098153
- Dahal, N. (2023). Ensuring quality in qualitative research: A researcher's reflections. *The Qualitative Report, 28*(8), 2298–2317. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2023.6097
- Dahal, N., Luitel, B. C., & Pant, B. P. (2019). Teacher-students relationship and its potential impact on mathematics learning. Mathematics Education Forum Chitwan, 4(4), 35-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.3126/mefc.v4i4.26357</u>
- Dawson, K., & Lee, B. K. (2018). Drama-based pedagogy: Activating learning across the curriculum. Intellect Books.
- Dewey, J. (1986). Experience and education. The Educational Forum, 50(3), 241-252. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131728609335764
- Dimililer, Ç., Kurt, M., Kaşot, N., & Sözüdoğru, O. (2017). Technology and drama-based creative, collaborative writing in teaching. Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 13(8), 5095-5106. <u>http://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2017.00952a</u>
- Djenontin, I. N. S., & Meadow, A. M. (2018). The art of co-production of knowledge in environmental sciences and management: lessons from international practice. *Environmental Management*, 61(6), 885-903. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-018-1028-3
- Dunn, J., & Jones, A. (2022). Dramatic approaches in the English classroom. *The Routledge Companion to Drama in Education*. http://doi.org/10.4324/9781003000914-33
- Haslip, M. J., & Gullo, D. F. (2018). The changing landscape of early childhood education: Implications for policy and practice. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 46, 249-264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-017-0865-7</u>
- Hawkins, R. (2021). The use of drama to help children build confidence and self-image. [Senior Thesis]. Texas Southern University
- Irugalbandara, A. I. (2023). Fostering creative thinking through drama education: Teacher perspectives. *Muallim Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 60-77. https://doi.org/10.33306/mjssh/254
- Irwin, L. G., Siddiqi, A., & Hertzman, G. (2007). *Early child development: A powerful equaliser*. Human Early Learning Partnership. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=1df862d6976456b057e8ce78c9e713807e7590d0
- Kim, M. S. (2002). Non-Western perspectives on human communication: Implications for theory and practice. Sage. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452233178</u>
- Köksal, N. (2020). Body in drama class: The role of body in learning. World Journal of Education, 10(2), 78–88. https://doi.org/10.5430/wje.v10n2p78
- Kolb, D. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Prentice Hall
- Lamichhane, B. R., Dahal, N., & Pant, B. P. (2023). Drama-based pedagogy: Ways of engaging in mathematics learning. *Mathematics Education Forum Chitwan*, 8(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3126/mefc.v8i1.60377</u>
- Laverie, D. A., Hass, A., & Mitchell, C. (2022). Experiential learning: A study of simulations as a pedagogical tool. *Marketing Education Review*, 32(1), 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/10528008.2020.1843360
- Lee, B. K., Enciso, P., & Brown, M. R. (2020). The effect of drama-based pedagogies on K-12 literacy-related outcomes: A meta-analysis of 30 years of research. *International Journal of Education & the Arts*, 21(30).
- Lindberg, E. K. (2015). Preschool creative drama: A curriculum and its effects on learning. [Master Thesis]. University of Northern Colorado.
- Luitel, B. C., Dahal, N., & Pant, B. P. (2022). Critical pedagogy: Future and hope. *Journal of Transformative Praxis*, 3(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.51474/jrtp.v3i1.599
- Ma, L., & Subbiondo, J. L. (2022). Integral drama based pedagogy as a practice of integral education: Facilitating the journey of personal transformation. *Beijing International Review of Education*, 3(4), 499-515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/25902539-03040001</u>
- Magolda, M. B. B. (2023). Authoring your life: Developing your internal voice to navigate life's challenges. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003443148
- Maharjan, B., Manandhar, N. K., Pant, B. P., & Dahal, N. (2024). Meaningful engagement of preschoolers through storytelling pedagogy. *Pedagogical Research*, 9(2), em0187. <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/pr/14144</u>
- Namaziandost, E., & Çakmak, F. (2020). An account of EFL learners' self-efficacy and gender in the flipped classroom model. *Education* and Information Technologies, 25(5), 4041-4055. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10167-7</u>
- Nordgaard, C. M. (2023). The impact of drama-based pedagogy on Grade 12 English Home Language learners' SDL skills and motivation to

Dolma LAMA et al.

learn [Doctoral Dissertation]. North-West University. https://doi.org/10.4102/aosis.2023.bk409.09

- Ntshangase, N. P. (2022). Practitioners' perceptions of play-based pedagogy on the holistic development of young children [Doctoral dissertation]. University of Pretoria. http://dx.doi.org/10.23917/ppd.v9i2.18477
- Oktavia, D., Mukminin, A., Marzulina, L., Harto, K., Erlina, D., & Holandyah, M. (2022). Challenges and strategies used by English teachers in teaching English language skills to young learners. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 12(2), 382-387. <u>https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.1202.22</u>
- Pant, B. P., Luitel, B. C., Bjønness, B., & Gjøtterud, S. (2023). "Science" and "art" as ways of knowing in school education in Nepal for an inclusive learning environment. *Discover Education*, 2(1), 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s44217-023-00039-w</u>
- Sotireli, K. (2019). 'TIE-DIEing old learning practices' Implementing Applied Drama in Secondary Education to enhance motivation and practice the English language [Unpublished Postgraduate Dissertation]. Hellenic Open University
- Street, M. (2021). Theorizing child well-being: Towards a framework for analyzing early childhood education policy in England. Journal of Early Childhood Research, 19(2), 211-224. https://doi.org/10.1177/1476718X20969841
- Subedi, R., & Shrestha, M. (2020). Enabling environment for early childhood development: A narrative study of preschools in Nepal. International Journal of Emerging Issues in Early Childhood Education, 2(1), 58-72. https://doi.org/10.31098/ijeiece.v2i.178
- Sunar, P. K., Pant, B. P., & Dahal, N. (2024). Knowing, doing, and becoming reflective practitioners: A narrative inquiry of STEAM educators. Alberta Journal of Educational Research, 70(1), 114–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.55016/ojs/ajer.v70i1.77719</u>
- UNICEF. (2023). Gender equality: Global annual results report 2022. UNICEF. https://dspace.ceid.org.tr/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1/2245/1379389EN.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Usakli, H. (2018). Drama based social emotional learning. *Global Research in Higher Education*, 1(1), 1-16. http://dx.doi.org/10.22158/grhe.v1n1p1

Vygotsky, L. (2011). Interaction between learning and development (pp. 79-91). Linköpings Universitet.

Wrahatnolo, T. (2018). 21st centuries skill implication on educational system. In IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering (Vol. 296, No. 1, p. 012036). IOP Publishing. <u>https://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1757-899X/296/1/012036</u>

Annexure

Interview Questionnaire

- 1. Can you please introduce yourself?
- 2. How long have you been working in the early education field?
- 3. Can you please share your academic background?
- 4. Have you taken any teacher training programs before?
- 5. Have you heard about drama-based pedagogy? What do you think it is?
- 6. What different activities have you been doing in your classroom?
- 7. How do you engage the learners in the learning process?
- 8. Do you integrate roleplay activities in your classroom teaching-learning?
- 9. How often do you do these activities?
- 10. How do students react to these activities?
- 11. What are the benefits of roleplays in early childhood?
- 12. What challenges or difficulties have you faced while conducting roleplay activities in your classroom as a teacher?
- 13. Would you suggest Drama-based pedagogy to other colleagues?

The naturalistic teaching process as an inclusive practice: Preschool teachers' perspectives

Düriye Merve Tuna¹, Ibrahim Halil Diken²

Abstract: According to the Ministry of National Education, 2013, children with diverse needs have the right to receive their education in environments designed to meet their needs and allow them to interact with their peers. Instructional programs that can meet all children's needs are one of the suggested programs during the implementation of inclusive programs. The Naturalistic Teaching Process is a recommended method in this context. The Naturalistic Teaching Process is a natural instructional process that allows children to acquire and reinforce new skills. This study aims to define the perspectives of preschool teachers who have children with diverse needs in their classrooms on the Naturalistic Teaching Process. Semi-structured interviews collected the data. Fifteen preschool teachers participated in this study. The data analysis employed an inductive approach based on content analysis. The study findings indicate that preschool teachers tend to follow a child's lead when setting educational objectives for children with diverse needs and developing an individualized educational program. Additionally, the study defines preschool teachers' abilities as inadequate for collaboration with families and specialists. Preschool teachers partially use the strategies and techniques, environmental arrangements, and prompts used in the Naturalistic Teaching Process, but they do not apply them systematically, indicating a need for teacher training in these areas.

Introduction

The preschool period is considered the most important years of life, and the values and attitudes acquired in early childhood form the basis of a person's future life (Oktay, 2002). The preschool period is defined as the educational process that is appropriate for the child's developmental level, observes individual differences, provides rich stimulating environmental conditions, and directs children's development in line with society's cultural values from the child's birth to the beginning of primary school (Güven & Azkeskin, 2012; Oğuzkan & Oral, 1997; Oktay, 2002;). Turkey implements a preschool education program that strives to enhance the learning experiences of children in preschool education institutions, promote healthy growth, attain optimal development across all domains, foster self-care skills, and prepare them for primary school (Ministry of National Education [MoNE], 2013). Preschool education, covering the first years of life, plays a crucial role in the development of children with diverse needs or those at developmental risk. In this sense, it is observed that there are significant developments in terms of enabling children with diverse needs to benefit from preschool education within the scope of the legal regulations developed in Turkey. Thus, according to the Special Education Services Regulation, "Compulsory education for individuals in need of special education is the education and training process that starts in the preschool education period and includes the secondary education period." The same regulation includes the phrase, "Preschool education is compulsory for children with diverse needs who have completed 36 months (MoNE, 2018). It is stated that the main purpose of education, health, and care services to be provided to children with diverse needs or at risk and their families in the early period is to minimize children's negative conditions and support their quality of life at the highest level (Er-Sabuncuoğlu & Diken, 2010). The ultimate goal of special education services in the preschool period is to enable children with diverse needs to receive education

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the <u>CC BY- NC- ND</u> license.

Article History

Received: 27 December 2023 Accepted: 12 August 2024

Keywords

Naturalistic teaching process; Inclusion; Preschool education; Children with diverse needs

¹ Anadolu University, Graduate School, Eskişehir, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>dmervetuna@gmail.com</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4319-8286</u>

² Anadolu University, Research Institute for Individiuals with Disabilities, Eskişehir, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>ihdiken@anadolu.edu.tr</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5761-2900</u>

Düriye Merve TUNA & Ibrahim Halil DİKEN

together with their typically developing peers. Inclusive practices refer to the provision of support for special education services to preschool school teachers, children with diverse needs, and their typically developing peers (Acarlar, 2013; Akçamete, 2010). Most studies on inclusive practices in preschool education in Turkey incorporate the perspectives of teachers. According to Sucuoğlu (2004), the majority of studies conducted in Turkey on inclusive practices between 1980 and 2005 focused on determining teachers' thoughts, approaches, or attitudes toward children with diverse needs and inclusion. Many studies obtaining the views of preschool teachers determined that teachers had insufficient knowledge about inclusive practices (Altun & Gülben, 2009; Özdemir & Ahmetoğlu, 2012; Seçer, 2010; Sığırtmaç et al., 2011; Sucuoğlu et al., 2013; Sucuoğlu et al., 2014; Tufan & Yıldırım, 2013). On the other hand, the factors making inclusive practices successful are listed by Kırcaali-İftar and Batu (2007) as teachers, typicallydeveloping children, children receiving inclusive education, school management, families of children receiving inclusive education, physical environment, families of typically-developing children, support special education services, and additional services. Teachers are indicated as the most important of these factors (Sucuoğlu et al., 2013; 2014). In addition to the impact teachers have on the success of inclusive practices, the teaching methods they use are also considered important. In this context, it is important to include teaching methods used in naturalistic settings in inclusive practices (Allen & Cowdery, 2005; Özen et al., 2013; Tekin-İftar, 2008). The National Professional Development Center on Inclusion [NPDCI] (2009) recommends the use of the Naturalistic Teaching Process (NTP) in inclusive practices. The primary objective of the NTP for children is to integrate routines, transitions, and activities from their daily lives into their naturalistic experiences by serving as a model, expanding, adapting, and transforming them into meaningful learning opportunities (Diken, 2013; Snyder et al., 2015). The NTP has four basic features. These are listed as follows: (a) following a child's lead and interest; (b) using routines, activities, and transitions as a teaching setting; (c) using activities, objects, or toys as natural reinforcers; (d) teaching generalization (Diken, 2013; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2007). The NTP adheres to the principles outlined in the report of Developmentally Appropriate Practices (DAP) (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009) prepared by the National Association Education of Young Children [NAEYC] (2014) and the report of Recommended Practices for special education in early childhood by the Council for Exceptional Children (CEC). The National Autism Council [NAC] (2015) published the National Standards Report, which recommends the NTP and the teaching methods and techniques used in naturalistic settings. This report emphasizes the importance of the teacher's perspective on education and the NTP they use for successful inclusive practices, particularly in preschool inclusive practices. However, when examining the preservice courses preschool teachers in Turkey undergo, it's evident that they enroll in a mandatory two-credit course on special education. This course primarily focuses on theory, with no practical component for children with diverse needs ((Council of Higher Education [CoHE], 2018). This may limit the methods and techniques preschool teachers use in their practices, particularly for children with diverse needs (Sucuoğlu et al., 2015).

Using the NTP in inclusive settings is among the recommended practices in terms of creating multiple learning opportunities and being compatible with the curriculum (Horn et al., 2000; Frontczak & Bricker, 2001). Furthermore, studies from around the world stress how important it is for preschool teachers to use NTP strategies and techniques, along with prompting and setting up the environment, when working with kids who have diverse needs in natural settings (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; NAC, 2015; NPDCI, 2009). Researchers developed the NTP to enhance children's engagement and learning through inclusive practices (Hemmeter, 2000; Odom, 2000; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2007; Snyder et al., 2015; VanDerHeyden et al., 2005; Wolery & Hemmeter, 2011).

As the importance of inclusive practices in early childhood has grown, changes have begun to occur in the teaching approaches presented in inclusive settings. These changes have started to give way to gamebased, child-centered approaches rather than teacher-centered and directive approaches (Hemmeter, 2000). The Preschool Education Program used and developed by the MoNE (2013) in Turkey is parallel to the NTP in terms of being a developmental program, providing flexibility in organizing the teacher's plan in line with children's needs and interests, being a game, problem-solving, and creativity-based program, and using routines, activities, and transitions as a learning setting. Upon reviewing the literature, it is observed

that there are many studies on the effectiveness of strategies and techniques used in the NTP (Bakkaloğlu, 2008; Christensen-Sandfort & Whinnery, 2013; Fox & Hanline, 1993; Güzel-Özmen, 2005; Kurt & Tekin-İftar, 2008; Losardo & Bricker, 1994; Odluyurt, 2011; Odluyurt & Batu, 2010; Toğram, 2004). There are numerous studies in the international literature on the effectiveness of using the NTP and techniques used in the NTP during inclusive practices (Harjusola-Webb & Robbins, 2012; Macy & Bricker, 2007; Toelken & Miltenberger, 2012). In the national literature, no study was found on the effectiveness of the NTP and the strategies and techniques used in this process in inclusive practices (Sucuoğlu et al., 2015). Research reveals that preschool teachers in Turkey have information needs regarding inclusion (Özdemir & Ahmetoğlu, 2012; Seçer, 2010; Sığırtmaç et al., 2011; Sucuoğlu et al., 2013; 2014; Tufan & Yıldırım, 2013). However, there are few studies that determine what kind of practices preschool teachers perform in inclusive practices and what kind of needs and perspectives they have in the context of the NTP (Özen et al., 2013; Sucuoğlu et al., 2013; 2014). Sucuoğlu et al. (2013; 2014) examined teachers' knowledge levels in six domains, including naturalistic teaching strategies, using the Inclusion Knowledge Test (IKT) in their study. Özen et al. (2013) assessed the instructional processes used by teachers in their classrooms in terms of the Activity-Based instructional principles employed in the NTP. This study was deemed necessary because there are few studies that determine the needs and perspectives of teachers regarding the NTP, which the literature recommends for use in inclusive practices. A successful inclusive practice in the preschool period supports the development of both children with diverse needs and typically developing children (Guralnick, 2001). The teacher and the instructional processes used by the teacher are of key importance for a successful inclusive practice (Kırcaali-İftar & Batu, 2007). In preschool inclusive practices, the NTP is recommended (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; NAC, 2015; NPDCI, 2009). In this context, it is thought that revealing the views, needs, and suggestions of preschool teachers who have children with diverse needs in their classrooms will contribute to the national and international literature. Furthermore, experts believe it has the potential to shape the content of intervention programs and in-service training programs for use in national practice.

The purpose of this study is to determine the perspectives of preschool teachers who have not received any training on the Naturalistic Teaching Process before and who have children with diverse needs in their classrooms on the naturalistic teaching process (NTP). The present study seeks answers to the following questions: (1) How do preschool teachers who have not received any training on the NTP before and have children with diverse needs in their classrooms plan the intervention? (2) How do preschool teachers who have not received any training on the NTP before and have children with diverse needs in their classrooms plan the intervention? (2) How do preschool teachers who have not received any training on the NTP before and have children with diverse needs in their classrooms carry out the intervention process? (3) How do preschool teachers who have not received any training on the NTP before and have children with diverse needs in their classrooms evaluate the effect of family involvement?

Method

Research Design

The study was designed as descriptive, and a semi-structured interview technique was used to collect data. The research data were analyzed by induction analysis. The research diaries and field notes kept by the researcher were used while analyzing the research data and interpreting the findings.

Participants

The study participants include the first researcher, who graduated from preschool education programs and minor programs in education of the mentally disabled in 2011, as well as teachers who volunteered to be interviewed. In this context, necessary permissions were obtained to conduct the study with teachers working in kindergartens and nursery classes in a city center located in the Marmaramara region of Turkey. Accordingly, the list and contact information of the schools were obtained from the official website of the Directorate of National Education, 9 kindergartens and 3 nursery classes were contacted by phone, and the first researcher explained the study he planned to carry out to the school administrators. A total of 23 teachers from seven institutions, who indicated their willingness to participate in the interview, volunteered. We interviewed a total of 15 teachers based on the prerequisites for their

participation in the study. All of the participating teachers have at least one year of experience with children with diverse needs, and during the study, they had at least one student with diverse needs in their classroom. One of the teachers participating in the study received education at a university in Bulgaria and is an associate degree graduate of the Child Development Program. All other participants are undergraduate graduates. Of the teachers with a bachelor's degree, 11 are graduates of the preschool education program, 2 are graduates of the child development program, and 1 is a graduate of the child development and home economics program. All of the teachers participating in the study are female. The participants' age range varies between 27 and 57, and the mean age is 34. The participants' professional experience ranges between 2 and 26 years, with an average of 10 years. The participants' experience with children with diverse needs varies between 2 and 13 years, and the average experience with children with diverse needs is 4 years. Of the teachers participating in the study, 13 have experience with children with language and speech disorders, 11 with children with intellectual disabilities, 7 with children with pervasive developmental disorder, 5 with children with attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder, 5 with children with orthopedic disabilities, 5 with children with hearing impairment, and 1 with children with chronic diseases. Of the teachers involved in the study, 7 continue to work with children aged 5 years old, 4 with children aged 4 years old, 3 with children aged 3 years old, and 1 with children aged 6 years old. The number of children in the participants' classes ranges from 12 to 24, and the average number of children is 19.

Data Collection Tools

To obtain information about the participants in this study, data were collected using the Demographic Information Form and semi-structured interview questions.

Demographic Information Form

The Demographic Information Form was prepared to provide information about the participating teachers. The form was designed to obtain information about variables such as teachers' age, the field of graduation, professional experience, and gender.

Interview Questions

The interview questions created in line with the literature, observations, and seminars received from experts were prepared in the format of an expert opinion form and sent to six experts via e-mail. The questions were rearranged in line with the opinions of the experts. The prepared questions were sent to six experts to obtain expert opinions for the second time. After obtaining the second expert opinion, the interview questions were arranged. Following a preliminary interview with a teacher, we examined the transcripts from the interviews with two experts and finalized the interview questions. The data obtained in the preliminary interview were excluded from the research data and used only to develop the questions.

Data Collection Process

Semi-structured interview techniques with volunteer teachers were conducted at the schools where the teachers work in their rooms suitable for the interview at the time. The first researcher conducted all the interviews. The first researcher prepared an interview guide to inform participants about the interview's principles before starting the interviews, and then presented the interview to each participant. The shortest interview lasted 34 minutes, the longest one lasted 1 hour, 14 minutes, and the average interview duration was 49 minutes.

Data Analysis

Induction analyzed the study's data (Bogdan & Biklen, 2007; Flick, 2007). An interview coding key was created for each participant based on the generated codes and responses. The researcher met with two experts, shared how he performed the analysis, and obtained their opinion on the interview coding key. By copying and pasting the data and line numbers from the previously coded data file to the appropriate category, the researcher ensured that the data was suitable for the category.

Reliability

Expert opinion was obtained to determine the reliability of the interview coding keys. In the reliability calculation, the codings with agreement were divided by the sum of all codings and multiplied by 100. The average reliability in all categories was calculated as 96%.

Ethical Considerations

This study was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK) under the 1001 Program (Grant No. 114K164) and the Anadolu University Scientific Research Projects Commission under Project No. 1505E447. Ethical approval was obtained from the Anadolu University Ethics Committee. The Ministry of National Education provided ethical approval in this context. The voluntary participants signed informed consent forms, ensuring confidentiality and their right to withdraw from the study at any time.

Results

Findings were grouped under three themes. These themes are "Preschool Teachers' Perspectives on the Planning Process of the Education to Be Implemented: What Occurs in the Planning Process?" "Preschool Teachers' Perspectives on the Intervention Process: What Occurs in the Intervention Process?" and "Preschool Teachers' Perspectives on Family Involvement in the Education Process: Family Involvement." We present each theme, along with its sub-themes and categories, below.

Preschool Teachers' Perspectives on the Planning Process of the Education to be Implemented: What Happens in the Planning Process?

In the interviews, it was tried to determine how the teachers planned the education they would implement and what kind of planning process they followed for their children with diverse needs. The findings obtained from the interviews were grouped under three headings: "The Ways of Getting to Know and Evaluating the Child," "Planning Made for Children with Diverse Needs," and "Being Aware of the Characteristics of Children with Diverse Needs."

The Ways of Getting to Know and Evaluating the Child

Evaluation is the process of collecting information to decide on the child's development and needs (Kargın, 2013). There are two ways to evaluate: formal and informal. The formal evaluation applies standardized tests. Despite the cost-effectiveness of standardized tests, the emotional states and experiences of children, particularly those aged 3-5 years, can influence them, necessitating informal evaluation support (Epstein et al., 2004). Techniques used in informal evaluation in preschool can be listed as observation, portfolio keeping, teacher evaluation, and family evaluation (NAEYC, 2013; Epstein et al., 2004).

In addition to record-keeping and obtaining information from the family, the teachers stated they mostly made observations to get to know and evaluate children. Taking into account the perspectives of the teachers, Teacher Yonca elucidated their method of evaluating children through observation, stating,

In my opinion, a good observer can determine this from the way children behave in any environment, from the way they use the toilet to asking for a napkin.

Teacher Nermin clarified this by saying,

I took a lot of notes during a month. He did it that day. He did this today. ...I prepared it by observing one-on-one and taking notes.

Planning Made for Children with Diverse Needs

An Individualized Education Plan (IEP) is a plan that establishes the location, timing, duration, and provider of special education services for children with diverse needs enrolled in general education classes.

Düriye Merve TUNA & Ibrahim Halil DİKEN

It involves mutual agreements between the student, their family, and all educators responsible for their education (special education teacher, general education teacher, counselor, etc.) (Kargın, 2007).

The teachers stated that they prepared an IEP for children with diverse needs and collaborated with the student's family and experts. All of the teachers indicated that they prepared an IEP for their children with diverse needs and described the process of doing so. The teachers said that they mostly needed information during the IEP preparation process. Teacher Sevim said,

We used to have difficulties preparing an IEP until last year because we did not have much knowledge on this subject.

Teacher Cansu stated,

I have had many deficiencies in preparing an IEP since my appointment. I completed most of it last year. I have some shortcomings when it comes to preparing the IEP.

Teacher Menekşe expressed her lack of knowledge about IEP preparation in the following way:

Well, the report we prepared is insufficient because we are incompetent in this.

Being Aware of the Characteristics of Children with Diverse Needs

Teachers must know the strengths and needs of children in their classrooms in order to make appropriate educational and instructional practices for them (NAEYC, 2013). At the planning stage, the teacher should answer the questions of what skills and behaviors children should primarily learn in daily routines, activities, and transitions, and how to teach them (Noonan & McCormick, 2006). In this context, it's crucial for the teacher to understand the strengths and aspects of the student with diverse needs, as well as the activities he enjoys and finds challenging, and adjust their planning accordingly.

Most of the teachers indicated the strengths of their children with diverse needs. Of the teachers who had difficulty expressing their views on their children's strengths, Teacher Cansu said the following for her student with diverse needs:

No, I can't remember right now.

Teacher Zeyno stated for her student with diverse needs who has Down syndrome,

He doesn't have many strengths at the moment.

Teacher Derya responded to her student with autism, one of her three children with diverse needs, by saying,

I can't say anything about him."

On the other hand, Teacher Yonca provided examples of how to use the activities her student with diverse needs enjoyed for teaching purposes to help him achieve his goals:

... If he didn't want to do it with his hand, I made him do it with his head. I attached a brush to the helmet. Inside a box, we prepared a brush for the helmet and finger paint. He was instructed to insert the brush into his hat and use it to draw on the kraft paper on the wall. He was instructed to draw a picture by moving his head to the left and right, as well as up and down, according to his preference. "In that sense, I found a solution for him, and he loved it. (Teacher Yonca)

Preschool Teachers' Perspectives on the Intervention Process: What Happens in the Intervention Process?

The interviews conducted to understand the teachers' perspectives on the intervention process yielded information about the strategies, techniques, environmental arrangements, and prompts they employed in the NTP, as well as whether their practices incorporated the NTP's features. The obtained data were grouped under two headings, "Strategies and Techniques/Environmental Arrangements/Prompts Used in the Naturalistic Teaching Process That Preschool Teachers Employ" and "Traces of the Characteristics of the Naturalistic Teaching Process in the Intervention Process." The category "Strategies and Techniques/Environmental Arrangements/Prompts Used in the Naturalistic Teaching Process That Preschool Teachers Employ" and "Traces of the Characteristics of the Naturalistic Teaching Process in the Intervention Process." The category "Strategies and Techniques/Environmental Arrangements/Prompts Used in the Naturalistic Teaching Process That

Preschool Teachers Employ" consists of the three sub-categories within itself: (a) strategies and techniques, (b) environmental arrangements, and (c) prompts.

Strategies and Techniques, Environmental Arrangements, Prompts Used in the NTP

Among the strategies and techniques in the NTP, the teachers employed activity-based instruction, incidental teaching, being a model without waiting for a response, requesting to be a model, and being a model using extensions (Diken, 2013).

Activity-based instruction is defined as creating learning opportunities for children by embedding functional skills into daily activities (Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2007). Results indicated that most of the teachers included "activity-based instruction" in their practices. Teacher Hadise provided the following examples of her use of activity-based instruction:

Afterwards, I separate the boys and girls, particularly when washing hands, for routine activities. Also to teach the concept of gender. ... You're a girl and I'm a boy; they often struggle to distinguish between the two genders.

Teacher Sevim provided an example of this:

We assist children who struggle to dress independently during the initial weeks. In addition to this, we have prepared a game for our students. For my class, the dress-up game. They learned it in this way, through play.

Teacher Cansu gave the following examples of using activity-based instruction:

If I teach a concept related to finding a circle, I pay attention to choosing games accordingly. I primarily engage in activities related to the lesson that day.

More than half of the interviewed teachers incorporated incidental teaching into their practices. Despite not implementing all the steps of incidental teaching in their examples, the teachers evaluated the learning and teaching opportunities to align with the children's needs. In this context, Teacher Mediha demonstrated her awareness of her students' needs by stating,

I said, 'It's raining. The child approached me in excitement. He cannot pronounce the letter 'R'. So he says, It's laining.

The teacher then responded to the child's interest and clarified that she had successfully completed the engagement step:

Then I recognized the child's interest and acted accordingly. We went to the garden immediately and practiced a bit by saying, It's rrrraining, rrr (sound).

The same teacher said that she supported the child as a model:

He also used to have problems controlling his voice. I told him that ants can hear us and whisper to them silently, or we could say, let's say louder so our voices can reach clouds to provide voice control.

Prompts are used to support the skills and behaviors that the child cannot perform independently with physical, model, verbal, and non-verbal aids (Diken, 2013). More than half of the teachers gave examples of using physical prompts. Teacher Firdevs gave examples of the full physical prompt by saying:

I try to hold his hand. Where necessary, I place his fingers on the scissors' rings. At first, I make his fingers work with my hand.

Teacher Mediha demonstrated the use of the shadow prompt, which is a type of physical prompt, by stating,

For instance, I'm holding his shoulder. I stand next to him and say, You can do it... By decreasing the degree of help, for example, I just sit next to him and get up from time to time.

Traces of the Characteristics of the NTP

The characteristics of the NTP are listed as follows: (1) the child's lead and interest; (2) using routines, activities, and transitions as a teaching setting; (3) teaching generalization; and (4) an activity/object being a natural reinforcer (Diken, 2013; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2007).

Interview results indicated that all teachers followed the child's lead and interest. Teacher Rana gave the following example of following the child's lead and interest:

Düriye Merve TUNA & Ibrahim Halil DİKEN

They saw the playground outside, ... Teacher, can we play in the sandpit or park? Since we had enough time, I wanted to stretch today's plan and make them have fun. It is essential for me that they have fun.

Teacher Sevim gave the following example:

If the child liked something else that day, we include it in the plan immediately and plan accordingly.

Another characteristic of the NTP is the use of routines, activities, and transitions in a teaching setting. All of the teachers stated that they used routines, activities, and transitions in their daily practice. Concerning the use of activities as a teaching setting, Teacher Mediha said the following:

So, for example, Tuesday is our experiment day. Wednesday is our number day, etc. I plan activities according to these.

Teacher Rana stated that she used activities for teaching purposes in the following way:

We do our experiment if there is an art activity, a Turkish language activity, or a game activity in accordance with the subject I have determined in advance.

Regarding the use of routines as a teaching setting, Teacher Firdevs provided an example, stating that she used the conversation activity, one of her classes' routines, to support the children's needs:

When the children arrive at school, we first sit at the table and chat. I ask children how they are doing. We engage in a conversation about the current day, aiming to teach the concept of the day.

Regarding the use of transitions in a teaching setting, Teacher Songül gave examples of how to transform transitions into learning opportunities by saying:

When entering the bathroom line, I count from one to twenty and send them like that.

Preschool Teachers' Perspectives on Family Involvement in the Education Process: Family Involvement

Based on the interviews with teachers, the impact of family involvement in the education process on the child, the families, and the teachers was explored. The findings were organized into three main categories: preschool teachers' views on the impact of family involvement on the child, on the family and on themselves as teachers.

Views on the Effect of Family Involvement on Children

Children learn from people around them, family members, teachers, and peers (Dunst et al., 2006). Experts and families collaborate to support the child's development during inclusive practices (Guralnick, 2001; Kaczmarek et al., 2000).

Most teachers share a positive view on the impact of family involvement in the education process on children. More than half of the teachers stated that families performing activities as class guests made children happy. Teacher Rana expressed this in the following way:

Children of the families participating in activities become very happy. So when a child's family doesn't come, they get very upset.

Teachers also stated that family involvement in the education process increased children's motivation and contributed to developing children's school belonging. Teacher Begüm expressed that

the effect is good. Children become more motivated when they think that the family supports them.

Teacher Firdevs expressed as follows:

With such things, the child both feels school belonging and constantly feels his family's support.

Views on the Effect of Family Involvement on Families

Experts and families should collaborate to identify the child's interests and needs within the NTP framework, and to provide more support for these needs in diverse settings that align with their interests (Horn et al., 2000; Notari-Syverson & Schuster, 1995).

Almost all teachers emphasized that family involvement is critical to acquiring knowledge on the process of the education of their children, while more than half of the teachers stated that family

The naturalistic teaching process as an inclusive practice: Preschool...

involvement in the education process raised the family's awareness. Teacher Derya provided the following examples of raising families' awareness through their participation in classroom activities:

The family pays close attention to the characteristics of the child's age group. Then they learn about his friends, specifically the types of friends he has. The child shares this information when he returns home, but it's more effective when his family visits and observes it. How can we address this issue, specifically targeting the four-year-old age group? You know, what could they do? What can't these children do? The family becomes aware of these. What is their attention span? For instance, they can observe the activities the child finds enjoyable and those he is unable to engage in. Teachers are able to observe the child's interactions with his friends. (Teacher Derya)

Views on the Effect of Family Involvement on Themselves

According to Kesiktaş (2013), the effects of family involvement in the education process on teachers include feeling the support of the family, understanding the difficulties teachers face, and obtaining information about the child. Most teachers think that family involvement in the education process has an effect on increasing the opportunities to cooperate, be supportive, and communicate with families and establishing positive communication. Teacher Cansu explained this situation as follows:

Besides, the dialogues with the teacher become better. Because the teacher gets to know the parent, the sincerity and warmth between them increase.

Conclusion and Discussion

Consider the study's limitations, such as its small sample size, when interpreting the results. The study includes the opinions of only 15 preschool teachers. The obtained findings were discussed from three aspects: (a) what occurs in planning?, (b) what occurs in intervention?, and (c) family involvement. We then presented recommendations for practice and additional research.

To effectively plan the NTP's inclusion/inclusive practices, teachers should evaluate children in a versatile manner, prepare IEPs for children with diverse needs, and be aware of children's strengths and needs (Copple & Bredekamp, 2009; Macy, 2007; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2001; Yoder & Warren, 2001). The study observed that the participating teachers primarily utilized informal techniques to understand their children, lacking a standard evaluation process. Teachers may require information on evaluation techniques in order to apply them at various levels and deliver standard education services. The most important condition for the successful execution of the NTP is determining the objectives (Boavida et al., 2014; Dunst et al., 2006; Horn et al., 2000; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2001). As a result, teachers must evaluate their children using various techniques (obtaining information from the family, observing, keeping records, etc.), determine the child's characteristics, strengths, and needs, and then determine their goals accordingly (Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2001). In this respect, teachers' deficiencies in using evaluation techniques may cause them to have difficulties determining children's needs and determining their goals accordingly. Individualized instruction, IEP preparation, and collaboration with children's families and other process experts are necessary for the successful implementation of the NTP in inclusive practices (Guralnick, 2001; Kaczmarek et al., 2000). Although all teachers said they prepared an IEP, they felt inadequate. It is thought that teachers can express the needs of their students with diverse needs more clearly and precisely; they have difficulties expressing their strengths, and when they are asked to say their strengths, some answers are given by focusing on the needs of children rather than their strengths. Regarding the NTP planning process, it's evident that teachers struggle with evaluation techniques, IEP preparation, goal setting, and collaboration with experts and families. Additionally, we can view the fact that teachers plan activities based on children's preferences and dislikes as a positive aspect of the NTP. Given all these data, we can assert that teachers require professional knowledge and experience in the planning process to effectively implement the NTP in their classrooms during inclusive practices.

Teachers should effectively use strategies/techniques and environmental arrangements for successful inclusive practices of the NTP (Horn et al., 2000; Odom, 2000; Pretti-Frontczak & Bricker, 2007; Snyder et al., 2015). Teachers have the opportunity to demonstrate their use of various strategies, techniques, prompts, and environmental arrangements from the NTP during the intervention process. This demonstrates their professional competence, even in the absence of prior NTP training. This also shows
Düriye Merve TUNA & Ibrahim Halil DİKEN

that the NTP is suitable for the preschool education curriculum. It is believed that teachers are highly aware of the characteristics of the NTP during its implementation, particularly when it comes to following the child's lead and interest. While teachers often use activities as a teaching setting, it's worth noting that fewer teachers utilize routines and transitions. It's important to support teachers in utilizing routines and transitions, as well as generalization and natural reinforcement, which are key characteristics of the NTP.

Family involvement in the education process is defined as their participation in school activities and programs, as well as their communication with children about the school and the home environment that supports learning (Fan, 2001). The teachers asserted that family involvement in the education process facilitated their collaboration with the families, fostering a supportive environment, enhancing their communication with the family, providing them with information, understanding the family's traits, understanding the challenges the teachers faced, and highlighting the family's complicating influences. However, two teachers stated that family involvement in the education process had complicating effects, just as in the study conducted by Sucuoğlu et al. (2013; 2014), which shows their deficiencies in working with families.

Recomandations for Practice

- By providing them with a preservice practice-based course on special education, we can ensure that preschool preservice teachers make an evaluation, prepare an IEP, and use instructional techniques and prompts.
- Assigning special education teachers to preschool institutions can provide support for the challenges preschool teachers face with their children with diverse needs during the intervention process.

Recommendations for Further Research

- We can design qualitative research based on observation or video analysis to ascertain the strategies and techniques used by NTP preschool teachers, the activities they engage in, and the duration of their use.
- By providing coaching support, single-subject research can be carried out on the effectiveness of preschool teachers' use of the strategies and techniques, environmental arrangements, and prompts used in the NTP.
- Given the shortcomings of preschool teachers in working with families, it is possible to develop a training program that will improve their interactions with families and investigate its effectiveness.
- Preschool teachers need information about various disability groups, so we can prepare a training program on this topic and investigate its effectiveness.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank Hasan Gürgür and Arzu Arıkan for their contributions to the development of data collection tools and the analysis process, and Hatice Bakkaloğlu for her revisions and suggestions."

Authors' contributions: This manuscript is based on DMT's master's thesis, with IHD serving as the supervisor and providing significant guidance and input throughout the research and manuscript preparation process.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: This work was supported by the Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TÜBİTAK) under the 1001 Program (Grant No. 114K164) and by the Anadolu University Scientific Research Projects Commission under Project No. 1505E447.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The Ministry of National Education provided official permission to conduct interviews in schools. Ethical approval was obtained from the Anadolu University Ethics Committee. The voluntary participants signed informed consent forms, ensuring confidentiality and their right to withdraw from the study at any time.

The naturalistic teaching process as an inclusive practice: Preschool...

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Adrijana Višnjić-Jevtić through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Acarlar, F. (2013). Kaynaştırma modeli ve özel gereksinimli küçük çocukların özellikleri. In B. Sucuoğlu and H. Bakkaloğlu (Eds.), Okul öncesi kaynaştırma. Kök Yayıncılık.
- Akçamete, G. (2010). Özel gereksinimi olan çocuklar. In G. Akçamete (Ed.), Genel eğitim okullarında özel gereksinimi olan öğrenciler ve özel eğitim (3rd ed.). Kök Yayıncılık.

Allen, K. E., & Cowdery, G. E. (2005). The exceptional child: Inclusion in early childhood education (5th ed.). Tomson Delmar Learning.

- Altun, T., & Gülben, A. (2009). Okul öncesinde özel gereksinim duyan çocukların eğitimindeki uygulamalar ve karşılaşılan sorunların öğretmen görüşleri açısından değerlendirilmesi. Selçuk Üniversitesi Ahmet Keleşoğlu Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 28, 253-272.
- Bakkaloğlu, H. (2008). The effectiveness of activity based intervention programme on the transition skills of children with developmental disabilities aged between 3 and 6 years. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 8(2), 393-406.
- Boavida, T., Aguiar, C., & McWilliam, R. A. (2014). A training program to improve IFSP/IEP goals and objectives through the routinesbased interview. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 33(4), 200-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121413494416</u>
- Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, K. S. (2007). Qualitative research for education: Introduction to theory methods (5th ed.). Allyn and Bacon.
- Christensen-Sandfort, R. J., & Whinnery, S. B. (2013). Impact of milieu teaching on communication skills of young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 32(4), 211-222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121411404930</u>
- CoHE. (2018). Okul öncesi öğretmenliği lisans programı. <u>https://www.yok.gov.tr/Documents/Kurumsal/egitim_ogretim_dairesi/Yeni-Ogretmen-Yetistirme-Lisans-Programlari/Okul_Oncesi_Ogretmenligi_Lisans_Programi.pdf</u>
- Copple, C., & Bredekamp, S. (2009). Developmentally appropriate practice in early childhood programs serving children from birth through age 8. Washington, DC: NAEYC
- Diken, İ. H. (2013). Okul öncesi kaynaştırma ortamlarında doğal öğretim. In B.Sucuoğlu and H. Bakkaloğlu (Eds.), Okul öncesi kaynaştırma. Kök Yayıncılık.
- Dunst, C. J., Bruder, M. B., Trivette, C. M., & Hamby, D. W. (2006). Everyday activity settings, natural learning environments, and early intervention practices. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 3(1), 3-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-1130.2006.00047.x</u>
- Epstein, A. S., Schweinhart, L. J., & DeBruin-Parecki, A., Robin K. B. (2004). Preschool assessment: A guide to developing a balanced approach. *National Institute for Early Education Research* 7,1-11.
- Er-Sabuncuoğlu, M. & Diken, İ. (2010). Türkiye'de erken çocukluk müdahalesi: güncel durum, zorluklar ve öneriler. International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education, 2(2), 149-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.20489/intjecse.107966</u>
- Fan, X. (2001). Parental involvement and children' academic achievement: A growth modeling analysis. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 70(1), 27-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220970109599497</u>
- Flick, U. (2007). Designing qualitative research. The Cromwell Press.
- Fox, L., & Hanline, M. F. (1993). A preliminary evaluation of learning within developmentally appropriate early childhood settings. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 13(3), 308-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/027112149301300308</u>
- Guralnick, M. J. (2001). A framework for change in early childhood education. In M.J. Guralnick (Ed.), *Early childhood inclusion: Focus on change* (pp.3-38). Paul H. Brookes Publishing.
- Güven, G., & Azkeskin K.E. (2012). Erken çocukluk eğitimi ve okul öncesi eğitim. In İ. H. Diken (Ed.) Erken çocukluk eğitimi (2nd ed.). Pegem Akademi.
- Güzel-Özmen, R. (2005). Otistik bir çocuğa dil öğretimi. Eğitim ve Bilim, 30(138), 18-27.
- Harjusola-Webb, S. M., & Robbins, S. H. (2012). The effects of teacher-implemented naturalistic intervention on the communication of preschoolers with autism. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 32(2), 99-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121410397060</u>
- Hemmeter, M. L. (2000). Classroom-based interventions: Evaluating the past and looking toward the future. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 20(1), 56-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/027112140002000110</u>

- Horn, E., Lieber, J., Li, S., Sandall, S., & Schwartz, I. (2000). Supporting young children's IEP goals in inclusive settings through embedded learning opportunities. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 20(4), 208-223. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/027112140002000402</u>
- Kaczmarek, L., Pennington, R., & Goldstein, H. (2000). Transdisciplinary consultation: A center-based team functioning model. Education and Treatment of Children, 23(2), 156-172.
- Kargın, T. (2007). Eğitsel değerlendirme ve Bireyselleştirilmiş Eğitim Programı hazırlama süreci. Ankara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Fakültesi Özel Eğitim Dergisi, 8 (1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1501/Ozlegt_0000000103</u>
- Kargın, T. (2013). Okul öncesi performans değerlendirme ve bireyselleştirilmiş eğitim planı hazılanması. In B.Sucuoğlu and H. Bakkaloğlu (Eds.), *Okul öncesi kaynaştırma*. Kök Yayıncılık.
- Kesiktaş, D. (2013). Okul öncesi kaynaştırma uygulamalarında ailelerle iletişim ve işbirliği. In B. Sucuoğlu and H. Bakkaloğlu (Eds.), Okul öncesi kaynaştırma. Kök Yayıncılık.
- Kırcaali-İftar, G. & Batu, S. (2007). Inclusion (3rd ed.). Kök Yayıncılık.
- Kurt, O. & Tekin-İftar, E. (2008). A comparison of constant time delay and simultaneous prompting within embedded instruction on teaching leisure skills to children with autism. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 28(1), 53-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121408316046</u>
- Losardo, A., & Bricker, D. (1994). Activity-based intervention and direct instruction: A comparison study. *American Journal on Mental Retardation*, 98(6), 744-765. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121408316046</u>
- Macy, M. (2007). Theory and theory-driven practices of activity based intervention. *Journal of Early and Intensive Behaviour Intervention* 4(3), 561-585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0100392</u>
- Macy, M. G., & Bricker, D. D. (2007). Embedding individualized social goals into routine activities in inclusive early childhood classrooms. *Early Child Development and Care*, 177(2), 107-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430500337265</u>
- MoNE. (2013). Okul öncesi eğitim programı. https://mufredat.meb.gov.tr/Dosyalar/20195712275243-okuloncesi egitimprogrami.pdf
- MoNE.
 (2018).
 Özel
 eğitim
 hizmetleri
 yönetmeliği.

 https://orgm.meb.gov.tr/meb
 iys
 dosyalar/2018
 07/09101900
 ozel
 egitim
 hizmetleri
 yönetmeliği
 07072018.pdf
- NAC. (2015). Findings and conclusions: National standards project, Phase 2: Addressing the need for evidence-based practice guidelines for autism spectrum disorder. <u>https://nationalautismcenter.org/national-standards/phase-2-2015/</u>
- NAEYC. (2013). Professional preparation standards self review instrument. <u>https://www.naeyc.org/sites/default/files/globally-shared/downloads/PDFs/our-work/higher-ed/NAEYC-Prof-Prep-Standards-Self-Review-Instrument.pdf</u>
- Noonan, M. J., & McCormick, L. (2006). Young children with disabilities in natural environments: Methods and procedures. Paul H. Brookes Publishing.
- Notari-Syverson, A., & Schuster, S. (1995). Putting real-life skills into IEP/IFSPs for infants and young children. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 27(2), 29-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/004005999502700207</u>
- NPDCI
 (2009).
 Research
 synthesis
 points
 quality
 inclusive
 practices.

 https://npdci.fpg.unc.edu/sites/npdci.fpg.unc.edu/files/resources/NPDCI-ResearchSynthesisPointsInclusivePractices-2011_0.pdf
- Odluyurt, S. (2011). The effects of constant time delay embedded into teaching activities for teaching the names of clothes for preschool children with developmental disabilities. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri,* 11(3), 1457-1460.
- Odluyurt, S., & Batu E. S. (2010). Gelişimsel yetersizlik gösteren çocuklara kaynaştırmaya hazırlık becerilerinin öğretimi. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eğitim Bilimleri*, 10(3), 1533-1572.
- Odom, S. L. (2000). Preschool inclusion: What we know and where we go from here. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 20(1), 20-27. https://doi.org/10.1177/027112140002000104
- Oğuzkan, Ş. & Oral, G. (1997). Okul öncesi eğitimi. Milli Eğitim Basımevi.
- Oktay, A. (2002). Yaşamın sihirli yılları. (3rd ed.). Epsilon Yayıncılık.
- Özdemir, H., & Ahmetoğlu, E. (2012). Okul öncesi öğretmenlerinin yaşları ve mesleki deneyimleri açısından kaynaştırma uygulamalarına ilişkin görüşlerinin incelenmesi. *Journal of Educational and Intructional Studies in the World*, 2(1), 68-74.
- Özen, A., Ergenekon, Y., Kürkçüoğlu Ülke, B & Genç, D. (2013). Kaynaştırma öğrencisi olan okul öncesi öğretmenlerinin sınıflarında yaptıkları öğretim uygulamalarının belirlenmesi. Anadolu Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 13(2), 153-166.
- Pretti-Frontczak, K., & Bricker, D. (2001). Use of the embedding strategy during daily activities by early childhood education and early childhood special education teachers. *Infant-Toddler Intervention: The Transdisciplinary Journal*, 11(2), 111-28.
- Pretti-Frontczak, K., & Bricker, D. (2007). An activity- based approach to early intervention (3rd ed.). Paul H. Brookes Publishing.

The naturalistic teaching process as an inclusive practice: Preschool...

- Seçer, Z. (2010). An analysis of the effects of in-service teacher training on Turkish preschool teachers' attitudes towards inclusion. International Journal of Early Years Education, 18(1), 43-53. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669761003693959
- Sığırtmaç, A. D., Hoş, G., & Abbak, B. S. (2011). Okul öncesi öğretmenlerinin kaynaştırma eğitiminde yaşanan sorunlara yönelik kullandıkları çözüm yolları ve önerileri. *Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Kırşehir Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, 12(4), 205-223.
- Snyder, P. A., Rakap, S., Hemmeter, M. L., McLaughlin, T. W., Sandall, S., & McLean, M. E. (2015). Naturalistic instructional approaches in early learning a systematic review. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 37(1), 69-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815115595461</u>
- Sucuoğlu, B. (2004). Türkiye'de kaynaştırma uygulamaları: Yayınlar/araştırmalar. Ankara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Fakültesi Özel Eğitim Dergisi, 5(2), 15-23.
- Sucuoğlu, B. N., Bakkaloğlu, H., Akalın, S., Demir, Ş., & İşcen-Karasu, F. (2015). The effects of the preschool inclusion program on teacher outcomes in Turkey. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, 36(4), 324-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10901027.2015.1105328</u>
- Sucuoğlu, B., Bakkaloğlu, H., İşcen-Karasu, F., Demir, Ş. & Akalın, S. (2014). Preschool teachers' knowledge about inclusion. Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice, 14(4), 1477-1483. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12738/estp.2014.4.2078</u>
- Sucuoğlu, B.; Bakkaloğlu, H.; İşcen-Karasu, F., Demir, Ş. and Akalın, S. (2013). Inclusive preschool teachers: Their attitudes and knowledge about inclusion. International Journal of Early Childhood Education. 5(2), 107-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.20489/intjecse.107929</u>
- Tekin-İftar, E. (2008). Erken çocukluk özel eğitiminde çağdaş. In S. Eripek (Ed.), Özel eğitim. Anadolu Üniversitesi Açıköğretim Fakültesi Yayınları.
- Toelken, S., & Miltenberger, R. G. (2012). Increasing independence among children diagnosed with autism using a brief embedded teaching strategy. *Behavioral Interventions*, 27(2), 93-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bin.337</u>
- Toğram, B. (2004). Doğal dil öğretim tekniklerinden tepki isteme modelinin öğretilmesinin etkililiği. [Unpublished master's thesis]. Anadolu University.
- Tufan, M., & Yıldırım, Y. (2013). Okul öncesi öğretmenlerinin erken müdahale ve kaynaştırma kavramları hakkındaki bilgi düzeylerinin ve özel gereksinimli çocuklar için yaptıkları öğretimsel uyarlamaların incelenmesi. *Cumhuriyet International Journal of Education*, 2(4), 1-13.
- VanDerHeyden, A. M., Snyder, P., Smith, A., Sevin, B., & Longwell, J. (2005). Effects of complete learning trials on child engagement. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 25(2), 81-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02711214050250020501</u>
- Wolery, M., & Hemmeter, M. L. (2011). Classroom instruction background, assumptions, and challenges. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 33(4), 371-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815111429119</u>
- Yoder, P. J., & Warren, S. F. (2001). Relative treatment effects of two prelinguistic communication interventions on language development in toddlers with developmental delays varied by maternal characteristics. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 44(1), 224–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2001/019)</u>

Enhancing playful interactions: eCoaching mothers of preschool children with disabilities

Amanda H. Passmore¹, Marie Tejero Hughes²

Abstract: Pretend play is crucial for developing communication and cognitive skills in preschool children. Targeted coaching during pretend play can effectively support familycentered practices and home-based assistance. This study employed a detailed collective case study to explore how eCoaching can aid family-centered practices during at-home pretend play for children with speech-language and developmental delays. Two motherchild pairs, each involving a preschool child with an Individual Education Plan (IEP), participated in at-home eCoaching sessions while engaging in pretend play. Implementing eCoaching helped mothers acquire play-based knowledge and better facilitate pretend play tailored to their child's developmental needs. Throughout the eCoaching process, improvements were noted in the children's quality of pretend play and language behaviors. After the eCoaching sessions concluded, both mothers and children experienced benefits from the process. The mothers had positive perceptions of their eCoaching sessions, found them easy to implement, and considered eCoaching beneficial for themselves and their children. This indicates that eCoaching is a socially valid family-centered practice. Future research should investigate how individual variables associated with the eCoaching influence child and family outcomes.

Introduction

Theoretical Foundations and Play-based Learning

The centering of play-based learning is integral to early childhood educational practices, especially since play mediates cognitive, social, and language development (Bergen, 2002). Theorists have identified pretend play as an influential mediator of various developmental areas in young children (e.g., Vygotsky, 1978). Vygotsky highlights pretend play opportunities as crucial for developing young children's learning as they apply real-life ideas to non-literal contexts. Non-literal play behaviors that define pretend play can differ across materials and behaviors (Barton, 2016). Non-literal pretend play behaviors comprise play involving symbolism, persistence through imagination, and role-play scenarios, which require adherence to social rules (Loizou, 2017). The adherence to rules and utilizing internal representations during pretend play episodes are associated with self-regulation development (Savina, 2014). Non-literal ideas through shared materials also reveal opportunities for communication skills when others are involved in pretend play interactions. According to the Vygotskian perspective of play, when children assume roles during pretend play or use object substitutions for materials, they employ behaviors that increase their understanding of expression regulation and social norms (Elias & Berk, 2002; White et al., 2021).

Outlining the complexity of pretend play, Barton and Wolery (2008) categorize it into four types: 1) functional play with pretense, 2) sequencing, 3) substitution, and 4) confirmatory verbalizations. The substitution category includes specific actions such as object substitution (OS), imagining absent objects (IAO), and assigning absent attributes (AAA) (See Table 1). In social pretend play, non-literal ideas and materials necessitate communication skills for effective interaction with others. This type of play involves two or more individuals' verbal or non-verbal acknowledgment of roles or object substitutions and the joint

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the <u>CC BY- NC- ND</u> license.

Article History Received: 17 May 2024 Accepted: 29 September 2024

Keywords

Coaching; Pretend play; Disability; Developmental delay; Early childhood

¹ Elmhurst College, School of Education, Elmhurst, USA, e-mail: <u>amanda.passmore@elmhurst.edu</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3921-4706</u>

² University of Illinois at Chicago, College of Education, Chicago, USA, e-mail: <u>marieth@uic.edu</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2029-9500</u>

Amanda H. PASSMORE & Marie TEJERO HUGHES

planning of complex scenarios (Thompson & Goldstein, 2019). When children play pretend with peers, they share ideas and non-literal thinking to create a shared experience, such as assuming roles and determining the sequence of events. The research underscores the role of pretend play in promoting various skills. It aids language and communication development (Kızıldere et al., 2020), vocabulary acquisition (Hutagalung et al., 2020), and also emergent literacy (Nicolopoulou et al., 2015). Additionally, pretend play supports the development of communication skills, routine conversations, and oral vocabulary (Taylor & Boyer, 2020). Thus, pretend play is a valuable avenue for children's learning due to its complex nature.

Category of Pretend Play	Definition	Example from Study
Functional Play with Pretense	Utilizing objects in a way that mimics their actual use or suggests a realistic outcome.	Eric used a pretend cookie to serve to his mom when playing restaurant. Oliver used an old keyboard to act out an office play scenario.
Object Substitution (OS)	Using an object in a different way than it may have been intended.	Oliver used blocks as a "fence" when playing zoo.
Imagining Absent Objects (IOA)	Acting in a way that implies the intended object is present when it is not.	Eric held out his hand to receive "money" from his mother ordering food at his "restaurant."
Assigning Absent Attributes (AAA)	Assigning emotions or roles to oneself, inanimate objects, or others within play scenarios.	Oliver assigned roles to himself as an "office worker" and his mother as the "visitor."
Sequences	A series of two or more functional actions of play with pretense or substitution behaviors that follow a consistent theme, story, or routine.	Oliver led a tour of his "office building" using figurines. Eric worked with his mom to save a "city" using superhero figurines.
Confirmatory Verbalizations	Language used during play to communicate what is being acted out (e.g., roles, emotions, planning ideas)	Eric told his mother his action figure was "shooting out lightning."
Vocabulary	Use of term that is associated with what is being acted out.	Oliver used the terms "patient" and "doctor" when engaging in a hospital scene.

Table 1. Pretend play taxonomy

Note. Categories and definitions adapted from Barton and Wolery (2008).

According to Vygotsky (1978), within the social and internal planes, the avenue to higher mental functioning planes is deemed the "zone of proximal development" (ZPD). Within the ZPD, young children's skills can be represented in what can be performed independently and with help. When help is provided, children can increase their functioning and build competence. Within Vygotsky's framework, children's caregivers are seen as more knowledgeable and instruments in steering, making connections, and challenging the child's learning. Knowing when and how to support a young child during play requires a combination of observation and purposeful support within their ZPD.

Adult-child play interactions can be understood through the integrated, responsive play intervention model (Trawick-Smith & Dziurgot, 2010). This model seeks to balance a child's independent, self-directed play with adult engagement to promote development and learning tailored to the child's needs. In this approach, an adult observes a child's play behaviors and decides on an appropriate response based on the behaviors observed (e.g., engagement, enrichment, technical support). An interaction is considered a "good fit" when the child accepts the adult's support as meeting a need or improving their play behavior. Effective adult involvement in a child's play includes suggesting ways to expand play themes, resolve conflicts, introduce new vocabulary, and encourage cooperation (Bodrova & Leong, 2007). Conversely, a "poor fit" occurs when the adult's response does not align with the child's needs or is rejected by the child. The next step involves the adult observing the child to determine the type of support (e.g., attention, knowledge) or enhancement (e.g., vocabulary) that may benefit them.

Literature of Play and Children with Disabilities

Research has consistently demonstrated that play is a critical avenue for supporting the

Enhancing playful interactions: eCoaching mothers...

developmental competencies of children with developmental disabilities, such as communication and joint attention. Various interventions, including least-to-most prompting, have shown mild to moderate progress in object substitutions (Lee et al., 2020) and appropriate functional play (Pullum et al., 2020). Adult modeling has been identified as a way to enhance young children's manipulation of items or functional play (Gmitrova, 2013; Kalkusch et al., 2021) and imitation (Ingersoll & Schreibman, 2006). Additionally, researchers have noted that caregivers who follow a child's lead using the least invasive prompt procedure and incorporate developmentally appropriate activities during play at home can enhance the child's ability to generalize skills within age-appropriate activities (Lifter et al., 2005, Quigley et al., 2018). These interventions illustrate that pretend play skills can be intentionally supported, thereby giving children with disabilities better access to the developmental benefits of play.

The effectiveness of these play-based interventions is further amplified when delivered through a family-centered approach. Studies have demonstrated that caregivers can be guided to implement playbased interventions through coaching (e.g., Miller-Kuhaneck & Watling, 2018). Research indicates that when caregivers actively participate in their child's daily routines, such as play, children exhibit improved outcomes in early childhood learning domains (Mahoney, 2009). Caregiver involvement in early learning experiences promotes play at home, aligning with family-centered practices by incorporating individual family values and interests within a sociocultural play environment.

Family-centered partnerships are fundamental to early childhood education, especially for students with disabilities. In the United States (US), the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA, 2004) recognizes caregivers as essential in supporting children with disabilities. Professional organizations, such as the Council for Exceptional Children's Division for Early Childhood (DEC), emphasize practices that are "family-centered" in their recommended guidelines for early childhood special education providers (DEC, 2014). Various terms (e.g., family-friendly, family-oriented, family-centered care, child-centered) have been used in the context of early childhood education. In the US, the early childhood special education field frequently utilizes the term "family-centered." For the duration of the paper, the term "family-centered" will refer to practices and partnerships that position individual family values and priorities while supporting their child's outcomes. These practices promote building self-efficacy in families supporting children with disabilities (Ogourtsova et al., 2019).

Family-centered practices involve recognizing the child's needs, learning opportunities, interests, and desired activities while enhancing the caregiver's skills to enhance their support and boost self-efficacy (Frugone-Jaramillo & Gràcia, 2023; Knoche et al., 2012). Family collaboration at this level involves participants as co-equals engaged in shared decision-making toward a common goal (Friend & Cook, 1990; McWilliam, 2010; Friend & Cook, 1990). The objective of a family-centered framework of collaboration for early childhood is to offer caregivers chances to affirm their skills and boost their confidence in identifying appropriate learning outcomes within everyday activities, recognizing their child's developmental interests and needs, and developing their abilities and skills to support the child's growth while aligning with the values of the family (Knoche et al., 2012).

One way educators have embraced family-centered practices is through collaboration via coaching. Coaching caregivers utilize various adult learning strategies to improve their capacity to support their child's development while engaging in everyday routines, activities, and situations (Rush & Shelden, 2020). This systematic process, built on a collaborative relationship between coach and caregiver, involves (a) setting goals, (b) promoting self-directed learning, (c) creating strategies designed to achieve the established goals, and (d) fostering personal growth (Rush & Shelden, 2020). Consequently, family-centered interventions have shown increased implementation fidelity (Kemp & Turnbull, 2014), improvements in child performance (Miller-Kuhaneck & Watling, 2018), increased self-efficacy, and decreased caregiver stress (Ogourtsova et al., 2019).

The involvement of families in the education of young children with disabilities aligns with the sociocultural theory of development, which underscores the influence of the cultural environment on cognitive and social development (Göncü & Gauvain, 2012; Rogoff & Angelillo, 2002). Underscoring this

Amanda H. PASSMORE & Marie TEJERO HUGHES

perspective is the culture and context in which learning and development operate (Rogoff, 2023). Three key elements are related to the sociocultural perspective on pretend play (Göncü & Vandeboncoeur, 2017). First, cultural values, either implicitly or explicitly set, dictate who participates in play and when and how they do so. Second, child development and learning are mediated by the culturally specific ways children engage in pretend play, shaped by the norms and expectations of their cultural background. Lastly, meaning is constructed in relation to others, such as caregivers and siblings, influencing the interpretations made during pretend play. Incorporating families and their sociocultural environments into play-based learning is crucial, as these factors shape the beliefs, interests, and perceptions of play among caregivers and children. Cultural values not only define play (Rentzou et al., 2019) but also determine its significance in the development of young children (Roopnarine & Davidson, 2015). Therefore, the expression of play behavior, particularly the enactment of roles and scenarios in pretend play, is deeply rooted in the family environments where children live.

Facilitation by families can address play discrepancies and promote specific developmental areas while considering a sociocultural perspective. With the increase of virtual learning starting in 2020 because of the pandemic, virtual coaching models are becoming increasingly viable for family-centered practices (Gomez et al., 2022). Studies have demonstrated positive outcomes for both caregivers and children through virtual coaching (Aguilar et al., 2023). Additionally, caregivers have reported high satisfaction and positive results from participating in coaching sessions, whether virtual or on-site (McDuffie et al., 2016). During the shift to remote services, families found that they could build better relationships with providers, and services became more individualized to meet their child's needs (Steed et al., 2022). Virtual family support has shown increased benefits, especially for families facing transportation obstacles (Keder et al., 2022; Steed et al., 2022). As a result, virtual coaching models enhance developmental outcomes and provide flexible and accessible support for families.

Present Study and the Use of Virtual Coaching

Engagement in pretend play is particularly important for preschool children (ages 3-5) as they tend to gravitate toward higher levels of imaginative play during these years (Singer & Singer, 1990). This study investigates a virtual coaching model, eCoaching, as a family-centered intervention for preschool children with disabilities, utilizing pretend play as a key component. The increased accessibility of technology and the shift to remote service delivery have led to a rise in the use of virtual coaching models. This study aimed to use eCoaching to support mothers of children with disabilities to facilitate learning through pretend play at home. Coaching activities included observation, reflection, and feedback (Fixsen et al., 2005). In addition, adult learning principles were also incorporated (i.e., Trivette et al., 2009). All sessions used a virtual coaching model that relied on video conferencing and email. This study aimed to address the following research questions as related to mothers' preschool-aged children with identified disabilities:

- 1) How does eCoaching impact mothers' understanding of how their children learn through pretend play?
- 2) How does eCoaching assist mothers in facilitating their children's learning through pretend play?
- 3) Do the characteristics and quality of pretend play behaviors in children change when their mothers receive eCoaching?
- 4) Do mothers perceive eCoaching as a socially valid family-centered practice?

Method

The study utilized a collective case study design, focusing on two mother-child pairs (Creswell & Poth, 2018) in a large US city and underwent an Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval. All participants provided consent before the start of eCoaching, and all data collected was confidential, with no identifying information stored after the data was analyzed. Operating in everyday contexts and settings, case studies examine several sources of information to provide in-depth descriptions of cases at an individual and collective level (Yin, 2017). As eCoaching relies on replicated procedures within coaching, it is an ideal

intervention for a collective case study design. The two mother-child pairs also demonstrated overlapping characteristics, making them suitable for a collective analysis. Further, as a newer medium of support, utilizing a case study design allowed for a detailed exploration of pretend play-based eCoaching through in-depth descriptions.

Recognizing the positionality and reflexivity of researchers is crucial in qualitative research (Trainor & Graue, 2014). The first author is a White female with seven years of experience teaching special education and five years as an instructional coach in US public schools. The second author is a foreign-born Hispanic female with four years of teaching experience in early childhood and elementary classrooms, and she has directed an early childhood special education teacher preparation program in the US. Both authors have extensive experience working with diverse families. We acknowledge that our backgrounds and experiences have influenced our perspectives during data analysis, shaped by our various roles in the US education system. Our frames of reference underwent critical analysis during data collection and interpretation (Merriam, 2009). By sharing our positionality and reflexive practices, we enable readers to assess any potential bias that may have impacted the investigation.

Study Participants

Two caregiver-child pairs consented to participate after being recruited via emails shared with early childhood professional organizations in the US. The mother-child pairs lived with their partners in a large midwestern city in the US. Caregiver-child pairs were eligible to participate if their child (1) was between 3 and 5 years of age and not eligible for enrollment in kindergarten, (2) had a current Individual Education Plan (IEP) for a disability identified through an IDEA assessment process, and (3) spoke English as their primary home language. In addition, caregivers needed access to the internet and technology with video conferencing. The first two pairs, who expressed interest in participation, met eligibility criteria, and completed their consent to participate, were included in the study.

Both participating caregivers were mothers and former educators with advanced degrees. Allison and Lisa were stay-at-home mothers of two sons, Eric and Oliver (4.5 years); see Table 2. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, both children who had IEPs for speech-language delay (SLD) received speech services remotely. Allison's son Eric was also identified as having a developmental delay (DD). Eric qualified for public preschool services, but his mother elected to homeschool him temporarily due to concerns related to the pandemic. Lisa's son Oliver was attending a half-day private preschool in addition to his virtual speech services. Both mother-child pairs were families of four: a father, a mother, and two sons. Eric was the oldest sibling, whereas Oliver was the youngest in his household. A single coach (lead author) was used across pairs during the eCoaching model to control potential provider-related influences. The coach had five years of experience as an instructional coach, a master's in special education, and six years as an early childhood special education instructor.

Mother and Child			Mother			Child			
	Ethnicity	Gender	Highest Degree	Background	Ethnicity	Gender	Age	Disability	
Lisa and Oliver	White	F	Masters	Previous teacher; stay-at- home mother	White	М	4.5	SLD	
Allison and Eric	White	F	Masters	Previous teacher; stay-at- home mother	White	М	4.5	DD SLD	

Table 2. Mother-child pair demographics

Note. DD = developmental delay; SLD = speech-language delay; M = male; Names provided are pseudonyms.

eCoaching Procedures

The eCoaching intervention occurred through Zoom[™] video conferencing, phone conversations, and email (Passmore & Hughes, 2024). The eCoaching began with a phone pre-interview with each mother

conducted by the coach to gather information on their background, child's play preferences, play behaviors, and mother's knowledge of pretend play characteristics. Following the interview, six eCoaching cycles occurred virtually in the mother's homes, where the coach engaged in observation and debriefing via Zoom[™] video conferencing (see Figure 1). An eCoaching cycle consisted of a 10-minute virtual observation, debrief featuring goal setting, recap email, and a minimum of five days for mothers to support the implementation of set goals. The observation period was set at 10 minutes, allowing sufficient time to collect data for the subsequent debrief conversation. Sessions included only the play materials typically used by the family. These materials included blocks, action figures, animal figurines, a wooden train set, and pretend food for the two children.

A debrief conversation immediately followed each observation. During the debrief conversation, the coach and mother discussed their shared observations, developmental goals, and the intervention(s) used to address those goals. Allison desired to increase Eric's use of language and vocabulary during pretend play and identified modeling and prompting as avenues for facilitating these behaviors. Lisa also selected prompting strategies to enhance her son's use of complex play (e.g., AAA, OS) while incorporating emerging academic skills (e.g., writing, letter identification). Debrief conversations followed procedures outlined by Knight and colleagues (2015), with additional time spent building relationships and trust with mothers (see Figure 2). The debrief focused on conversations around shared observations to promote goal setting, where the coach facilitated Allison and Lisa's self-efficacy through questioning and discussion. An outside researcher with experience in coaching conducted fidelity checks on 25% of debriefs, resulting in 98% fidelity to ensure protocol adherence. After each virtual debrief, the mother received a summary email outlining the discussed goals and information for the next coach-caregiver cycle. Alongside the six eCoaching cycles, the mothers collected home video samples of their children's independent play, consisting of five 10-minute videos taken at pre-, mid-, and post-intervention stages. These videos were shared with the coach via a secure online system to provide additional data for the debrief conversations. Upon completing the six eCoaching sessions, an interviewer who had not previously interacted with the families conducted a final phone interview. This interview aimed to gather the mothers' understanding of pretend play, their facilitation of learning through pretend play, and their perspectives on the social validity of the eCoaching model.



Figure 1. eCoaching Procedure

Enhancing playful interactions: eCoaching mothers...

1 Relationship Building	2 Identify Area of Focus	3 Lerning Around the Area of Focus	4 Identify Goals and Next Steps
 Coach and caregiver take time to connect on a personal level. Coach may interact with the caregiver by asking How is your day going? Did you do anything fun this weekend? What are your plans for the upcoming holiday? <i>Note:</i> Relationship building can also take place at the beginning of the eCoaching cycle before the play observation occurs. 	 Coach ask questions to the caregiver related to observed play session or other interactions from the previous week. The coach and caregiver discuss specific behaviors observed. Coach connects caregiver interactions to child behaviors. Coach and caregiver Identify an area of focus related to play facilitation and/or the child's behaviors. Select a strategy connected to area of focus. 	 Coach and caregiver actively engage in learning (e.g., model, direct instruction, brainstorming). The coach connects the new learning to previous debriefs and the area of focus. Coach clarifies and checks for the caregivers' understanding of the new learning (e.g., question, probe, role play). Coach connects new learning to caregiver and child's needs and strengths. 	 The coach uses probes and questions to encourage the mother to develop a goal based on discussion of focus. Coach and caregiver collaboratively set goal related to the focus. The goal should be Impactful to child needs, Attainable in given time, Child focused, and Connects data to strategy. A date and time are set for the next eCoaching cycle.

Figure 2. eCoaching debrief procedures

The eCoaching intervention occurred over 35 days for Allison and 39 days for Lisa. Enrollment included the time needed to conduct a pre- and post-interview. Each mother preferred to meet weekly, with some discrepancies for weeks that overlapped holidays. On average, debrief conversations lasted 22 minutes (range 14-36 minutes). To accommodate the mothers' convenience, virtual observations and debriefs were arranged at times and dates that fit their schedules.

Data Collection

Interviews and eCoaching Logs

Pre- and post-interviews, focusing on family dynamics, the child's play characteristics at home, and perceptions of pretend play and coaching, were conducted as semi-structured phone interviews (Allison: 55 min, Lisa: 60 min). These questions aimed to understand the mothers' perspectives on developmental benefits, play characteristics, and personal facilitation styles when engaging with their children during play. The post-interviews (Allison: 27 min, Lisa: 34 min) included questions adapted from Allen and Nimon's (2007) professional development evaluation survey and Johnson et al.'s (2016) Coach-Teacher Alliance measures, using a 5-point Likert scale format to assess the social validity of eCoaching as an intervention (see item of focus in Table 3). Both tools have been validated as reliable measures for evaluating professional learning. Interview data was audio-recorded, transcribed, and member-checked to ensure accuracy. To avoid potential bias, a researcher not involved in the eCoaching cycle implementation conducted the post-interviews, while all eCoaching debrief conversations were video and audio recorded. After each debrief, key points such as goals, shared resources, and next steps in facilitation strategies were summarized in an eCoaching log spreadsheet to gather quantitative code values and synthesize the progression of eCoaching.

Table 3. Mothers' self-assessment Likert scale ratings following	eCoaching
--	-----------

Dyads and Categories	Lisa	Allison		
Content	4.7	5		
The coach covered the topics in sufficient detail.	4	5		
My understanding of the facilitation of pretend play with my child PRIOR to eCoaching.	4	4		
My understanding of the facilitation of pretend play with my child AFTER to eCoaching.	5	5		
My ability to apply concepts to an actual problem or situation in the area of pretend play facilitation with	4	3		
my				
child PRIOR to eCoaching.				
My ability to apply concepts to an actual problem or situation in the area of pretend play facilitation with	5	5		
my				
child AFTER to eCoaching.				
Working Relationship	5	5		
The coach and I trust one another.				
The coach was approachable.				
The coach showed a sincere desire to understand my family and support my child.	5	5		
Dyads and Categories	Lisa	Allison		
eCoaching Process	5	5		
The provided support that matched the needs of my family.	5	5		
The coach provided me with practical and useful feedback and strategies.	5	5		
Investment	5	4.5		
The time spent working with the coach was effective and productive.	5	5		
I would recommend eCoaching to another caregiver.	5	4		
Benefits of eCoaching	4.5	5		
My child benefited from my work with the coach.	4	5		
The coach had a positive impact on my child's play behaviors.	5	5		

Note. Items adapted from the professional development evaluation survey (Allen and Nimon, 2007) and Coach-Teacher Alliance measures (Johnson et al., 2016); 1 = very poor; 2 = poor, 3 = acceptable; 4 = good; 5 = excellent

Play Observations

Observation data was collected in two main ways. Firstly, through mother-child interactions during their play sessions. These interactions, focusing on play facilitation, were observed during 10-minute sessions conducted over Zoom[™] as part of the eCoaching procedures (n = 6). The play observations served two purposes: informing the eCoaching debrief conversations and documenting the mother's play facilitation over time using an adapted version of the integrated, responsive model of play intervention (Trawick-Smith & Dziurgot, 2010). Interactions between mother and child were coded as 'good-fit' or 'poorfit' based on the child's response, with subcategory coding for antecedent and consequence behaviors (i.e., child need, child response, adult behavior).

Secondly, children's play behaviors were observed independently five times for each child. Mothers were asked to collect naturally occurring home videos at pre-, mid-, and post-intervention stages during the eCoaching sessions. Also, to help control for potential bias in the mothers' selection of a video, two additional instances of a child's play behavior were taken from the mother-child interaction videos during eCoaching after the pre- and post-mother-provided videos. At least a week occurred between each child's play observations. These play observations were coded using a 10-second interval recording with an adapted version of the Play Observation Scale (POS-A) (Rubin, 2001) and using pretend play taxonomy (Barton & Wolery, 2008). This tool assessed cognitive play (i.e., functional, exploratory, construction, pretend, and games-with-rules) and social play (i.e., solitary, parallel, group). When pretend play was observed, secondary codes aligned with the pretend play taxonomy behaviors (Barton & Wolery, 2008).

Coding of facilitated play interactions and the POS-A incorporated interrater agreement (IOA) for 33% of observations across mother-child pairs. Two doctoral students with experience as early child educators and researchers were utilized for each observation tool. The training was carried out using videos of caregiver-child pairs who were not part of the study, with maintenance training conducted midway through data collection. IOA reached 96% for facilitated play interactions, with 97% agreement for additional subcategories. An overall agreement of 92% was achieved on the POS-A data across all

categories represented in the POS-A.

Data Analysis

The data was first prepared and analyzed individually for each mother-child pair before a collective analysis was conducted across pairs. Throughout the eCoaching process, researchers engaged in ongoing data analysis, utilizing field notes and memoing to identify initial trends. Individual case information was thoroughly read, viewed, and examined to understand the details specific to each mother-child pair (Creswell, 2009). The analysis involved qualitative, descriptive, and visual examination of each pair across all instruments. Following the individual analyses, a cross-case analysis was performed. This analysis applied pattern matching to account for all collected evidence and support plausible internal validity explanations (Yin, 2017). The data analysis followed an ongoing, interrelated, and simultaneous process that included 1) organizing and managing data, 2) reading the data and memoing emergent ideas, and 3) describing and classifying codes into themes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Sub-category codes (e.g., "mom connects to child's interest," "mother connects to taxonomy") were consolidated into major themes (e.g., "connections"). These themes were organized into a codebook with definitions and examples. Frequency and duration data were extracted from the qualitative data to quantify these themes. Finally, the fidelity of the eCoaching procedure and each research question were matched across the mother-child pairs, aligning with the theory that eCoaching would positively impact these variables.

Findings

Research Question 1: Mothers' Acquisition of Knowledge

During their pre-interviews, Lisa and Allison identified the sources they relied on to develop their parenting knowledge. Allison preferred social media accounts, while Lisa leaned towards parenting books or professional development provided by her son's preschool. Both mothers also mentioned reaching out to peers with similarly aged children. During eCoaching, a key strategy for constructing new learning about play was the mothers' ability to connect their background knowledge and experiences with their children. These instances were coded as "connections" during debriefing conversations for both Lisa (n = 22) and Allison (n = 13). For instance, Lisa related the "integrated, responsive model of play intervention" (Trawick-Smith & Dziurgot, 2010) to leading discussions in her work as a high school teacher. Allison referenced Vygotsky's "zone of proximal development" (Vygotsky, 1978) when discussing prompting strategies. "Connections" were also made to previous play observations. For example, when discussing the role of assigning absent attributes in pretend play, Lisa linked the concept to a game her son Oliver enjoyed playing, "dog catcher," where children alternated parts.

During eCoaching, Allison and Lisa increased their participation in debriefs by contributing to play observations made inside (n = 52; Allison = 24, Lisa = 27) and outside (n = 18; Allison = 8, Lisa = 10) eCoaching sessions. These contributions were coded as "sharing" and demonstrated their efficacy in leading conversations and engaging in responsive problem-solving. "Sharing" is a crucial element of eCoaching and relates to the establishment of eCoaching goals for routine implementation (Knight et al., 2015). Additionally, "sharing" helps Allison and Lisa boost their self-efficacy in supporting their sons' developmental needs through play. For instance, while observing the pretend play behavior of assigning absent attributes (AAA) of emotion, Allison identified how Eric would "kind of… do the emotions. Like 'errr!', but not necessarily saying I am mad." This discussion led to a goal of prompting more specific language with Eric during these play scenarios.

Mothers collaborated on setting goals by making suggestions about their family routines and their child's preferences. This collaboration occurred in the first session for Lisa and session two for Allison. Allison also showed an ability to generalize goals for her son to other behaviors or types of play (e.g., games-with-rules). Lisa noted her son's affinity for seeing his dad work from home and provided "office materials" Oliver could use to pretend play "office." Similarly, Allison adapted the idea of play planning (Craig-Unkefer & Kaiser, 2002) to meet the needs of her family by prompting a play plan conversation on the walk home from the park. The intention behind Allison's facilitation of play planning was to promote

Amanda H. PASSMORE & Marie TEJERO HUGHES

advanced pretend play verbalizations and sequencing in her son, Eric. In the final session, both mothers outlined specific goals related to pretend play that they planned to use beyond the six eCoaching sessions.

Following eCoaching, Allison and Lisa deepened their understanding of the developmental benefits of pretend play for their children. This enhanced understanding was directly linked to the individual goals set for each mother-child pair. Allison noted that moving beyond fighting behaviors in play provided more language opportunities for Eric. Lisa explored how Oliver's natural interest in pretend play could be integrated with academic activities, such as writing and language. Both mothers also emphasized pretend play's role in supporting expressive communication and vocabulary development, aspects they had not mentioned in their pre-interview.

Research Question 2: Mothers' Role in Facilitating Pretend Play

The mothers efficiently resolved conflicts and enriched play scenarios through increased 'good-fit' interactions while engaging in pretend play with their children. Allison and Lisa maintained a high percentage of 'good-fit' interactions during eCoaching, potentially due to their educational backgrounds. Both mothers, however, increased their ratio of enrichment opportunities through interactions coded as opportunities to enhance pretend play. Most of these enrichments aligned to language and vocabulary when playing with their sons. For example, Lisa was able to offer suggestions for explorations of writing with Oliver through (a) making a map for a pretend zoo, (b) making signage for a hotel, and (c) making business cards to use when playing office. By contrast, Allison aimed to support Eric's use of expressive communication by expanding his pretend play scenarios and language opportunities via a version of play planning (Craig-Unkefer & Kaiser, 2002). She also spent time observing Eric's natural inclinations, providing scaffolding via questions or modeling (e.g., "Baby, where are you going?"; "We have to save the city"). Regarding language, the most common form of indirect support involved encouraging Eric to elaborate on words such as "there," "here," and "this." For instance, Allison encouraged Eric to use specific vocabulary while building a structure by asking, "What are you putting there?" Eric answered with the word "roof." This prompt enabled Eric to practice descriptive language in identifying object substitution (OS) instances. Both mothers discovered that these opportunities allowed them to scaffold learning while leveraging their children's intrinsic interests in pretend play.

Allison and Lisa recognized the importance of taking a more intentional role in their child's play as a significant area of personal growth following eCoaching. In pre-interviews, both mothers described adopting a bystander role during their children's play because they needed to "multi-task" (e.g., cleaning, making dinner, taking care of a sibling). Although the need to "multi-task" was still expressed in postinterviews, both mothers wanted to be more "intentional" while their sons played. Regarding language goals, Allison intended to be "more intentional with what I am trying to get out of him during play." Similarly, Lisa wished to "seamlessly jump in and add an element" to enhance her son's play. These reflections demonstrate Allison and Lisa's ability to move beyond being passive observers, finding ways to intentionally support learning through pretend play in a manner that fits into their family's daily routines.

Research Question 3: Children's Pretend Play Behaviors

Eric and Oliver preferred using blocks and figures during pretend play. Oliver also incorporated more scenario-based roles, such as soldier and office worker. Throughout eCoaching, both children showed increased behaviors related to the pretend play taxonomy (Barton & Wolery, 2008), as detailed in Table 4. The table shows instances when the mother was actively engaging or invited to participate on the outskirts of the play. The children demonstrated the most significant increase in their ability to assign absent attributes (AAA), with Eric initially showing no AAA behaviors before eCoaching. Oliver's AAA interval behaviors increased dramatically from a low of 5% to a high of 72%. Moderate increases were observed in pretend play sequencing behaviors, with Eric showing the most substantial growth. There were variable changes in the use of verbalizations. Eric's verbalizations were more pronounced when his mother was present, although his growth in this area was less evident than Oliver's over time. Both mothers noted that their child's vocabulary increased during pretend play due to eCoaching. Across participants, no notable changes were seen in imagining absent objects (IAO) or object substitution (OS). The ability to observe IAO

and OS behaviors could be limited due to their tendency to occur primarily in the child's imagination. Additionally, OS was observed more frequently (accounting for 100%) when building materials were included in the child's pretend play.

Table 4. Child play behaviors on the play observation scale (POS-A)

Individuals			Oliver					Eric		
Observations	1	2*	3	4*	5*	1	2*	3	4*	5
Pretend Play Behaviors	37	40	59	54	46	55	45	34	42	48
Verbalizations	16	23	31	21	41	7	39	21	29	12
Vocabulary	2	8	5	5	16	0	13	1	5	3
Functional Play	10	19	45	6	1	51	0	1	0	32
AAA	3	9	0	15	43	0	42	33	35	38
IAO	11	0	0	22	2	0	24	0	2	0
OS	24	23	0	14	1	0	0	0	38	0
Sequences	31	0	44	8	42	7	42	33	38	43

*Note= Observations in which the child was playing with their mother

Following eCoaching, Allison and Lisa shared their children's enjoyment of the time spent playing together. Lisa noted, "[Oliver] would cherish the times, and so did I. I think I'll probably incorporate a couple more sessions of times during the week where I could sit down and intentionally play with him more than I did before." Allison repeated this sentiment: "Eric thought it was fun!" The children's fondness for having their mothers as play partners was evident in post-observation videos meant to capture independent play, as all children found ways to discuss and verbalize their play behaviors with their moms.

Research Question 4: Social Validity of eCoaching as an Intervention

As indicated by the post-interview Likert questions (see Table 3), the coach-mother relationship was a satisfying component of the eCoaching process for Allison and Lisa. When discussing this relational aspect, Lisa remarked, "I think it was just good to feel like you had somebody else on your side to give you advice and feedback." Mothers reported an increased sense of their "ability to apply concepts to an actual problem or situation in the area of pretend play facilitation." Regarding the eCoaching process, both mothers expressed high satisfaction with the support provided and how it met their families' needs. While they saw their children benefiting from eCoaching, Lisa felt she was the "greater beneficiary" of the process, as it provided her with "useful feedback and strategies." In their post-interviews, Allison and Lisa mentioned feeling isolated due to being stay-at-home mothers and saw eCoaching as supporting their development as parents. Lisa appreciated the targeted and specific feedback from eCoaching, which she found lacking in previous learning activities (e.g., readings, school-based professional development). She stated, "I liked to have [the coach] watch while we played and then report back. It was interesting that she was able to pick up on stuff I was not. That I had not really been thinking about." Both mothers would recommend eCoaching to other caregivers. However, Allison noted that some caregivers might be challenged with the coaching process due to the open-ended nature of setting goals and receiving feedback during debriefing sessions.

Conclusion and Discussion

As a means of caregiver support through play, eCoaching demonstrated the potential to address caregivers' goals for their child with a disability within various developmental domains through pretend play. Mothers identified the supportive relationship with the coach as a valued factor and source of encouragement provided during eCoaching. The significance of interpersonal coaching skills in achieving family-centered outcomes is underscored by the demonstrated relational trust and participatory responsiveness in eCoaching experiences (Dunst & Espe-Sherwindt, 2016). Moreover, the study's findings highlight the convergence of educator coaching models, integrating principles such as applied learning (Desimone & Pak, 2017) and adult learning (Collins, 2004), as well as individualized learning and feedback (Knight et al., 2015) in coaching families.

Amanda H. PASSMORE & Marie TEJERO HUGHES

Family-centered practices in early childhood aim to empower mothers with the competence and confidence to recognize their children's developmental needs and interests (Frugone-Jaramillo & Gràcia, 2023; Knoche et al., 2012). Leveraging existing knowledge—a key aspect of adult learning principles (Collins, 2004)—mothers could make new information introduced during eCoaching more accessible. Their experiences beforehand as educators gave them a foundational level of knowledge, which Showers et al. (1987) identify as crucial for coaching "buy-in." Mothers also exhibited choice in setting goals for themselves and their children, which research has indicated builds self-efficacy and motivation (Schunk & DiBenedetto, 2021). Over time, mothers became more vocal in sharing ideas and data, guiding progress toward their child's current and future goals. The integration of adult learning principles was evident as mothers demonstrated self-direction in the relevance of outcomes for themselves and their children (Collins, 2004). By the last debrief session, the mothers had outlined strategies to incorporate into their daily routines, focusing on sustaining the engagement in pretend play initiated through eCoaching.

Mothers highlighted the advantages of pretend play, aligning with literature on its benefits for literacy skills (Nicolopoulou et al., 2015), language and communication (Kızıldere et al., 2020), and vocabulary acquisition (Hutagalung et al., 2020). Given that both of their sons had SLD, the goals of pretend play were heavily focused on enhancing expressive language skills. Research consistently underscores the positive correlation between pretend play and language development (Lillard et al., 2013), with children engaging in more elaborate pretend play scenarios exhibiting higher levels of communication (Pizzo & Bruce, 2010). This was particularly evident in Eric, who, in addition to an SLD, was diagnosed with a DD and displayed less intricate pretend play behaviors compared to Oliver. Significant disparities were noted in the verbal interactions of the two children during play. Eric's language delays prompted his mother to prioritize goals centered on enhancing expressive language skills, such as sentence construction and pronunciation.

Using the integrated, responsive model of play intervention revealed an increase in mothers' ability to support 'good-fit' interactions during play. This model is effective in similar studies with preschool-age children educators worked with (Trawick-Smith et al., 2016). Researchers have noted links between advanced degrees in education, which both mothers held, and increased facilitation of 'good-fit' interactions (Trawick-Smith & Dziurgot, 2010). Pretend play opportunities led to quicker conflict resolution and provided chances for enhancement related to eCoaching goals (e.g., vocabulary, sequencing). Consistent with previous literature, mothers in eCoaching often used adult prompting as a strategy with their child, leading to increased pretend play sequences (Barton et al., 2019), AAA (Stahmer, 1995), social pretend play actions (Kalkusch et al., 2021), and vocabulary (Kim et al., 1989).

Moreover, during their interactions in pretend play, mothers effectively prompted increased verbal expressions and expanded vocabulary, consistent with prior research findings (Kızıldere et al., 2020). This rise in verbal engagement corresponds with the communication needed to create a mutual understanding of the non-literal actions in pretend play (Fein, 1981). Unlike solitary play, which relies primarily on individual imagination, facilitating pretend play requires communication to introduce different ideas into the play scenario (Bruner, 1972). This process of building shared understanding through communication is known as a "joint play narrative" (Hakkarainen et al., 2013). The presence of a "joint play narrative" was evident in the interactions between mother and child through discussions of roles (AAA) and object substitutions. Narratives, especially within the context of pretend play during caregiver interactions, offer valuable opportunities for higher-order thinking discussions, particularly for children aged 4 to 5 (Frausel et al., 2021). The American Academy of Pediatrics suggests that children with limited verbal abilities may express themselves through language within playful contexts (Ginsburg et al., 2007). Eric and Oliver exhibited increased verbal engagement when playing with their mothers, with Eric showing the most notable improvement. These advances in vocabulary acquisition through play are supported by previous literature (Hutagalung et al., 2020), with researchers advocating for pretend play as a conduit for language development (Lillard, 2013).

During the eCoaching sessions, Eric and Oliver enhanced their ability to incorporate OS, AAA, and

sequences into their pretend play (Saral & Ulke-Kurkcuoglu, 2020). The literature has noted differences in complex pretend play behaviors among children with DD, like Eric (Kasari et al., 2013; Lifter et al., 2011). The prompting strategies used by the mothers align with previous literature on pretend play interventions (Barton et al., 2019). A study by Meacham et al. (2014) observed a similar phenomenon, finding that open and closed questioning during pretend play increased language and language modeling in preschool-aged children. The rise in verbalizations and vocabulary may be linked to the increased questioning, modeling, and communication about non-literal behaviors when children engage in play with their mothers.

Implications for Practice, Policy, and Future Research

Using eCoaching through pretend play offers a promising family-centered practice to support children with developmental delays. Pretend play is intrinsically motivating to preschool-aged children, and the complexity of pretend play as a cognitive form of play expression allows for multiple entry points to learning. Within this eCoaching model, the importance of caregivers' ability to draw on background knowledge was central to their learning. Therefore, coaches should take the time to incorporate knowledge of an individual's background. Additionally, both mothers felt the coach centered eCoaching around their family and child and praised the relationship formed with their coach. These comments reveal the interpersonal nature of a coaching intervention (Gardiner & Weisling, 2020) and that the relationship can be achieved virtually. As policies that inform early childhood and special education practices evolve, policymakers should consider the virtual delivery of services through an eCoaching model in allocating resources. For example, future policy may consider guidelines on technology privacy, reimbursement for technology resources, and guidance on remote family-based support as an alternative and effective method of service delivery.

A limited sample size was used to describe each mother-child pair (Yin, 2017), and these participating dyads were not randomly selected. Findings in this study are promising, and replication with greater attention to caregivers of diverse backgrounds (e.g., education, gender) would be a natural progression of this research. Research on eCoaching should consider measuring caregivers' background knowledge, as prior experiences have been shown to influence eCoaching outcomes. Future studies should also explore the influence of caregivers on their child's self-directed play ideas and examine how a caregiver's presence might unintentionally change the child's play. These interactions could be viewed as trade-offs in how facilitation affects various developmental domains in children. Additionally, examining individual variables associated with the eCoaching cycle, such as observation, debriefing, and virtual elements, and their corresponding outcomes would provide valuable insights for the field. Lastly, following up with mothers and children post-eCoaching would provide greater insights into the short-term and long-term influences of eCoaching.

Overall, the mother's outcomes via eCoaching practices using pretend play are promising. Both children exhibited needs that benefited from participation in eCoaching through pretend play. Furthermore, mothers conveyed a high level of contentment with eCoaching, recognizing it as an excellent family-centered approach to support children with developmental delays. These mothers honed their abilities in observing and engaging responsively, focusing on enhancing their child's individual development within the home environment during pretend play.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Thank you to all participating mothers and children who participated in this case study.

Authors' contributions: Amanda H. Passmore was the primary investigator and served as the coach in the study. Marie Tejero Hughes collaborated on and co-authored the data analysis and findings.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: Not applicable.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Ethical approval was obtained by the University of Illinois at Chicago.

Amanda H. PASSMORE & Marie TEJERO HUGHES

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Stamatios Papadakis through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Aguilar, J., Peck, S., Mattson, S. L., Reinert, K. S., Higbee, T. S., Lindgren, N. A., & Osos, J. A. (2023). Caregiver-implemented digital activity schedules with virtual coaching. *Behavior Modification*, 47(2), 324–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01454455221118341</u>
- Allen, J. M., & Nimon, K. (2007). Retrospective pretest: A practical technique for professional development evaluation. Journal of Industrial Teacher Education, 44(3), 27-42.
- promising practices Barton, E. E. (2016). Critical issues and for teaching play to young children with disabilities. In B. Reichow, B. A. Boyd, E. E. Barton, & S. L. Odom (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood special education (pp. 267-286). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28492-7_15
- Barton, E. E., Choi, G., & Mauldin, E. G. (2019). Teaching sequences of pretend play to children with disabilities. *Journal of Early* Intervention, 41(1), 13-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815118799466</u>
- Barton, E. E., & Wolery, M. (2008). Teaching pretend play to children with disabilities: A review of the literature. Topics in Early Childhood Special Education, 28(2), 109-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121408318799</u>
- Bergen, D. (2002). The role of pretend play in children's cognitive development. Early Childhood Research & Practice, 4(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(85)90022-8
- Bodrova, E., & Leong, D. J. (2007). Tool of mind: The Vygotskian approach to early childhood education (2nd ed.). Prentice-Hall. http://dx.doi.org/10.4324/9781003164920
- Bruner, J. (1972). The nature and uses of immaturity. American Psychologist, 27(8), 687–708. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0033144
- Collins, J. (2004). Education techniques for lifelong learning: Principles of adult learning. *RadioGraphics*, 24(5), 1483–1489. https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.245045020
- Craig-Unkefer, L. A., & Kaiser, A. P. (2002). Improving the social communication skills of at-risk preschool children in a play context. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 22(1), 3-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/027112140202200101</u>
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. (2018). Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Desimone L. M., & Pak K. (2017). Instructional coaching as high-quality professional development. *Theory into Practice*, 56(1), 3-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2016.1241947
- Division for Early Childhood. (2014). DEC Recommended Practices. https://divisionearlychildhood.egnyte.com/dl/7urLPWCt5U/?
- Dunst, C. J., & Espe-Sherwindt, M. (2016). Family-centered practices in early childhood intervention. In B. Reichow, B. A. Boyd, E. Barton, S. L. Odom (Eds.), Handbook of early childhood special education (pp. 37-55). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28492-7_3</u>
- Elias, C. L., & Berk, L. E. (2002). Self-regulation in young children: Is there a role for sociodramatic play?. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 17(2), 216-238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0885-2006(02)00146-1</u>
- Fein, G. G. (1981). Pretend play in childhood: an integrative review. *Child Development*, 52(4), 1095–1118. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129497
- Fixsen, D., Naoom, S., Blase, K., Friedman, R., & Wallace, F. (2005). *Implementation research: A synthesis of the literature*. University of South Florida, Louis de la Parte Florida Mental Health Institute, National Implementation Research Network.
- Frausel, R. R., Richland, L. E., Levine, S. C., & Goldin-Meadow, S. (2021). Personal narrative as a "breeding ground" for higher-order thinking talk in early parent–child interactions. *Developmental Psychology*, 57(4), 519-534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001166</u>
- Friend, M., & Cook, L. (1990). Collaboration as a predictor for success in school reform. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 1(1), 69-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532768xjepc0101_4</u>
- Frugone-Jaramillo, M., & Gràcia, M. (2023). Family-centered approach in early childhood intervention of a vulnerable population from an Ecuadorian rural context. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *14*, 1272293. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1272293</u>

Gardiner, W. & Weisling, N. F. (2020). Responsive mentoring: Supporting the teachers all students deserve. Rowman & Littlefield.

Ginsburg, K. R. (2007). The importance of play in promoting healthy child development and maintaining strong parent-child bonds. *Pediatrics*, 119(1), 182-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2006-2697</u> Enhancing playful interactions: eCoaching mothers...

- Gmitrova, V. (2013). Teaching to play performing a main role effective method of pretend play facilitation in preschool-age children. Early Child Development and Care, 183(11), 1705-1719. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2012.746970</u>
- Gomez, D., Kunze, M., Glenn, E., Todis, B., Kelley, K., Karns, C. M., Glang, A., & McIntyre, L. L. (2022). Professionals' perspectives on service delivery: The impact of COVID-19 on early childhood special education providers. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 44(2), 115-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02711214211073964</u>
- Göncü, A., & Gauvain, M. (2012). Sociocultural approaches to educational psychology: Theory, research, and application. In K. R. Harris, S. Graham, T. Urdan, C. B. McCormick, G. M. Sinatra, & J. Sweller (Eds.), APA handbooks in psychology®. APA educational psychology handbook, Vol. 1. Theories, constructs, and critical issues (p. 125–154). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/13273-006
- Göncü, A., & Vadeboncoeur, J. A. (2017). Expanding the definitional criteria for imaginative play: Contributions of sociocultural perspectives. *Learning & Behavior*, 45(4), 422-431. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13420-017-0292-z</u>
- Hakkarainen, P., Bredikyte, M., Jakkula, K., & Munter, H. (2013). Adult play guidance and children's play development in a narrative play-world. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 21(2), 213-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2013.789189</u>
- Hutagalung, F., Liyan, L., & Adams, D. (2020). The effects of dramatic play on vocabulary learning among preschoolers. *Journal of Nusantara Studies*, 5(1), 294-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.24200/jonus.vol5iss1pp294-314</u>

Individuals With Disabilities Education Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1414 (2004). https://sites.ed.gov/idea/statute-chapter-33/subchapter-ii/1414

- Ingersoll, B., & Schreibman, L. (2006). Teaching reciprocal imitation skills to young children with autism using a naturalistic behavioral approach: Effects on language, pretend play, and joint attention. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 36(4), 487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-006-0089-v</u>
- Johnson, S. R., Pas, E. T., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2016). Understanding and measuring coach– teacher alliance: A glimpse inside the 'black box'. *Prevention Science*, *17*(4), 439-449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-016-0633-8</u>
- Kalkusch, I., Jaggy, A., Bossi C., Weiss, B., Sticca, F., & Perren, S. (2021). Promoting social pretend play in preschool age: Is providing roleplay material enough?. *Early Education and Development*, 32(8), 1136-1152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1830248</u>
- Kasari, C., Chang, Y. C., & Patterson, S. (2013). Pretending to play or playing to pretend: The case of autism. *American Journal of Play*, 6(1), 124-135.
- Keder, R. D., Mittal, S., Stringer, K., Wallis, K. E., Wallace, J. E., & Soares, N. S. (2022). Society for developmental & behavioral pediatrics position statement on telehealth. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 43(1), 55–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.00000000001046</u>
- Kemp, P., & Turnbull, A. P. (2014). Coaching with parents in early intervention: An interdisciplinary research synthesis. Infants & Young Children, 27(4), 305-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.000000000000018</u>
- Kim, Y. T., Lombardino, L. J., Rothman, H., & Vinson, B. (1989). Effects of symbolic play intervention with children who have mental retardation. *Mental Retardation*, 27(3), 159-165.
- Kızıldere, E., Aktan-Erciyes, A., Tahiroğlu, D., & Göksun, T. (2020). A multidimensional investigation of pretend play and language competence: Concurrent and longitudinal relations in preschoolers. *Cognitive Development*, 54, 100870. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogdev.2020.100870</u>
- Knight, J., Elford, M., Hock, M., Dunekack, D., Bradley, B., Deshler, D. D., & Knight, D. (2015). 3 steps to great coaching. *The Learning Professional*, 36(1), 10-18.
- Knoche, L.L., Cline, K. D., & Marvin, C. A. (2012). Fostering collaborative partnerships between early childhood professionals and the parents of young children. In R. C. Pianta, W. S. Barnett, L. M. Justice, & S. M. Sheridan (Eds.), *Handbook of early childhood education* (pp. 370-392). Guilford.
- Lee, G. T., Qu, K., Hu, X., Jin, N., & Huang, J. (2020). Arranging play activities with missing items to increase object-substitution symbolic play in children with autism spectrum disorder. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 43(22), 3199-3211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2020.1734107</u>
- Lifter, K., Ellis, J., Cannon, B., & Anderson, S. R. (2005). Developmental specificity in targeting and teaching play activities to children with pervasive developmental disorders. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 27(4), 247-267. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/105381510502700405</u>
- Lifter, K., Foster-Sanda, S., Arzamarski, C., Briesch, J., & McClure, E. (2011). Overview of play: Its uses and importance in early intervention/early childhood special education. *Infants & Young Children*, 24(3), 225-245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.0b013e31821e995c</u>
- Lillard, A. S., Lerner, M. D., Hopkins, E. J., Dore, R. A., Smith, E. D., & Palmquist, C. M. (2013). The impact of pretend play on children's development: A review of the evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(1), 1–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029321</u>

Amanda H. PASSMORE & Marie TEJERO HUGHES

- Loizou, E. (2017). Children's socio-dramatic play typologies and teacher play involvement within the breadth of the zone of proximal development. In T. Bruce, P. Hakkarainen, & M. Bredikyte (Eds.), *The Routledge international handbook of early childhood play* (pp. 151-166). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315735290-16</u>
- Mahoney, G. (2009). Relationships focused intervention (RFI): Enhancing the role of parents in children's developmental intervention. International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education, 1(1), 79-94. <u>http://doi:10.20489/intjecse.107978</u>
- McDuffie, A., Oakes, A., Machalicek, W., Ma, M., Bullard, L., Nelson, S., & Abbeduto, L. (2016). Early language intervention using distance video-teleconferencing: a pilot study of young boys with fragile X syndrome and their mothers. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 25(1), 46-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2015_AJSLP-14-0137</u>
- McWilliam, R. A. (2010). Routines-based early intervention. Supporting Young Children and Their Families. Brookes.
- Meacham, S., Vukelich, C., Han, M., & Buell, M. (2014). Preschool teachers' questioning in sociodramatic play. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 29(4), 562-573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.07.001</u>
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. Jossey-Bass.
- Miller-Kuhaneck, H., & Watling, R. (2018). Parental or teacher education and coaching to support function and participation of children and youth with sensory processing and sensory integration challenges: A systematic review. American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 72(1), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2018.029017</u>
- Nicolopoulou, Cortina, K. S., Ilgaz, H., Cates, С. В., & (2015). Using Α., de Sá. Α. В. a narrative-and play-based activity to promote low-income preschoolers' oral language, emergent literacy, and social competence. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 31, 147-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresg.2015.01.006
- Ogourtsova, T., O'Donnell, M., De Souza Silva, W., & Majnemer, A. (2019). Health coaching for parents of children with developmental disabilities: A systematic review. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 61(11), 1259-1265. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.14206
- Passmore, A. H., & Hughes, M. T. (2024). Using eCoaching to support mothers' pretend play interactions at home. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 52(1), 207-219. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10643-022-01420-4</u>
- Pizzo, L., & Bruce, S. M. (2010). Language and play in students with multiple disabilities and visual impairments or deaf-blindness. Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 104(5), 287–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0145482X1010400504</u>
- Pullum, M. R., King, S. A., & Kennedy, K. (2020). Structured teaching and the play of preschoolers with developmental disabilities: An evaluation. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 42(1), 105-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121420942841</u>
- Quigley, J., Griffith, A. K., & Kates-McElrath, K. (2018). A comparison of modeling, prompting, and a multi-component intervention for teaching play skills to children with developmental disabilities. *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, 11, 315-326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-018-0225-0</u>
- Rentzou, K., Slutsky, R., Tuul, M., Gol-Guven, M., Kragh-Muller, G., Foerch, D. F., & Paz- Albo, J. (2019). Preschool teachers' conceptualizations and uses of play across eight countries. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 47(1), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-018-0910-1</u>
- Rogoff, B. (2023). Mutually constituting, fractal: individual and cultural aspects of holistic process. *Review of Research in Education*, 47(1), 60-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X23122466</u>
- Rogoff, B., & Angelillo, C. (2002). Investigating the coordinated functioning of multifaceted cultural practices in human development. *Human Development*, 45(4), 211-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000064981</u>
- Roopnarine, J. L., & Davidson, K. L. (2015). Parent–child play across cultures: Advancing play research. In J. E. Johnson, S. G. Eberle, T. S. Hendricks, & D. Kuschner (Eds.), *The handbook of the study of play* (Vol. 2, pp. 85-100). Rowman and Littlefield.
- Rubin, K. H. (2001). The play observation scale (POS). University of Maryland.
- Rush, D. & Shelden, M. (2020). The early childhood coaching handbook. Brookes Publishing.
- Saral, D., & Ulke-Kurkcuoglu, B. (2020). Using least-to-most prompting to increase the frequency and diversity of pretend play in children with autism. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 42(1), 33-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121420942850</u>
- Savina, E. (2014). Does play promote self-regulation in children?. Early Child Development and Care, 184(11), 1692-1705. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2013.875541
- Schunk, D. H., & DiBenedetto, M. K. (2021). Self-efficacy and human motivation. In A. J. Elliot (Ed.), Advances in motivation science (Vol. 8, pp. 153-179). Elsevier. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.adms.2020.10.001</u>
- Showers, B., Joyce, B. & Bennett, B. (1987). Synthesis of research on staff development: A framework for future study and a state-ofthe-art analysis. *Educational Leadership*, 45(3), 77-87.
- Singer, D. G. & Singer, J.L. (1990). The house of make-believe: Children's play and the developing imagination. Harvard University Press. http://dx.doi.org/10.4159/9780674043688

Enhancing playful interactions: eCoaching mothers...

- Stahmer, A. C. (1995). Teaching symbolic play skills to children with autism using pivotal response training. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 25(2), 123-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02178500</u>
- Steed, E. A., Leech, N., Phan, N., & Benzel, E. (2022). Early childhood educators' provision of remote learning during COVID-19. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 60, 307–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2022.03.003</u>
- Taylor, M. E., & Boyer, W. (2020). Play-based learning: evidence-based research to improve children's learning experiences in the kindergarten classroom. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *48*(2), 127-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-019-00989-7</u>
- Thompson, B. N., & Goldstein, T. R. (2019). Disentangling pretend play measurement: Defining the essential elements and developmental progression of pretense. *Developmental Review*, 52, 24-41. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2019.100867</u>
- Trainor, A. A., & Graue, E. (2014). Evaluating rigor in qualitative methodology and research dissemination. *Remedial and Special Education*, 35(5), 267–274. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0741932514528100</u>
- Trawick-Smith, J., & Dziurgot, T. (2010). "Good-fit" teacher-child play interactions and subsequent autonomous play in preschool. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 26(1), 110-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2010.04.005</u>
- Trawick-Smith, J., Swaminathan, S., & Liu, X. (2016). The relationship of teacher–child play interactions to mathematics learning in preschool. *Early Child Development and Care, 186*(5), 716-733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1054818</u>
- Trivette, C. M., Dunst, C. J., Hamby, D. W., & O'Herin, C. E. (2009). Characteristics and consequences of adult learning methods and strategies. *Research Brief*, 3(1), 1-33.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher mental processes. (M. Cole, V. John-Steiner, S. Scribner, & E. Souberman, Eds.), Harvard University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvjf9vz4</u>
- White, R. E., Thibodeau-Nielsen, R. B., Palermo, F., & Mikulski, A. M. (2021). Engagement in social pretend play predicts preschoolers' executive function gains across the school year. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 56, 103-113. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2021.03.005</u>
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. Sage publications.

'So, this will do for you guys': A closer look at Maine's Part C rural service delivery

Deborah L. Rooks-Ellis¹, Christine M. Spence²

Abstract: This study examines family-centered strategies used by Maine's Part C early intervention providers to support families residing in rural communities who may be experiencing vulnerabilities. Through focus groups, early intervention providers shared strategies and barriers when supporting families. Rurality-focused segments impacting early intervention services were identified in the following themes: (a) teaming and collaboration, (b) professional learning, (c) Part C implementation, and (d) resources and services. State funding and policies that focus on rurality may be an important contributing factor to strengthening structural inequities and increasing recruitment and retention of providers in rural areas.

Article History Received: 07 April 2024 Accepted: 06 November 2024

Keywords Rurality; Early intervention; Family-centered strategies

Introduction

The Part C Early Intervention (EI) program of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (2004) in the United States is an EI program used by states to support families and their infants and toddlers who may be at risk for or diagnosed with a developmental delay or disability (U.S. Department of Education, 2023). The IDEA Part C program was designed to enhance the capacity of families to meet the developmental needs of their child, minimize the need for special education and related services when children enter school, and enhance children's long-term outcomes (IDEA Infant & Toddler Coordinators Association, 2024). Under the Part C grant, states implement a public awareness program and Child Find activities. Child Find mandates that states actively identify, locate and evaluate infants and toddlers who may have disabilities or suspected to have disabilities as early as possible (Early Childhood Technical Assistance Center, n.d.). A child must meet the state's definition of an infant or toddler with a disability or developmental delay to be considered for services under Part C.

Research in EI documents both the importance and difficulty of serving families raising children with disabilities (Bruder et al., 2021). However, less is known about the principles and practices used by EI service providers working with families who may experience vulnerabilities such as poverty, rurality, unhoused, and parent/caregiver disability (Spence et al., 2023). This current study, part of a larger phenomenological project (see Spence et al., 2023) aims to examine the family-centered principles and practices used by EI providers in one state working with families living in rural communities.

Theoretical Frameworks

Aligned with Bronfenbrenner's Bioecological Systems Theory (2005), Part C EI services occur within the child's everyday natural environment and are intended to be strengths-based, family-centered (e.g., dignity and respect), and family capacity-building (e.g., achieve family-set goals). The Council for Exceptional Children and the Division for Early Childhood Initial Practice-based Standards for Early Interventionists and Early Childhood Special Educators (2020) emphasized the need for professionals to implement family centered practice (FCP) and "...support families to achieve the goals they have for their family and their young child's development and learning; and promote families' competence and

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the <u>CC BY- NC- ND</u> license.

¹ Coastal Carolina University, Teacher Education, Conway, USA, e-mail: drooksel@coastal.edu, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-002-4317-1593

² Virginia Commonwealth University, Counseling and Special Education, Richmond, USA, e-mail: <a href="mailto:special-wirgle:

Deborah L. ROOKS-ELLIS & Christine M. SPENCE

confidence during...intervention." Specifically *Standard 2: Partnering with Families* focuses on provider application of strategies that build upon families' existing strengths, foster family competence and confidence, and develop trusting, respectful, affirming and culturally responsive partnerships with all families (2020). Additionally, the Division for Early Childhood (2014) Recommended Practices (RPs) provides guidance to professionals and families about FCPs that are specifically known to promote positive outcomes for young children who have or are at risk for developmental delays and disabilities and their families. FCPs have helped to fulfill children and families' goals (Kilmer et al., 2010; Xu et al., 2017) and increase families' satisfaction with services (Smith et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2020). Given the potential cost savings to the state, FCPs may also be beneficial to the community (Hajizadeh et al., 2017).

Likewise, the RPs (Division for Early Childhood, 2014) offer guidance to EI providers about specific behaviors they should use to support teaming and collaboration (TC) when working with young children with developmental delays and/or disabilities. The TC RPs (Division for Early Childhood, 2014) include professionals engaging in joint planning and implementing supporting/services with all team members (TC1), exchanging expertise, knowledge and information to build team capacity (TC2), using effective communication (TC3), discover and access community-based services (TC4) and identifying one primary provider to serve as the liaison between the family and other team members (TC5). Additionally, the Mission and Key Principles for Providing Early Intervention Services in Natural Environments accentuated the foundational values necessary to support the system of family-centered EI services (Workgroup on Principles and Practices in Natural Environments, 2008). Validated through research, model demonstration and outreach projects, these key principles guide EI professionals. For example, Key Principle 2 outlines that EI professionals provide families with resources and support that can enhance their child's learning and development. Additionally, Key Principle 6 calls attention to the families' priorities, needs and interests, which are addressed most appropriately by a primary provider who represents and receives team and community support. EI professionals may not be able to adequately implement EI services and familycentered strategies if professional standards and key principles and practices are not in place or systemsupported. Despite the consensus of the importance of family-centered early intervention for all families (Bruder & Dunst, 2005), limited research exists about the FCPs used in Part C EI, specifically within rural communities.

Rural Context

No comprehensive or definitive definition of rural currently exists (Longhurst, 2022; Thier et al., 2021). Therefore, the generally accepted definition of rural is that of the U.S. Census Bureau (2023a). The U.S. Census Bureau defines rural as what is not urban—that is, after defining individual urban areas, rural is what is left (U.S. Census Bureau, 2023a). Young children in rural areas are more likely to be eligible for Part C services (Decker et al., 2020; Roberts et al., 2014), yet this population is underrepresented in rural education literature (Thier et al., 2021). Therefore, we emphasize the benefits of rural settings. For example, rural schools are often central to the identity of the rural communities, promoting stronger attachments for residents and stronger commitment to student achievement (Showalter et al., 2023). Community values may be a strong motivator for student success. In fact, students in rural settings experience a higher graduation rate than their peers in non-rural settings (Showalter, 2023). Likewise, rural schools often have smaller populations and class sizes which may increase the personalized attention students receive from teaching staff and administration (Showalter et al., 2023). It is important to capitalize on the culture of rural communities to enable families and young children to achieve the intended EI outcomes.

Yet families residing in rural communities have long reported barriers to accessing EI services including access to information, providers, and transportation (Cummings et al., 2017; Decker et al., 2022, 2020; Elpers et al., 2016, Singh et al., 2019). Likewise, EI agencies in rural areas report obstacles including recruitment and retention of Part C professionals, the ability to meet the basic needs of families experiencing vulnerability (e.g., homelessness, poverty, mental health), and access challenges that are characteristic of a rural state (e.g., transportation, geography) (Dwyer, 2019). Additionally, very few specialized providers (e.g., occupational therapists (OT), physical therapists (PT), speech language

pathologists (SLP), etc.) in rural areas have pediatric backgrounds (Haring & Lovett, 2001). These barriers, specifically access to services and highly trained professionals, may influence the strategies that Part C providers use when working with families in rural communities (Decker et al., 2022, 2020; Cummings et al., 2017).

This study occurred in Maine, one of the most rural states in the nation (U.S. Census Bureau, 2023b). The Rural-Urban Continuum Codes (RUCCs)(U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2024) distinguish between metropolitan and nonmetropolitan counties by population size. The RUCCs allow researchers to view county-level data when analyzing trends related to population density. Using the 2023 RUCCs, eleven of Maine's, sixteen counties are classified as rural. A disproportionate number of high need families reside in rural, remote, and sparsely populated areas (U.S. Census Bureau, 2023c). For example, 10.8% of [state] rural residents fall below the poverty line (U.S. Census Bureau, 2023b), and 11.2% of households identify as food insecure, meaning that they have trouble providing enough food due to a lack of money or resources (Rabbitt et al., 2023). Reportedly 61,018 children aged five and under reside in Maine and are the most likely age cohort to be poor, with 15% living below the poverty line (Kids Count Data Center, 2023; U.S. Census Bureau, 2023c). In the U.S., 57.8% of the population is White alone, not Hispanic or Latino. However, in Maine, over 93% of the population is White (U.S. Census Bureau, 2023c). In 2022, 1,476 infants and toddlers were receiving early intervention services, or 2.4% of the state's population (Frazier, 2024). The percentage of children served in Maine's early intervention system are represented by the following: 2.5% Asian, 3.4% Black/African American, 1.5% Hispanic/Latino, 2.4% White, and 2.3% two or more races. Data cannot be reported for American Indian/Alaskan Native and Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islanders due to suppression of data to avoid identification (U.S. Department of Education, 2023). Thus, the state is both over-representing and undeserving specific minoritized communities. These statistics highlight the percentage of Maine's children and families experiencing vulnerability.

In Maine, Child Development Services (CDS) is a quasi-governmental agency, supervised by the Department of Education, and responsible for the implementation of the IDEA Part C EI program (Frazier, 2024). One CDS state office and nine regional locations span this northeastern rural state. The CDS agency maintains system-wide policies and procedures, centralized fiscal services and data management system, and system-wide contracts for service providers (Frazier, 2024). Part C EI service providers contracted by this system adhere to the routines-based early intervention model (McWilliam, 2010) and provide family-centered services within natural environments (e.g., family/caregiver homes, childcare). EI providers use a transdisciplinary approach whereas the provider receives frequent support from other related service professionals, and in turn, serves as the family's coach to strengthen parenting competence and confidence and promote child learning. In this approach, each regional location has weekly team meetings to collaborate about child outcomes.

The purpose of this study was to examine the family-centered principles and practices used by EI providers in one state working with families living in rural communities. The study adds to the literature by documenting awareness of rural issues impacting providers and families. This is the first study to examine the family-centered strategies used by EI providers to support families residing in rural communities who may be experiencing vulnerabilities. The following questions guided the analysis: (1) What themes emerged from reported challenges and potential barriers to implementing EI services with families experiencing vulnerabilities in rural communities? and (2) What solutions, if any, were offered by EI providers?

Method

The current study is a sub-study of a larger phenomenological study (see Spence et al., 2023). Maine was selected because both lead researchers represented EI personnel preparation programs at two institutes of higher education within the state and had specific interests in policy, personnel and professional development impacting EI services. While rurality was not a primary research question in the larger study, topics related to supporting families in rural communities were often discussed by focus group participants. The larger study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at each of the lead

researcher's institutions and focused on family-centered strategies EI providers report using with families experiencing vulnerable circumstances. Representing the nine EI service regions across the state, nine focus groups were conducted that included EI providers and service coordinators. An additional focus group was held with regional managers, for a total of 10 focus groups. Data from the regional managers and seven of the nine EI service regions are reported in this current study. Using the RUCC (U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2024), the two EI service regions that did not contribute to the data in this study are in counties not designated as rural.

Procedures

The researchers gained permission from the state Part C Director to ask regional EI managers to pass information about the study to their staff. Managers assisted with identifying and reserving a room for the focus group, and shared information about the study time and location with their staff. Managers were not aware which EI providers participated in the study. The EI provider focus groups were held at a location within their region, generally a large conference room in the regional site, with options for remote participation. The focus group for regional managers was held at a regional office, centrally located in the state, with remote options for participation. Once all participants were present, they read and signed an informed consent form and completed a demographic survey. A semi-structured protocol was used to explore strategies used by participants to support families in EI and with another area of vulnerability. Vulnerabilities discussed during the focus groups included homelessness, poverty, parents with disabilities, and foster families, among others. Participants were encouraged to share their own experiences and expand on each other's responses. The focus groups were recorded, and research assistants transcribed the recordings following the completion of each focus group.

Participants

The 56 participants in this study represented 43% (49/114) of the state's Part C direct service providers and seven of the eight managers (88%), who supervise providers at the nine regional sites. The participants were primarily White, with graduate education (See Table 1). There was a range of experience working in EI, from less than a year to more than 30 years, with 33% of providers working in EI for less than 3 years. One direct service provider and two managers participated remotely. All seven program managers had been in that role for less than three years, although all had more experience working within the EI system.

Analysis

To address the guiding questions, the research team conducted a thematic qualitative analysis (Miles et al., 2014) with a multi-step, collaborative analysis process (Cornish et al., 2013). The transcriptions were utilized as primary sources of data. Seven themes were identified in the larger phenomenological project (family-centered strategies, Part C implementation, perceptions, professional experiences, professional learning, resources and services, and teaming and collaboration) and a codebook was developed using an iterative, collaborative consensus process across multiple stages (see Spence et al., 2023 for a complete description of the primary analysis procedure). While no specific focus group question specifically addressed rurality, providers often mentioned rurality in relation to information they shared about their experiences with families; therefore, when relevant to the current study, rurality was captured in this step. Once the primary analysis was completed, a research assistant reviewed all segments to identify the rurality-related segments. She created a spreadsheet with the segments in their originally coded categories, and the two lead researchers individually read each segment, determined the presence or absence of rurality in the segment, and discussed their findings. The lead researchers reached consensus for rurality-focused segments identified as having an impact on EI services (Cornish et al., 2013).

Reflexive Statement

As researchers, professional development providers, and early interventionists, we believe strongly in a high-quality Part C system. We recognize the critical importance for supporting families engaged in Part C services, as well as the need for supporting the professionals who work in the field. We also acknowledge the real gaps in funding that impact Part C systems and how this may impact quality of services. We recognize the differences and inequities across regions and how resources may not be distributed evenly within the same state. We believe that hearing the experiences directly from those closely engaged in the system can help to shape and improve service delivery for all.

Table	1.	Focus	group	particip	ants
		100000	Stoup	particip	- curreo

Participants' characteristics	n %
Gender (n=56)	
Male	1 (1.8%)
Female	55 (98.2%)
Current position in early intervention system (n=56)	
Service coordinator	10 (17.9%)
Early childhood special educator	10 (17.9%)
Occupational therapist	8 (14.3%)
Program manager	7 (12.5%)
Special educator, other than ECSE	8 (14.3%)
Speech language pathologist	4 (7.1%)
Physical therapist	2 (3.6%)
Educational technician	2 (3.6%)
Teacher of deaf/hard of hearing	2 (3.6%)
Licensed clinical social worker	1 (1.8%)
Other / no response	2 (3.6%)
Educational level attained (n=56)	
Associate degree	2 (3.6%)
Bachelor's degree	19 (33.9%)
Master's degree	33 (58.9%)
Doctoral degree	1 (1.8%)
No response	1 (1.8%)
Years worked in profession for which prepared (n=56)	
Less than 1 year	2 (3.6%)
1-3 years	4 (7.1%)
4-6 years	3 (5.4%)
7-12 years	12 (21 4%)
13-18 years	14 (25%)
19-24 years	9 (16.1%)
25-30 years	6 (10.7%)
30+ years	6 (10.7%)
Years worked in early intervention (providers: n=49)	
Less than 1 year	6 (12 2%)
1-3 years	10 (20.4%)
4-6 years	7 (14 3%)
7-12 years	8 (16.3%)
13-18 years	4 (8 2%%)
19-24 years	6 (12 2%)
25-30 years	4 (8 2%)
30+ years	3(61%)
No response	1 (1 8%)
No response	1 (1.5 %)
Loss than 1 year	0 (0%)
	0(0%)
	1(14.2%)
4-0 years	2(42.0%)
12 19 years	2(12, 5/6)
10-10 years	2 (20.0 %)
19-24 years	0(0%)
20-bu years	U (U%) 1 (14 29/)
50+ years	1 (14.3%)
Least worked in current role in early intervention (managers; n=7)	2/28/20/2
Less than 1 year	$\angle (\angle 0.0\%)$
1-3 years	5 (/1.4%)

Deborah L. ROOKS-ELLIS & Christine M. SPENCE

Findings

Based on the qualitative analysis (Miles et al., 2014), rurality-focused segments reported by EI's as impacting EI service delivery were identified in four of the seven themes identified in the original phenomenological study: (a) teaming and collaboration, (b) professional learning, (c) Part C implementation, and (d) resources and services. Regional focus groups are represented in the findings using names of trees to protect the anonymity of EI regional sites. Participant quotes are provided throughout the results and brackets are used to provide clarifying information and/or to omit information to protect participants' confidentiality.

Teaming and Collaboration

Maine uses the primary service provider (PSP) model, including Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP)--based teaming once per week (McWilliam, 2010). All team members attend regular team meetings for the purpose of colleague-to-colleague coaching around IFSP outcomes. Participants *reported* using technology, including web-based conferencing and text messages, to facilitate *teaming and collaboration*.

Facilitator summarizing previous comments: "So the travel is an issue getting everyone together?"

Maple A: Oh yea, I see [PSP name] maybe only once a week for 5 or 10 minutes and I bring up my caseload and I am like 'okay tell me about that kid quick. What about that kid, anything with that kid?' And she has always got something to tell me. I mean parents separating and then back together and then this family's house burnt down, I mean it is just crazy. But no, I mean technology, we just text each other all the time.

While technology supported teaming and decreased some barriers, others indicated that they preferred in-person meetings. A participant from Linden stated, "It is a challenge for you because you are by yourself...Sometimes it is hard when we only see each other once a week so it is hard to have that interaction." Another participant commented "We do see at least one Zoomer, but yeah, it is easier certainly when we are face to face." The isolation participants felt was shared across multiple groups.

Professional Learning

Maine requires EI providers to participate in ongoing professional development (PD) related to their work for recertification. EI providers and managers reported that in-person PD was difficult to access for those working and living in rural areas of the state, reporting that they were often responsible for covering the cost to attend the professional development opportunity.

Birch A: We have lots of opportunities. But not very many are local.

Birch B: Oftentimes we can go but we eat the milage and eat the cost.

Additionally, a participant in Willow shared that the PD available to them does not center the issues families and providers in rural areas experience, stating: "...they're geared for cities."

The role of who provides PD opportunities and who pays for these opportunities was a topic discussed across several groups. During the discussion between managers, one manager mentioned that another region offered PD. The second manager replied that they had to "seek it out" and "It's not like someone is doing this for us" (Redwood), emphasizing the lack of equitable opportunities across the rural state.

Part C Implementation

EI providers work within the policies and procedures set within the state Part C office and regional offices. Service delivery is affected by these policies, and EI providers discussed the impact due to rurality. Policies related to staffing, efficiency, and supervision were discussed across the focus groups as impacting EI providers' daily work.

Rurality impacted participant's perceived ability to support families. The PSP model in use for the state (McWilliam, 2010) indicates that the PSP should be decided based on who is most appropriate to support the identified IFSP outcomes. However, geography and provider availability often played a larger role in that determination. When asked how the PSP was determined for families facing vulnerable

'So, this will do for you guys': A closer look...

circumstances, many responded with logistical concerns like, "Geography. Unfortunately, that's right now how it is." (Birch). Participants in Ash, Linden, and Maple discussed lack of discipline-specific providers (e.g., OT, PT, SW). One area of the state described the impact of a shortage of providers, sharing that discipline-specific providers may only do evaluations or consults due to availability.

I'm the only SLP so I go from.. I go wherever anybody needs me in [area]... I'm the only one and all I can do really is evaluations and joint visits or consults because I'm going everywhere... and you know we don't have an OT on our team. (Maple)

Besides having only one SLP and no OT, this area also does not have a PT. Therefore, all PSPs are developmental service providers, even if the family and IFSP outcome would be best supported by a domain-specific provider,

Well, we already mentioned it, but we don't have enough providers. We don't have enough contracts, so we don't have OT/PT (Maple).

A participant in another region also mentioned the conflict between supporting the IFSP and logistics,

Our only other occupational therapist...only does consults. So, I feel so geographically stretched and honestly for the [this area], I typically, even if OT is the best fit, I cannot work it into my schedule. But even now, I see kids from [three geographically distant cities] if that is where a child is. So, it is such a long stretch and sometimes I will see 3 kids in one day and I will drive like 6 hours. So how is that an effective use of our time? And scheduling is hard. I know some of that is the nature of the job but... (Linden)

A manager discussed that when families move, even within the same region, it can cause logistical difficulty to have continual EI services due to distance and staffing.

We have a kid that lives in central [region]. It is two hours from our office north and it is two hours from our office south so with our site we have, we basically have one of each provider so it's not like a special educator is seeing this child down in southern [region] and then moves all the way up the northern half of our [region]. We don't have a special educator up there...so it's not like we can even change providers that easy up here. (Redwood)

In addition to sharing their experiences with provider shortages, some of the participants also discussed daily logistics,

I mean I do work on the side of the road sometimes because I must be somewhere in that region next, and I can't go back to this other family. Efficiency can get tricky that way. (Linden).

Through the discussion, there were mentions of potential solutions and alternative ways of approaching caseloads and travel responsibilities,

But sometimes it seems like if we had a little bit more strategic planning, it seems like things that appear to be costing more money actually save some. Hiring a person might really cost less because I am tracking and logging like a million miles a week. (Linden)

EI providers need to know the local communities and services they provide, and an important aspect of Part C service delivery is to be a resource to their families to support these connections. By spreading EI providers across a large region, it can be more difficult to learn about services in each community they visit,

And I think it is a disservice, it's stressful, not economically wise to send people all over [county] and not keep them regionalized. It cuts down on the numbers of children you can see, but it also prevents you from gaining that experience that would help the vulnerable family with some kind of resource. (Pine)

State and regional policies are written to cover all families in the state. EI providers hold a strong commitment and will do what they need to support the families eligible for Part C services, however the implementation of policies often leaves the burden to the individual EI,

I picked up a child that I have no way how I am going to get to them. I am going to have to reconfigure all my families to try to figure out how to do it, and I will. (Linden)

Resources and Services

Participants emphasized the lack of resources (e.g., transportation, related services) and the negative impact for families attempting to access EI services in rural communities. This lack of resources also extends

into additional services that a family may need, such as medical care or therapies outside of the EI system. As one EI shared,

There are those families up and down east [state] that have to drive, whether or not they have a vehicle, two hours plus to get a diagnosis and then there are no services available for after diagnosis (Pine).

An EI in another area of the state discussed not only the considerable distance but the funding required to access the services,

And even specialty clinics, everything's in [town]. Well, when you don't have money and you can access [medical appointment funding source], you still must have money to go. (Birch)

Transportation for families to access medical services is available throughout the state; however, EI providers reported that these services are unreliable. EI providers shared that parents often had to choose between priorities because transportation schedules did not align,

Palm A: I have a family in [town], which is in the middle of nowhere, and [bus service] cancels on them more times than they don't. And then mom is choosing, okay do I get the older brother to preschool or do I get younger brother at home to meet with [EI].

Palm B: I have kiddos that have those speech services, and they miss those visits, and we have a waiting list of 200 kids, you are done. The parents are like, 'I do not know what to do' and we have had several kids have [therapy clinic] drop them because all of them were [bus service] related.

The lack of public transportation in rural communities was also noted as a barrier for families,

There is no public transportation available whatsoever and these families do not have money for a taxi (Maple).

The discussion then expanded to potential solutions so that families could access resources, however barriers were noted as well,

Maple A: In the more rural areas where I am there's churches, that provide, not only food, but general assistance, or other things like household needs. But you have to know who to call at what church and they have to kind of like the person you are calling about and then they will decide how much they are going to give them.

Maple C: "I live in the (county name) area and there is not a lot down there for food pantries we have one in (town name) but you have to live in (town name) in order to access it. There is one on each reservation but those are the only three that I know of in the (county name) area."

A manager summarized feelings about how her rural region might be perceived,

We might have the service up here but is it like the appropriate service? It is like piecemealed together because 'oh it is [region] so this will do for you guys. (Redwood)

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to (1) identify the themes that emerged from reported challenges and potential barriers to implementing EI services with families experiencing vulnerabilities and residing in rural communities, and (2) determine what solutions, if any, were offered by EI providers. Providers supporting rural families perceived hardships related to the following themes: (1) implementation of services, (2) access to resources and services, (3) teaming and collaboration, and (4) professional development. Teaming and collaboration are an essential, and required, component of high-quality EI service delivery (Division for Early Childhood, 2014). EI providers in rural areas of the state indicated that teaming with colleagues was difficult when they were not able to see each other regularly. Many regional sites relied on Zoom technology for collaboration opportunities and attendance at team meetings, at a time when other regional areas were primarily meeting in person or had the opportunity to talk while being in a shared office. While technology can provide opportunities for collaboration, effective processes must be considered to increase EI teaming and collaboration and facilitate implementation in rural settings specifically (Decker et al., 2020).

Access to ongoing professional learning opportunities is critical for maintaining current knowledge of best practices. EI providers in rural areas reported that they had to travel, often at their own expense, to attend professional learning activities. Like collaboration, technology was also a factor when EI providers were discussing access to professional learning opportunities. This could be one strategy utilized to increase access to professional learning while minimizing the hardship for providers in rural locations. Because of their training to work with diverse populations, EI providers can be leaders for changing policy for inclusive practices (Collins et al., 2017); however, ongoing professional development is a necessity to support new ideas, knowledge and practices (Dunst, 2015).

Workforce shortage impacts service delivery (IDEA Infant & Toddler Coordinators Association, 2024). This is particularly true in rural areas and several EI providers discussed not having disciplinespecific providers (e.g., occupational therapists) as part of the EI teams. This can negatively impact service delivery as the families' main concerns may not be able to be fully addressed, and best practices are not able to be utilized. For example, DEC RPs state "Practitioners representing multiple disciplines and families work together as a team to plan and implement supports and services to meet the unique needs of each child and family." (Division for Early Childhood, 2014). This is not able to be carried out as intended if there are not multiple disciplines, knowledgeable about Part C, available to serve specific rural areas.

Although EI providers primary focus is on developmental supports and services, taking a holistic approach to support includes discussion of resources available within the community, such as food cupboards and church supports, particularly if these topics have been captured in the family-focused outcomes on the IFSP (Division for Early Childhood, 2014). This includes knowing how access, or lack thereof, to one resource may impact access to another resource (e.g., transportation to a food pantry). Knowing the resources available in rural communities that can be used to meet families' critical needs will support the family, and as those needs are met, services can shift to supporting the child's developmental skills (Decker et al., 2020).

During the focus group discussions, providers did not suggest solutions to the barriers they mentioned, and we propose potential solutions within the implications outlined below.

Implications for Systems Change

The Division for Early Childhood's (2022) Position Statement on Ethical Practice advances equity and inclusion and advocates for "...the field to remove structural inequities so all professionals, families, and children can contribute, benefit, be valued, and have a sense of belonging." State funding and policies that focus on rurality may be an important contributing factor to strengthening "structural inequities" and increasing recruitment and retention of providers in rural areas. For example, a PD system designed and delivered to promote equity and access by all providers, with limited travel requirements, would acknowledge providers' concerns. Implementing policies that acknowledge regional differences (e.g., access to resources, productivity measures that consider long drive time between appointments) with funding structures to support these differences will improve service delivery and provide equitable options for providers and families. For example, recruitment efforts such as "grow your own" programs that are tailored to individuals who reside in rural communities would provide opportunities for providers to live where they serve. Additionally, salary differences are a known barrier for retention in EI settings (McLean et al., 2021). Policies and funding structures that account for time and travel could be used as a retention strategy and would support a more equitable pay structure.

Implications for Professional Learning Systems

As emphasized in the professional standards, principles, and practices, EI providers are expected to develop and sustain family partnerships while delivering a variety of intervention practices to a diverse population of children and families, including families experiencing vulnerabilities (Bruder et al., 2021; Council for Exceptional Children, 2020; Workgroup on Principles and Practices in Natural Environments, 2008). However, EI providers report difficulties in sustaining meaningful partnerships when the demographic and sociocultural characteristics of the families they serve are different from their own (Fleming et al., 2011). Providers report valuing parental involvement, but they may not fully understand or receive training on how to facilitate family-centered and family capacity-building interactions (Fleming, et al., 2011). Based on the findings of this study and others (Campbell et al., 2009; Fleming et al., 2011), EI

providers may need support and specialized training to feel comfortable engaging with families experiencing vulnerabilities. System-wide professional learning opportunities focused on diverse families and offered through various modalities to support the needs of providers living and working in a rural state (e.g., in-person, remote, asynchronous) are needed to increase providers' competence and confidence to implement family-centered intervention. Likewise, partnerships between Institutes of Higher Education preparing personnel and state's in-service professional learning system, working together to design and implement targeted training, would strengthen the preservice to in-service pipeline.

Limitations

The qualitative nature of this study allowed for an in-depth understanding of providers' challenges when implementing services in rural communities but is not generalizable to a larger population. Furthermore, the participants of this study were primarily female and White, mirroring the state's EI workforce, and were recruited through a state's Part C system, limiting the broadness with which the results can be attributed. Also, we were not able to determine solutions, if any, offered by EI providers. The second question did not result in specific solutions offered by providers, most likely because the focus of the larger phenomenological study was family-centered practices used by providers and not rurality. As researchers, we did not specifically ask providers about potential solutions to the barriers faced when implementing intervention in rural settings; therefore, there were missed opportunities to learn more about how providers may overcome the issues they face offering services to families who live in rural settings.

Implications for Future Research

The themes that emerged from this study could inform future research of a larger and more diverse sample. Future qualitative research should investigate how to "address the social, political, and individual implications" of our findings and conclusions (Division for Early Childhood, 2022). Further investigation into the specific needs of EI providers and families receiving EI support in rural areas can help inform differentiated policies to meet unique needs related to rurality. Future research may also explore the impact of workforce shortages on rural EI service provision.

Conclusion

Research focused on rural settings contributes to a broader understanding of how best to provide early intervention services, especially to young children and families who may be experiencing vulnerabilities. We call for changes in policy that provide funding and resources to focus on communityengaged solutions. These solutions must support those in traditionally underserved communities, especially children and families living in rural areas. As the findings of the current study suggest, the EI field must address the realities of serving rural families, ensuring that professional learning opportunities are available, and systems must consider issues relevant to rural families.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: The authors thank the research assistants who supported the work of the study, particularly Rachel Shaber.

Authors' contributions: Authors contributed equally to the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: No external funding was received to conduct this study.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Authors received internal board review approval from their respective universities.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Mehmet Toran through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

'So, this will do for you guys': A closer look...

References

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (2005). The bioecological theory of human development (2001). In U. Bronfenbrenner (Ed.), Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development (pp. 3–15). Sage Publications Ltd.
- Bruder, M. B., & Dunst, C. J. (2005). Personnel preparation in recommended early intervention practices: Degree of emphasis across disciplines. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 25(1), 25-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02711214050250010301</u>
- Bruder, M. B., Gundler, D., Stayton, V., & Kemp, P. (2021). The Early Childhood Personnel Center: Building capacity to improve outcomes for infants and young children with disabilities and their families. *Infants & Young Children*, 34(2), 69–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.000000000000191</u>
- Campbell, P. H., Chiarello, L., Wilcox, M. J., & Milbourne, S. (2009). Preparing therapists as effective practitioners in early intervention. *Infants & Young Children*, 22(1), 21–31. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.IYC.0000343334.26904.92</u>
- Collins, B. C., Leahy, M. M., & Ault, M. J. (2017). Guidelines for becoming a teacher leader in rural special education. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 36(4), 204-213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/87568705177320</u>
- Cornish, F., Gillespie, A., & Zittoun, T. (2013). Collaborative analysis of qualitative data. In Flick, U. (Ed.). *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis* (pp. 79-93). Sage Publications Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446282243.n6</u>
- Council for Exceptional Children of The Division for Early Childhood. (2020). Initial practice-based professional preparation standards for early interventionists/early childhood special educators (EI/ECSE) (initial birth through age 8). https://www.dec-sped.org/ files/ugd/95f212_4d9c51a4b6e54e67a2ba1df3541903da.pdf?index=true
- Cummings, K. P., Hardin, B. J., & Meadan, H. (2017). Understanding parental engagement in early learning opportunities for families in rural communities. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 36(3), 116–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/8756870517717951</u>
- Decker, K. B., Feigel, A. J., Foster, T. D., & Kepl, R. L. (2022). "Press on, continue on": Rural parents' experiences of transitions within early intervention. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 41(4), 197-210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/87568705221097080</u>
- Decker, K. B., Meldrum, J., Vaterlaus, J. M., & Foster, T. D. (2020). Parents' Part C experiences in rural areas: Alignment with recommended practices. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 43(2), 155–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10538.15120.953484</u>
- Division for Early Childhood. (2014). DEC Recommended Practices. https://www.dec-sped.org/dec-recommended-practices
- Division for Early Childhood. (2022). Position Statement on Ethical Practice. <u>https://divisionearlychildhood.egnyte.com/dl/KAh4cOFBZ8</u>
- Dunst, C. J. (2015). Improving the design and implementation of in-service professional development in early childhood intervention. Infants and Young Children, 28(3), 210-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.00000000000042</u>
- Dwyer, M. C. (2019). State of Maine needs assessment: Vulnerable children birth to age 5 and their families. https://www.maine.gov/doe/sites/maine.gov.doe/files/2021-03/FINAL%20Needs%20Assessment%201-6-20.pdf
- Early Childhood Technical Assistance Center. (n.d.). Child find for young children with disabilities. https://ectacenter.org/topics/earlyid/earlyid.asp
- Elpers, J., Lester, C., Shinn, J. B., & Bush, M. K. (2016). Rural family perspectives and experiences with early infant hearing detection and intervention: A qualitative study. *Journal of Community Health*, 41, 226–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-015-0086-1</u>
- Fleming, J. L., Sawyer, L. B., & Campbell, P. H. (2011). Early intervention providers' perspectives about implementing participationbased practices. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 30(4), 233-244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121410371986</u>
- Frazier, E. (2024). State Performance Plan/Annual Performance Report: Part C FFY 2021. https://legislature.maine.gov/doc/10772
- Hajizadeh, N., Stevens, E. R., Applegate, M., Huang, K. Y., Kamboukos, D., Braithwaite, R. S., & Brotman, L. M. (2017). Potential return on investment of a family-centered early childhood intervention: a cost-effectiveness analysis. *BMC public health*, 17, 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4805-7</u>
- Haring, K. A., & Lovett, D. L. (2001). Early intervention and early childhood services for families in rural settings. Rural Special Education Quarterly, 20(3), 3-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/875687050102000302</u>
- IDEA Infant & Toddler Coordinators Association. (2024). 2023 Tipping Points Survey: System Challenges and Opportunities. https://www.ideainfanttoddler.org/pdf/2023-Tipping-Points-Survey.pdf
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Public Law 108-446. (2004). 20 U.S.C. § 1400. https://sites.ed.gov/idea/statute-chapter-33/subchapter-iii
- Kids Count Data Center. (2023). Kids Count data profile: [state]. https://www.aecf.org/interactive/databook?l=23
- Kilmer, R. P., Cook, J. R., & Palamaro Munsell, E. (2010). Moving from principles to practice: Recommended policy changes to promote family-centered care. American Journal of Community, 46(3-4), 332-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-010-9350-9</u>

Deborah L. ROOKS-ELLIS & Christine M. SPENCE

- Longhurst, J. (2022). Developing, utilizing, and critiquing definitions of "rural" in rural education research. In Azano, A. P., Eppley, K., & Biddle, C. (Eds.), *The Bloomsbury handbook of rural education in the United States* (pp. 1–18). Bloomsbury Academic. https://doi.org/10.5040/9781350172036.0008
- McLean, C., Austin, L. J. E., Whitebook, M., & Olson, K. L. (2021). *Early childhood workforce index* 2020. Center for the Study of Childcare Employment. <u>https://cscce.berkeley.edu/workforce-index-2020/report-pdf</u>
- McWilliam, R. A. (2010). Routines-based early intervention: Supporting young children and their families. Brookes Publishing.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (2014). Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Rabbitt, M. P., Hales, L. J., Burke, M. P., & Coleman-Jensen, A. (2023). Household food security in the United States in 2022 (Report No. ERR-325). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. <u>https://doi.org/10.32747/2023.8134351.ers</u>
- Roberts, H., Needelman, H., Jackson, B., McMorris, C., & Munyon, A. (2014). Effect of community size on eligibility for early intervention for infants with a neonatal intensive care experience. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 30(3), 259–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12055</u>
- Showalter, D., Hartman, S., Eppley, S., Johnson, J., & Klein, B. (2023). Why rural matters 2023: Centering equity and opportunity. *National Rural Education Association*. <u>https://www.nrea.net/why-rural-matters</u>
- Singh, R. L., Moody, E. J., Rigles, B., & Smith, E. B. (2019). What it takes to raise children with autism in a rural state. Advances in Neurodevelopmental Disorders, 3, 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41252-018-0082-4
- Smith, J., Swallow, V., & Coyne, I. (2015). Involving parents in managing their child's long-term condition—A concept synthesis of family-centered care and partnership-in-care. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 30(1), 143–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pedn.2014.10.014</u>
- Spence, C. M., Rooks-Ellis, D. L., Brown Ruiz, A., Fish, L. A., Jones-Banahan, B., O'Grady C. E., & Sulinski, E. (2023). How early interventionists support families experiencing vulnerable circumstances: A closer look at family-centered practice. *Children* and Youth Services Review, 144, 106752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2022.106752</u>
- Thier, M., Longhurst, J. M., Grant, P. D., & Hocking, J. E. (2021). Research deserts: A systematic mapping review of U.S. rural education definitions and geographies. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 37(2). https://doi.org/10.26209/JRRE3702
- U.S. Census Bureau (2023a). Urban and rural. https://www.test.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urbanrural.html
- U.S. Census Bureau, (2023b). American Community Survey 5-Year Data (2009-2022). https://www.census.gov/data/developers/datasets/acs-5year.html
- U.S. Census Bureau, (2023c). 2020 Census Demographic Profile. https://maps.geo.census.gov/ddmv/map.html
- U.S. Department of Agriculture. (2024). Rural-Urban Continuum Codes. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-continuum-codes/documentation/</u>
- U.S. Department of Education. (2023). 44th Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2022. Washington, D.C. <u>https://sites.ed.gov/idea/2022-individuals-with-disabilities-education-act-annual-report-tocongress/</u>
- Workgroup on Principles and Practices in Natural Environments. (2008, March). Agreed upon mission and key principles for providing early intervention services in natural environments.

 <u>http://ectacenter.org/~pdfs/topics/families/Finalmissionandprinciples3 11 08.pdf</u>
- Xu, Y., Ahn, H., & Bright, C. L. (2017). Family involvement meetings: Engagement, facilitation, and child and family goals. *Children* and Youth Services Review, 79, 37–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.05.026</u>
- Xu, Y., Ahn, H., & Keyser, D. (2020). Measuring family-centered practice in child welfare. *Families in Society*, 101(2), 148–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/1044389420907742

Unintentional injuries at home and in the preschool setting: Greek ECEC professionals' and preschoolers' parents' knowledge and attitudes towards first aid

Konstantina Rentzou¹, George Daglas²

Abstract: Although safety of home and preschool setting is a key quality indicator of the two main environments in which preschoolers spend most of their day, most unintentional injuries during early childhood take place in these two settings. Thus, despite the frequency of accidents during early childhood, scarce research has explored both the epidemiology of childhood injuries and the knowledge and attitudes of ECEC professionals' and preschoolers' parents towards first aid. Acknowledging this gap in literature, the present study aimed at exploring 74 Greek ECEC professionals' and 213 preschoolers' parents' knowledge and attitudes towards first aid. In addition, the study aimed at mapping the most frequently occurring accidents both at home and at preschool, as well as the places withing these two settings where most of the accidents happen. Results of the present study indicate that although participants have positive attitudes towards first aid, and most of them have been trained in first aid, their knowledge of handling accidents and other health related issues is limited. In addition, the results showed accidents rarely happen at home and at preschool. The accidents that have been reported to occur take place during children's free play. The most common places where accidents occur are in the living room and the kitchen. The results highlight the need for frequent training both for parents and ECEC professionals, for intersectoral collaboration between health and education organizations to design interventions and for awareness raising campaigns.

Introduction

Maintaining and ensuring a healthy and safe environment is one of the key quality components of an early childhood education and care (hereafter referred to as ECEC) program. However, limited attention has been given to this aspect of quality both in Greece and internationally, even though unintentional injury rates highly among preschoolers (World Health Organization [WHO], 2008). Previous research from Greece reveals that ECEC professionals have not been adequately prepared to provide first aid during their initial professional preparation (Rentzou, 2020; Rentzou & Daglas, 2018). In addition, studies examining the quality of ECEC in Greece highlighted that in terms of health and safety practices the quality of preschool classrooms is rather minimal, whereas in infant/toddler classrooms the quality in terms of health practices is minimal, but rather good in terms of safety practices (Rentzou, 2011). Building on Aronson's (1992; cited in Gratz, 1994) argument that ECEC program quality can be maintained and improved by mapping health and safety conditions and emergent trends in ECEC programs, the present study aspires to fill the research gap related to the knowledge of and attitudes of ECEC professionals and preschoolers' parents towards first aid.

Unintentional Injuries During Early Childhood

Childhood unintentional injuries are among the greatest public health concerns, as along with child violence, they are the major killer for thousands of children every year (Góes et al., 2023; WHO, 2008). Thus, the injury burden is related not only to mortality but also to children's morbidity, as according to Vincenten

² Municipality of Nikaia, Early Childhood Education and Care Department, Agios Ioannis Rentis, Greece, e-mail: <u>daglasgiorgos@gmail.com</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0002-7542-8362</u>

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the <u>CC BY- NC- ND</u> license.

Article History

Received: 19 December 2023 Accepted: 21 October 2024

Keywords

First aid; Unintentional injuries; Knowledge; ECEC professionals; Preschoolers' parents

¹ University of Ioannina, Department of Early Years Learning and Care, Ioannina, Greece, e-mail: <u>krentzou@uoi.gr</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0692-7283</u>

Konstantina RENTZOU & George DAGLAS

et al. (2005, p. 183-184) "it is estimated that every day in the EU, not only do 14 children die due to injuries, but also 2240 are admitted to a hospital and another 28 000 receive treatment in an emergency and accident department. In 2001, a total of 4793 557 Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) was attributed to child injury deaths for children aged 0 to 19 years in Europe, accounting for 200 DALYs per 10 000 children overall and 156.28 DALYs per 10 000 children for the youngest, aged 0 – 4 years". The mortality and morbidity burden is higher among preschoolers, as children younger than 5 years are more likely to have unintentional injuries (Kahriman & Karadeniz, 2018; Kotch et al., 1993).

The increased rate of unintentional injuries among preschoolers has been attributed to various factors related to their developmental, physical, and behavioral characteristics (Calandrim et al., 2017; Góes et al., 2023; WHO, 2008). Physical characteristics that make preschoolers more prone and vulnerable to accidents and injuries include but are not limited to narrower airways, lower body mass, thinner and more fragile skin and the skull-body disproportion (Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Calandrim et al., 2017; Góes et al., 2023; WHO, 2008). Turning to developmental and behavioral factors these include but are not limited to preschoolers' lower motor skills, their curiosity and tendency to experiment and imitate behaviors, their innate desire to explore the world and to exert autonomy, their active lifestyle as well as their lack of fear and inexperience and inability to prevent dangerous situations (Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Bassam, 2022; Calandrim et al., 2017; Góes et al., 2023; Lee & Oh, 2018; WHO, 2008).

Given that preschoolers' time is shared between home and ECEC programs, these are the places where most of unintentional injuries occur during early childhood. Depending on the social and educational policy of each country, and whether children participate in ECEC programs or not, results about where most of the injuries occur, are inconsistent. For example, Kotch et al. (1993) found that of the 327 accidents, 146 occurred in homes, 149 occurred in or on the way to or from the childcare center, and 32 occurred in other locations. Li et al. (2012) also suggest that schools and playgrounds are the most common location for falls. On the other hand, other studies highlight that most early childhood injuries occur at home (Bánfai et al., 2015; da Costa et al., 2017; Nageh et al., 2020; Thein et al., 2005). Irrespective of the policies and of whether preschool aged children spent more time at home or at an ECEC program, it is apparent that parents and ECEC professionals are more likely to witness unintentional injuries. In addition, Kotch et al. (1993) report that the nature of injury does not differ substantially between injuries that have occurred at home and those that have occurred in ECEC programs. This substantiates the need for equipping parents and ECEC professionals with the skills and knowledge needed to treat injuries, that is first aid provision.

Yet, although the important role of parents and ECEC professionals as first aid providers is widely acknowledged research to date indicates that they both lack even basic first aid training skills. Specifically, as far as parents are concerned literature review highlights that although their quick and correct response during an injury can increase the chances of survival of the injured child and can limit disability (Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Anwar et al., 2021; Bánfai et al., 2015). Previous studies have shown that parents' first aid and accident prevention knowledge is inadequate. Turning to ECEC professionals, although most of them have witnessed injuries at the program (da Costa et al., 2017; Góes et al., 2023) and despite that fact that most injuries in ECEC require only first aid treatment (Li et al., 2012), ECEC professionals have been found to be insufficiently prepared to provide first aid (Ilha et al., 2021; Rentzou, 2020; Rentzou & Daglas, 2018) and they lack even basic first aid training skills (Góes et al., 2023; Lee & Oh, 2018).

The Present Study

Given the high percentage of unintentional injuries during early childhood, "in order to decrease the burden of injuries, it would be helpful to consider the changing risk of injury according to where young children are being cared for" (Kotch et al., 1993, p. 184). However, despite the fact that home and ECEC programs are the main settings where preschoolers spent their day, in Greece, the scarce studies which have explored educators' knowledge on first aid (e.g. Patsaki et al., 2012), have focused on educators working in higher education levels. On the other hand, Dimopoulos (2015) postulates that the limited studies conducted in Greece have aimed at assessing the level of knowledge among health professionals

and not among educators. In addition, in Greece we lack not only studies about the knowledge parents and ECEC professionals have on first aid provision, but also data on unintentional injuries during early childhood. The latest data available, to the best of our knowledge, indicate that between 1992 and 2004, we had 1593 deaths of children aged birth to 14 years of age. 874 of them were due to car accidents, 135 to drownings, 82 to fall, 47 to burns, 23 to poisoning and 423 to other not-known causes. Thus, it seems that 81% of children's accidents happen at home, while children were with an adult (Naftemporiki, 2021).

As it becomes apparent, although in other countries the epidemiology of childhood injuries has been well studied (e.g. Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Bánfai et al., 2015; Ilha et al., 2021; Kamel et al., 2014; Nageh et al., 2020; Yürümez et al., 2007), in Greece no research has been conducted with the aim to explore ECEC professionals' and preschoolers' parents' knowledge of and attitudes towards first aid. However, enriching the literature related to the epidemiology of childhood injuries and mapping ECEC professionals' and parents' knowledge and attitudes towards first aid and injury prevention is important for many reasons. First of all, as we have seen, childhood injuries occur in the main settings in which children spend most of their time. Therefore, it is important for parents and educators to have been trained in first aid as first aid knowledge and training and understand the importance of first aid training, they can have an active role in health promotion and accident prevention among children. Thus, when ECEC professionals acknowledge the importance of first aid training, they can play a significant role in sensitizing parents in accident prevention and first aid training.

Understanding the epidemiology of unintentional injuries during early childhood as well as ECEC professionals' and parents' first aid knowledge is also important as according to Góes et al. (2023) WHO, the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), and other organizations have pledged to make childhood injuries a global public health and development priority. Thus, it is recommended that policies, strategies, and action plans related to this issue are solid and include the implementation and dissemination of education and training programs on childhood injuries with health professionals. Furthermore, more research on this issue is important as it can reveal the need for training, technical assistance, or further resources both for parents and ECEC professionals, as well as the action that needs to be taken from education and health organizations. Finally, such research can give an insight into the factors that need to be considered to create safer environments for children.

Drawing on the above, the present study aspires to address this mismatch between the importance of the theme of unintentional injury prevention and treatment during early childhood and the scarcity of data. Specifically, the study aims at exploring ECEC professionals' and preschoolers' parents' knowledge and attitudes towards first aid, whereas at the same time it aims at mapping the most frequently occurring accidents both at home and at preschool, as well as the places withing these two settings where most of the accidents happen.

Method

Sample and Demographics

Data for the present study was collected in Spring 2023. Due to the exploratory nature of the study, the authors employed snowball and convenience sampling techniques. The total number of participants were 74 ECEC professionals, all of whom were females (100%) and 213 parents of preschool aged children, of whom 87.3% were the mothers of the children and 12.7% the father of the children. Table 1 presents the demographic information of the sample.

Demographics	ECEC professionals		Parents	
	20-29	2.7%	Less than 20	0.5%
Age group	30-39	20.5%	21-30	10.3%
	40-49	46.6 %	31-40	64.3%
	Older than 50	30.1%	41-50	24.9%

Table 1. Demographic information of the participants
	Post-secondary education	48.6%	High school	1.4%
	Technological educational institute -ECEC	36.5%	Senior high school	26.3%
Loval of advertion	University ECEC	4.1%	Post-secondary education	8.9%
Level of education	University kindergarten teacher	5.4%	University	45.5%
	Master	4.1%	Master	15.0%
	Other	1.4%	Other	2.8%
			High school	1.4%
			Senior high school	39.8%
Partners' level of			Post-secondary education	5.2%
education			University	38.9%
			Master	10%
			Other	4.7%
	Director	21.6%		
Position in the	Main educator	32.4%		
ECEC center	Helper	44.6%		
	Student-practicum	1.4%		
Years of experience	M = 18.66 (8.53)			
	Infant program	33.8%		
Type of program	Infant/child program	23%		
	Preschool program	43.2%		
	2-12 months	5.4%	Child 1	M = 5.02 (2.73)
	13-24 months	20.3%	Child 2	M = 3.28 (1.96)
Children's age	25-36 months	9.5%	Child 3	M = 2.75 (1.08)
	3-4 years	40.5%		
	Other	24.3%		
			1 child	34.3%
Number of shildren			2 children	53.5%
Number of children			3 children	11.3%
			Other	1%
			Child 1	57.7% boy
Children's gender			Child 2	48.6% boy
			Child 3	58.3% boy

Konstantina RENTZOU & George DAGLAS

*Note: Standard deviation in parenthesis

Data Collection

Data for the present study was collected via questionnaires, which have been developed by the first author of the study, after the literature review. The questionnaires were administered in a paper format. The first author created a questionnaire for parents and one for ECEC professionals. The questionnaire which was addressed to parents consisted of five parts. Part one included 12 questions which aimed at recording participants' demographic information. Part two included 11 questions which aimed at mapping participants' previous education, training and experience in first aid provision (e.g. if they have been trained in first aid, type and timing of training, reasons why they have or have not been trained in first aid, if they have provided first aid in the past, etc.). Part three, which was adopted by Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020), included four questions which aimed at collecting participants' attitudes towards first aid (e.g. to whom they believe first aid training is addressed, if they want to be trained further in first aid, etc.). Cronbach alpha for part three has been found to be 0.79. Part four included three questions. The first one aimed at exploring how often a list of accidents occur at home. A five-point scale, ranging from 1 = never to 5 = daily, was used to record the frequency with which accidents occur. Cronbach alpha for this part has been found to be 0.75. The other two questions, which were open-ended, aimed at mapping the main places in and outside the house, where most accidents happen. Finally, the last part included one question which aimed at exploring how well participants can handle a series of accidents/emergent cases. Specifically, a list of 51 accidents and emergent cases reported in first aid books was given to participants. Using a fivepoint scale ranging from 1 = no knowledge at all to 5 = very good knowledge, participants were asked to

rate how well do they think they can handle each of the 51 cases in case they occur. Cronbach alpha for the fifth part of the questionnaire has been found to be 0.98.

The questionnaire which was addressed to ECEC professionals had the same structure. Part one included 14 questions which aimed at recording participants' demographic information. Part two included 13 questions which aimed at mapping participants previous education, training and experience in first aid provision. Part three, which was adopted by Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020), included five questions which aimed at exploring participants' attitudes towards first aid. Cronbach alpha for part three has been found to be 1.06. Part four included two questions. The first one aimed at exploring how often a list of accidents occur at the preschool setting. A five-point scale, ranging from 1 = never to 5 = daily, was used to record the frequency with which accidents occur. Cronbach alpha for this part has been found to be 0.85. The second question, which was open-ended, aimed at mapping the main places within and outside the ECEC setting, where most accidents happen. Finally, part five included one question which aimed at exploring how well participants can handle a series of accidents/emergent cases. Specifically, a list of 51 accidents and emergent cases reported in first aid books was given to participants. Using a five-point scale ranging from 1 = no knowledge at all to 5 = very good knowledge, participants were asked to rate how well do they think they can handle each of the 51 cases in case they occur. Cronbach alpha for the fifth part of the questionnaire has been found to be 0.97.

Data Analysis

The data from questionnaires were imported into two separate Microsoft Excel databases, one for parents and one for educators. Then data were transferred to SPSS software (IBM corp., v. 23.0.0.0). Quantitative data were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Depending on the part of the questionnaire, results are reported either using frequencies or means and Standard deviations. In terms of the qualitative data, thematic and inductive analysis approaches were employed to analyze qualitative data. Thematic analysis is according to Davis & Dunn (2019, p. 247) a "foundational analytical method designed to identify, represent and report thematic patterns that occur within the data". In this study, frequencies of each code are reported.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University with which the first author is affiliated. Upon receiving the approval of the Ethics Committee, the first author submitted a request to the Municipality body responsible for childcare centers, in order to get a consent to administer the questionnaires to the ECEC professionals and the parents. Upon receiving the approval from the Municipality Committee, the second author of the study communicated with the principles of the preschool programs to inform them about the study. A general information letter and a consent form was provided to and signed by all participants. Both were providing information about the aim of the study, the voluntary and anonymous nature of the research, as well as their right to choose not to answer any questions, and to withdraw without penalty.

Results

Training, Experience in and Attitudes Towards First Aid

As far as ECEC professionals are concerned, the majority of them (90.4%) have been trained in first aid during their studies. 56.1% of them mentioned that the training they received was both theoretical and practical. Thus, 86.3% of them mentioned that they have been trained in first aid provision during their work. 69.8% of those who have been trained during their work mentioned that this training was both practical and theoretical and 96.9% mentioned that this training was offered by the organization for which they work, for free. As far as parents are concerned, 54.3% of them mentioned that they have been trained in first aid provision, mentioned that the training was both theoretical and practical and 74.5% mentioned that the training was provided by their organization for free.

Konstantina RENTZOU & George DAGLAS

When asked when was the last time they have been trained in first aid, the majority of ECEC professionals (56.5%) mentioned that they have been trained 2-5 years ago. 18.8% have been trained 1-2 years ago, 10.1% 5-10 years ago, 7.2% have been trained less than a year ago, and another 7.2% have been trained more than 10 years ago. Parents' responses about the time of training, on the other hand, varied considerably. 23.3% mentioned that they have been trained between 5-10 years ago, 22.4% that they have been trained less than a year ago, another 22.4% that they have been trained 2-5 years ago, 19% that they have been trained 1-2 years ago.

Of the 30 ECEC professionals who have not been trained in first aid provision, all of them mentioned that they would like to be trained, whereas in terms of parents 98.3% of them mentioned that they would like to be trained. As far as the frequency of training is concerned, 70.5% of ECEC professionals mentioned that they would like to be trained once per year, whereas 57% of the parents mentioned that they would like to be trained once per year, whereas 57% of the parents mentioned that they would like to be trained once per year, whereas 57% of the parents mentioned that they would like to be trained once per year, and 18.6% once every two years.

Participants were also asked to select the reasons why they have chosen to receive training in first aid. Figure 1 presents the number of ECEC professionals and parents who have selected each of the listed reasons for training.



Figure 1. Reasons why ECEC professionals and parents have selected to be trained in first aid provision

In addition, participants were asked about the reasons why they have not chosen to be trained in first aid provision. Figure 2 presents the numbers of ECEC professionals and parents who selected each of the given reasons.



Figure 2. Reasons why ECEC professionals and parents have selected to not be trained in first aid provision

In terms of participants' experience in first aid provision, 58.9% of ECEC professionals mentioned that they have provided first aid during their work. In terms of first aid provision in their family/personal life, 55.6% mentioned that they have never provided first aid in this context. On the other hand, 69.8% of participant parents mentioned that they have not provided first aid in their work and 57.5% that they have not provide first aid in their personal/family life.

Moreover, participants were asked to select the sources of information they use for issues related to first aid provision. Figure 3 presents the number of ECEC professionals and parents who selected each of the given sources of information.



Figure 3. Main sources of information for first aid provision related issues

Turning to participants attitudes towards first aid, 68.5% of ECEC professionals and 77% of parents, completely agree with the statement that training in first aid should be obligatory at school. In addition, 71.2% of ECEC professionals completely agree with the statement that training in first aid should be an obligatory course during university studies for educators/early childhood educators. Table 2 presents ECEC professionals' and parents' attitudes towards first aid, by reporting the responses (yes or no) that received the higher percentage.

Table 2. ECEC professional's and parents' attitudes towards first aid

Attitudes towards first aid	ECEC professionals	Parents
I believe that first aid is relevant only for health personnel or people who have a duty to help	No=94.6%	No = 92.9%
I believe that those who have children/those who work with children should know first aid	Yes = 58.1%	Yes = 55.9%
I believe that first aid is essential you never know when you will need them	Yes = 71.6%	Yes = 61.5%
I believe that first aid partially substitutes health care	No = 89.2%	No = 88.2%
I believe that everyone should know first aid	Yes = 67.6%	Yes = 87.8%

Frequency of Accidents, Places Where They Occur And Knowledge of Participants in Handling Health Related Issues

Participants were asked to report how frequently a series of accidents occur. Neither at home nor at the preschool settings there are accidents that occur either daily or weekly. At the preschool setting, fever was the only incident which was reported to taking place once or twice per month (M = 3.16; SD = .74). On the other hand, there were no incidents reported by parents as taking place on a monthly basis. Table 3 presents the incidents which received the higher ratings by parents and by ECEC professionals.

Incident	ECEC program	Home
Fever	3.16 (.74)	2.14 (.61)
Vomiting	2.82 (.75)	1.69 (.59)
Falls	2.62 (1.22)	1.89 (.90)
Stomachache	2.44 (.78)	1.71 (.63)
Bites	2.42 (.95)	1.66 (.73)
Injuries	2.42 (.92)	2.05 (.82)
Bruises	2.23 (.77)	2.10 (.84)
Rash	2.15 (.73)	1.60 (.58)
Headache	1.96 (.79)	2.11 (.94)

Table 3. Incidents that happen more frequently at home and at the preschool

* Standard deviations are reported in the parenthesis

In addition, participants were asked to name the places where the majority of accidents occur. As seen in Figure 4, according to parents, most of the accidents inside the house occur in the living room and in the kitchen. Turning to the places outside the house, where most accidents occur, according to parents 54.3% of the accidents occur at the playground, 19.4% at the park and 10.8% at the street. Other places reported include the school (4.8%), the yard (2.7%) and the square (2.2%). Turning to the places where most of the accidents occur at the preschool setting, according to ECEC professionals 35.6% of the accidents occur during children's free play, mainly free play outdoors and 35.2% outside at the yard of the setting.



Figure 4. Places where most accidents occur within the house

Finally, participants were asked to indicate the level of their knowledge of handling a series of health-related issues and accidents. Table 4 presents the results. As seen in Table 4, with limited exceptions

the level of knowledge of both parents and ECEC professionals is medium to limited for most of the incidents that were listed. Thus,0 ECEC professionals are, according to their answers, more knowledgeable than parents in handling each of the health-related issues listed.

Health-related issues		Parents		ECI		
	Ν	Mean	S.D.	Ν	Mean	S.D.
		Feve	r and Illness			
Fever	212	3.70	.998	71	3.97	1.02
Vomiting	213	3.32	1.02	72	3.79	1.07
]	Injuries			
Injuries	212	3.37	1.28	71	3.69	1.11
Falls	212	2.77	1.12	72	3.17	1.12
Sprain	213	2.46	1.21	71	2.65	1.13
Fractures	213	2.01	1.12	72	2.21	1.08
Tooth trauma	213	1.97	1.14	70	2.26	1.04
Head and neck injuries	212	1.79	1.02	72	2.14	1.06
Eye injury	212	1.77	.98	71	2.14	1.00
Dislocation	212	1.77	1.06	70	1.87	.99
Tooth displacement	213	1.69	1.09	72	1.75	.90
Spinal cord inury	212	1.58	.97	71	1.89	1.06
			Pains			
Headache	211	3.35	1.09	71	3.42	1.19
Stomachache	213	2.84	1.03	72	3.19	1.13
Tooth pain	213	2.77	1.16	72	2.83	1.07
Pain in the ear	212	2.53	1.15	71	2.73	.99
		Bites	s and stings			
Insect bite	213	3.31	1.06	72	3.65	.98
Bite / sting / contact with	213	3.10	1.12	70	3.30	1.06
marine creatures (eg						
jellyfish)						
Rashes	213	2.77	1.22	70	3.16	1.12
Animal / human bite	213	2.29	1.16	72	3.04	1.31
Snake bite	213	1.82	1.09	72	1.97	1.06
		Wound	s and bleeding			
Bleeding	213	3.07	1.04	72	3.65	.87
Bruises	213	2.99	1.18	72	3.49	1.08
Nose bleeding	213	2.70	1.16	72	3.56	1.11
Nose trauma	211	2.48	1.12	71	3.06	1.10
Tooth bleeding	213	2.11	1.20	71	2.46	.99
Bleeding from the ear	213	1.47	.93	72	1.71	.86
0		Effects o	of heat and cold			
Burns	212	2.78	1.15	71	3.08	1.01
Fire in cloths	211	2.38	1.25	72	3.21	1.64
Frostbite	213	1.93	1.14	72	2.08	1.18
Hypothermia	212	1.89	1.19	72	2.40	1.18
		Breathi	ng difficulties			
Choking	212	2.67	1.27	72	3.07	.98
Drowning	212	2.38	1.22	72	2.74	1.03
Asthma - difficulty in	213	2.10	1.18	72	2.44	1.07
breathing						
		Aller	gic reactions			
Allergic reactions	213	2.54	1.16	71	2.93	1.01
	L	oss and distur	bance of consciousr	iess		
Faint	213	2.49	1.18	72	3.00	1.10
Loss of consiousness	213	2.42	1.19	72	2.85	1.05
CPR	212	2.16	1.36	72	2.32	1.04
Convulsions	212	1.70	1.12	72	2.31	1.17
Use of an external	212	1.69	1.25	71	1.65	.89
defibrillator						
Shock	212	1.61	1.05	70	1.79	.96
		Р	oisoning			

Table 4. Parents' and ECEC professionals' knowledge of handling health related issues

Konstantina RENTZOU & George DAGLAS

Poisoning by ingestion of	212	2.18	1.12	72	2.44	1.01						
food or liquid												
Poisoning by toxic gases or	212	1.59	.97	72	1.99	1.55						
smoke												
Burns												
Heatstroke	213	1.94	1.16	72	2.44	1.09						
Electric shock	212	1.79	1.10	72	2.40	1.07						
Chemical burns	213	1.73	1.13	72	1.85	1.01						
Chemicals in the eye	213	1.50	.87	72	1.63	.91						
Lightning strike	213	1.39	.90	72	1.61	.81						
Foreign body												
Foreign body in the nose	213	1.81	1.01	71	2.35	.95						
Foreign body in the eye	212	1.79	1.02	72	1.99	1.01						
Foreign object in the ear	213	1.55	.88	71	2.11	.99						

Conclusion and Discussion

Although unintentional injuries during early childhood are a growing public health problem (WHO, 2008) and despite the fact that those injuries occur in the primary settings in which children participate, that is at home and at the preschool program, limited attention has been given to parents' and ECEC professionals' levels of knowledge of first aid provision. The present study, which is the first, to the best of our knowledge, in Greece aimed at exploring parents' and ECEC professionals' attitudes towards first aid, the levels of their knowledge of first aid provision, as well as the frequency of different types of unintentional injuries and the places where they occur more frequently. Answering those questions is of high importance as, according to Gratz (1994, p. 72), provides an insight about "how epidemiology provides information to create safer environments for children".

As far as participants' attitudes towards first aid is concerned, results of our study suggest that both parents and ECEC professionals have positive attitudes towards first aid. As in the study conducted by Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020), participants in our study also believe that first aid is not relevant only to health professionals and that everyone should know first aid. In addition, for those parents and ECEC professionals who have been trained the main reason for attending a training was the recognition that first aid training is essential.

Yet, in our study the percentage of ECEC professionals who believe that everyone should know first aid is considerably lower (67.6%) than that of the teachers who participated in the study conducted by Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020). The discrepancies on the percentages between our results and the results of the study conducted by Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020) are also true about participants' perceptions on whether first aid training should be obligatory at school and at the university courses. Although parents in our study seem to be positive about first aid training, confirming previous research results (Al-Johani et al., 2018; Bánfai et al., 2015; Thein et al., 2005), the percentage of parents who believe that those who have children should know first aid is relatively low (55.9%). Kamel et al. (2014) in their study found that 77% of participating mothers believed that mothers should know first aid. ECEC professionals who participated in the study also have positive attitudes towards first aid, confirming previous research results (Ganfure et al., 2018; Ilha et al., 2021; Li et al., 2012; Sönmez et al., 2014; Yürümez et al., 2007). Yet as with parents, the percentage of ECEC professionals who believe that those who work with children should know first aid is relatively low (58.1%).

In addition, results indicate that even those who have not been trained in first aid have positive attitudes as most parents and all ECEC professionals mentioned that they would like to be trained in first aid. The main reasons for which most parents and ECEC professionals have not been trained was that the have not thought about it, they do not know where they can find a course to attend and the lack of time. This result highlights the need for first aid training and other health community organizations to run campaigns about the importance of first aid provision and publicize further first aid training courses. In addition, a collaboration among health-related organizations and preschool programs would further enhance parents' knowledge both about the importance of being trained in first aid, as well as about

available training courses in the community. The importance of the first aid training and education programs is also highlighted by the fact that the majority of parents and ECEC professionals who participated in the study mentioned that they use those programs as a primary source of information about first aid provision related issues. Health professionals and social networks are also used by parents and ECEC professionals as a source of information. This result is in line with the results of the study conducted by Bánfai et al. (2015) who also found that first aid courses, the media and health professionals are the primary source of information for parents, whereas the importance of the social networks and friends/relatives has been highlighted by other studies too (e.g. Anwar et al., 2021; Kamel et al., 2014; Vincenten et al., 2005). On the other hand, other studies have found that the primary source of information are mass and social media (e.g. Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Al-Johani et al., 2018; Anwar et al., 2021; Thein et al., 2005; Vincenten et al., 2005). Turning to ECEC professionals, previous studies have found that their primary sources of information are health professionals, the media, health institutions and driving courses (Ganfure et al., 2018; Sönmez et al., 2014).

Turning to participants' training and experience in first aid provision, as far as parents are concerned the slight majority of them (54.3%) have been trained in first aid. Thus, for most of them the training took place between 2 to 10 years before the study run. In addition, according to parents most of them have not provided first aid at work or at home. Our results partly confirm results of previous studies, as in some studies the vast majority of parents have not attended first aid courses (e.g. Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Al-Johani et al., 2018; Bassam, 2022) whereas in other studies the majority of the parents had attended first aid training (e.g. Bánfai et al., 2015). Thus, as in the study conducted by Al-Johani et al. (2018) the training that parents attended had both a theoretical and practical component. Yet our results confirm the results of previous studies in terms of parents' knowledge to handle different incidents that require first aid provision. Specifically, the average score of parents' knowledge to handle the incidents that were listed is 2.28, that is little knowledge. Other researchers (Alhajjaj et al., 2021; Al-Johani et al., 2018; Bassam, 2022; Nageh et al., 2020; Thein et al., 2005) have also found that parents have improper knowledge regarding first aid provision.

Turning to ECEC professionals' experience and training in first aid, results showed that most of the participants have been trained and that training took place 2 to 5 years before the study was conducted. This finding aligns with the findings of the study conducted by Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020) and by Yürümez et al. (2007) who also found that the training that their participants received had taken place more than 2 years ago. Thus, for most of the ECEC professionals the training had a practical and theoretical component, and the training was provided by their organization. Previous studies however have found that the training that professionals have received was theoretical rather than practical (Yürümez et al., 2007). In addition, the majority of the participants have provided first aid either at home (55.6%) or at work (58.9%). Sönmez et al. (2014) and Ganfure et al. (2018) also found that most of the participants in their study confronted with a situation where first aid provision was required in their professional life.

However, despite the fact that the majority of the participants have been trained in first aid provision, the level of their knowledge in handling different situations is low to moderate (2.61). This result is substantiated by previous research results which have also shown that although ECEC professionals have encountered situations that required the provision of first aid they are not adequately knowledgeable to handle such situations (Abelairas-Gómez et al., 2020; Ganfure et al., 2018; Li et al., 2012; Yürümez et al., 2007).

Given that in Greece there are few data on children's accidents, the present study aimed also to map the most frequent types of accidents that occur at home and at the preschool setting. Fever, vomiting and falls have been reported as the three most common incidents that occur at the preschool program, whereas parents reported that the three most common incidents that occur at home are fever, headache, and bruises. Our results partly confirm previous results as according to other studies the most common types of injuries that happen during early childhood are falls, burns, drowning, chocking, cuts and wounds (Bánfai et al., 2015; Ellsäßer, 2017; Kamel et al., 2014; Nageh et al., 2020). Turning to the places where most of the accidents

Konstantina RENTZOU & George DAGLAS

happen, the living room and the kitchen are the most common places within the house, whereas the playground is the most common place outside the house. On the other hand, at the preschool setting most of the accidents occur outdoors primarily during children's free play.

Although the results of our study provide a picture of parents' and ECEC professionals' attitudes towards first aid, as well as about their knowledge and needs, it is important for future studies to address with larger samples these questions, as according to Abelairas-Gómez et al. (2020, p. 273) "it is necessary to establish "what the population knows" in order to identify "what it needs to learn" and determine "what" needs to be taught and "how". In addition, both the results of our study and previous studies are discouraging in relation to preschoolers' parents' and ECEC professionals' preparedness to handle unintentional injuries, despite the fact that they are so frequent during early childhood. It is highly recommended therefore for health and education organizations to cooperate (Góes et al., 2023; Sönmez et al., 2014) in order to establish a national mandatory first aid training program and in-service training programs which will aim at providing frequent trainings both to parents and ECEC professionals, in order both to enhance and to rephrase their knowledge. This is especially necessary for ECEC programs, as in Greece there are school nurses in schools from primary onwards but not in ECEC programs. Given that there are not health professionals in ECEC programs, and the high percentages of accidents during early childhood, it is important for at least one staff member to be certified in first aid provision. Providing new knowledge is not enough as first aid provision is a course offered by the universities that trained ECEC professionals.

The effects of training have been revealed by previous studies that have implemented intervention programs both with ECEC professionals and with mothers (Calandrim et al., 2017; Ilha et al., 2012; Kahriman & Karadeniz, 2018; Lee & Oh, 2018) and found that such programs enhance participants' knowledge and confidence to handle unintentional injuries and also their ability to identify safety hazards.

The fact that both in our study and in previous studies (e.g. Sönmez et al., 2014) participants have been trained in first aid but their knowledge was minimum has many implications both about the frequency of training as well as about the quality of the training. First of all, it is important to run frequent training courses in order for professionals and parents to gain confidence and to refresh their knowledge frequently. In addition, the quality of the training, either provided at school, at the university or by other organizations, needs to be carefully examined. Adult education principles and a practical component should be the main characteristics of the training. In addition, in order to be effective, the training should include, according to Sönmez et al. (2014, p. 244-245) "visuals, applications, question-answer techniques and methods and small group exercises".

The intersectoral cooperation between health and education organizations it is necessary not only for training in first aid but also for sensitizing both parents and ECEC professionals about the serious consequences of unintentional injuries during early childhood, as well as about safety precautions that need to be taken both at home and the preschool. According to Góes et al. (2023, p. 92) the goal is to "expand the specific actions of promotion, prevention, and health care, including the reduction of morbidity and mortality due to accidents in the context of early child rearing". In order to increase awareness about the importance of first aid training and safety hazards during early childhood, other types of interventions can also be beneficial. For example, television clips (Yürümez et al., 2007), mass media clips (Bassam, 2022; Yürümez et al., 2007) and counseling (Bassam, 2022) have also been found to be effective. Moreover, children's training in safety and first aid is also important as according to research results (e.g. Bollig et al., 2011) children as young as 4 to 5 years are able to learn and apply basic first aid.

To conclude; given the high rates of unintentional injuries during early childhood it is important to explore if parents and ECEC professionals have adequate knowledge to handle such injuries. The present study has revealed that both participants who have been trained in first aid provision and those who have not received training in the past have positive attitudes towards first aid and believe that first aid training should be addressed to the whole community and not only to health professionals. This finding is in line with previous research results. Yet, the results revealed that the percentages of professionals who believe

that everyone should know first aid are lower than in other studies. In addition, in Greece fewer parents and professionals believe that those who have children and/or work with children should have first aid knowledge, as compared to parents and professionals in other countries.

The study has also revealed that the reasons why participants have not been trained in first aid include that they have not thought about it, they do not know where they can be trained, and they lack time. Those barriers to first aid training highlight the need raise awareness about the importance of having first aid knowledge, especially among professionals who work with preschoolers and preschoolers' parents. Health related services and the Ministry of Health and Education could run campaigns to raise awareness. In addition, first aid training should be incorporated in curricula, across education levels. In order to combat barriers related to time constraints it would be advisable to provide training during working hours, in the context of ones' working place. In addition, given that the present study found that although the slight majority of the participants have been trained, they still have little knowledge on how to handle incidents that can occur both at home and at school, it is important to reconsider both the content and the frequency that it is provided.

Given that this is the first, to the best of our knowledge, study in Greece exploring the attitudes and knowledge of ECEC professionals' and preschoolers' parents towards first day, it is important to conduct further studies on this issue. Although the results of the present study give a picture of the epidemiology of early childhood injuries in Greece, the sample is small and the results cannot be generalized. Future studies should collect data from larger samples as well from different regions of the country.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: Konstantina Rentzou was responsible for the design of the research, for writing the article and analyzing data. George Daglas was responsible for disseminating the questionnaires and entering the data into the excel file.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: The research was self-funded by the authors.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Ioannina which the first author is affiliated. For more details see the 'ethical consoiderations' section.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Ibrahim H Acar through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

- Abelairas-Gómez, C., Carballo-Fazanes, A., Martínez-Isasi, S., López-García, S., Rico-Díaz, J., & Rodríguez-Núneza, A. (2020). Knowledge and attitudes on first aid and basic life support of pre- and elementary school teachers and parents. *Anales de Pediatria*, 27(5), 268-276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anpede.2019.10.005</u>
- Alhajjaj, F., Alseleem, H.Y., Alghebaiwi, R., Alqutaymi, A., Almatrouk, G., & Alshamikh, W. (2021). Knowledge, misconceptions, and practice about first aid measures among mothers in Al Qassim. *International Journal of Medicine in Developing Countries*, 5(1), 309–317. <u>https://doi.org/10.24911/IJMDC.51-1607865492</u>
- Al-Johani, A.A., Sabor, S., & Aldubai, S.A. (2018). Knowledge and practice of first aid among parents attending primary health care centers in Madinah City, Saudi Arabia, A cross sectional study. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 7, 380-388. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_64_18</u>
- Anwar, M.M., Mostafa, Z.M., & Elareed, H.R. (2021). Maternal knowledge and attitude about home related injuries in children under five years. *The Egyptian Family Medicine Journal*, 5(2), 91-105.
- Bánfai, B., Deutsch, K., Pék, E., Radnai, B., & Betlehem, J. (2015). Accident prevention and first aid knowledge among preschool children's parents. *Kontakt*, 17(1), e42-e47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.kontakt.2015.01.001</u>

- Bassam, S.E.A. (2022). Evaluate maternal knowledge and attitude regarding first aid among their children in Buraidah City, Saudi Arabia Kingdom (KSA). *Medical Archives*, *76*(3), 164-169. <u>http://doi.org/10.5455/medarh.2022.76.164-169</u>
- Bollig, G., Myklebust, A.G., & Østringen, K. (2011). Effects of first aid training in the kindergarten: A pilot study. Scandinavian Journal of Trauma, Resuscitation and Emergency Medicine, 19(13). http://doi.org/10.1186/1757-7241-19-13
- Calandrim, L. F., Santos, A. B. dos, Oliveira, L. R. de, Vedovato, C. A., Massaro, L. G., & Boaventura, A. P. (2017). First aid at school: Teacher and staff training. *Rev Rene*, 18(3), 292-299. <u>https://doi.org/10.15253/2175-6783.2017000300002</u>
- da Costa, S.N.G., da Silva, J.M.M., de Freitas, B.H.B.M, & Reis, A.F.C. (2017). Child accidents: Knowledge and perceptions of daycare educators. *Journal of Nursing UFPE on line, Recife*, 11(10), 3845-3852. <u>https://doi.org/10.5205/reuol.12834-30982-1-SM.111020</u>
- Davis, B., & Dunn, R. (2019). Professional identity in the infant room. Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 44(3), 244–256. https://doi.org/10.1177/1836939119855222
- Dimopoulos, G. (2015). Evaluation of primary education teachers' knowledge in first aid and CPR. [Unpublished postgraduate thesis]. University of Peloponnese.
- Ellsäßer, G. (2017). Unfälle, Gewalt, Selbstverletzung bei Kindern und Jugendlichen. Ergebnisse der amtlichen Statistik zum Verletzungsgeschehen 2014. Statistisches Bundesamt (Hrsg.)
- Ganfure, G., Ameya, G., Tamirat, A., Lencha, B., Bikila, D. (2018). First aid knowledge, attitude, practice, and associated factors among kindergarten teachers of Lideta sub-city Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *PLoS ONE 13*(3), e0194263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0194263</u>
- Góes, F.G.B, Braga, A.M., Souza, A.N., Soares, I.A.A., Lucchese, I., Dionizio, L.C., & Silva, M.A. (2023). Accident prevention in early child rearing institutions: An integrative review. *Early Child Development and Care*, 193(1), 83-94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2022.2057967</u>
- Gratz, R.R. (1994). Epidemiology in early childhood education. Early Child Development and Care, 102(1), 71-80. https://doi.org/10.1080/0300443941020105
- Ilha, A.G., Cogo, S.B., Ramos, T.K., Andolhe, R., Badke, M.R., Colussi, G. (2021). Educational actions on first aid for early childhood education teachers: A quasi-experimental study. *Revista da Escola de Enfermagem da USP*, 55, e20210025. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-220X-REEUSP-2021-0025</u>
- Kahriman, I. & Karadeniz, H. (2018). Effects of a safety-awareness–promoting program targeting mothers of children aged 0–6 years to prevent pediatric injuries in the home environment: Implications for nurses. *Journal of Trauma Nursing: The Official Journal* of the Society of Trauma Nurses, 25(5), 327-335. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/jtn.00000000000384</u>
- Kamel, E.G, Emam, S.A., & Mohammed, E.S. (2014). Knowledge, attitude and practice among rural mothers about Home-related injuries in a rural area in El-Minia Governorate, Egypt. *Science Journal of Public Health*, 2(6), 653-659. <u>https://doi.org/10.11648/j.siph.20140206.35</u>
- Kotch, J.B., Loda, F., Harms, T., Clifford, R.M., & Mc-Murray, M.P. (1993). Parents' reports of home and out-of-home injuries among children attending child care centers. *Early Child Development and Care*, 96(1), 183-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0300443930960115</u>
- Lee, J. & Oh, W.O. (2018). Effects of a first aid coaching program on first aid knowledge, confidence, and performance of child care teachers. *Child Health Nurs Res*, *1*24(3), 310-318. <u>https://doi.org/10.4094/chnr.2018.24.3.310</u>
- Li, F., Jiang, F., Jin, X., Qiu, Y., & Shen, X. (2012). Pediatric first aid knowledge and attitudes among staff in the preschools of Shanghai, China. *BMC pediatrics*, 12, 121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2431-12-121</u>
- Naftemporiki (2021, January 1). 80% of serious childhood accidents happen at home. *Naftemporiki*, <u>https://www.naftemporiki.gr/health/73976/to-80-ton-sovaron-paidikon-atychimaton-symvainoun-mesa-sto-spiti</u>
- Nageh, H.M, El-Raouf, S. AL. A, & El-Mouty, S.M.A. (2020). Mothers' knowledge and subjective practice toward most common domestic injuries among under-five children. *Mansoura Nursing Journal*, 7(1), 17-35.
- Patsaki., A., Pantazopoulos, I., Dontas, I., Passali, C., Papadimitriou, L, & Xanthos, T. (2012). Evaluation of Greek high school teachers' knowledge in basic life support, automated external defibrillation, and foreign body airway obstruction: implications for nursing interventions. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 38(2), 176-181.
- Rentzou, K. & Daglas, G. (2018). Are we ready for integrated ECEC Systems? Greek in-service early childhood educators level of preparation for implementing educare systems. *Global Education Review*, 5(2), 69-84.
- Rentzou, K. (2011). Evaluating the quality of care and education provided by pre-school centers. An approach by researcher's, educators' and parents' perspectives [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. University of Ioannina.
- Rentzou, K. (2020). "The vicious circle of ECEC dichotomy: How dichotomy in and focus of initial professional preparation programs preserve the segregation between care and education". In I. Jones and M. Lin (Eds.). Critical issues in early childhood teacher education: Volume 2 - International perspectives (p.p. 79-104). Information Age Publishing.

Unintentional injuries at home and at the preschool setting...

- Sönmez, Y., Uskun, E., & Pehlivan, A. (2014). Knowledge levels of pre-school teachers related with basic first-aid practices, Isparta sample. *Turk Pediatri Arsivi*, 49, 238-246. <u>https://doi.org/10.5152/tpa.2014.1581</u>
- Thein, M.M., Lee, B.W., & Bun, P.Y. (2005). Knowledge, attitude and practices of childhood injuries and their prevention by primary caregivers in Singapore. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 46(3), 122-126.
- Vincenten, J.A., Sector, M.J., Rogmans, W., & Bouter, L. (2005). Parents' perceptions, attitudes and behaviours towards child safety: A study in 14 European countries. *International Journal of Injury Control and Safety Promotion*, 12(3), 183-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17457300500136557</u>
- WHO (2008). World report on child injury prevention. Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Yürümez, Y., Yavuz, Y., Sağlam, H., Köken, R., & Tunay, K. (2007). Evaluation of the level of knowledge of first aid and basic life support of the educators working in preschools. *Academic Emergency Medicine Journal*, 5(3), 17-20.

A systematic review of studies investigating quality of inclusive preschool classrooms

Lisa Butterworth¹, Salih Rakap², Emrah Gülboy³

Abstract: Inclusion of young children with disabilities in early childhood settings that are primarily designed for typically developing children is a recommended practice. Although several reviews have summarized the literature focused on the quality of preschool classrooms in general, extant literature does not include a study that specifically summarized results of studies focused on investigating quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. The purpose of this systematic literature review was to identify studies focused on examining quality of inclusive preschool classrooms, determine characteristic features of these studies and summarize information about the overall quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. Twenty-five articles met the inclusion criteria and were analyzed using a 27-item coding system developed by the researchers. The findings reveal a lack of consistent reporting of classroom demographics and teacher characteristics across the studies. Furthermore, the review identifies inconsistencies in reporting practices related to the roles and training of individuals conducting classroom quality measures, raising concerns about data reliability and validity. Additionally, the findings suggest areas for improvement in instructional support in inclusive classrooms, calling for strategies to enhance teacher training and professional development. The results underscore differences in preschool classroom quality across countries, emphasizing the necessity for global efforts and tailored interventions to improve early childhood education quality.

Introduction

Inclusion of young children with disabilities is a recommended practice in early childhood (EC) and early childhood special education (ECSE) and legally mandated by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act in the United States (IDEA) (Individuals with Disabilities Education Act in the United States [IDEA], 2004; Musgrove, 2012). As a result of education policies and research findings supporting inclusion, the number of children with disabilities receiving educational and developmental services within the context of inclusive preschool settings has gradually increased over the years. According to the most recent annual report of the Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) to the Congress, the percentage of children with disabilities who spend at least part of their week in regular early childhood programs increased from 50% in 2009 to 64.7% in 2019 (Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services, 2011; 2021).

Similarly, increasing access to EC and ECSE has been a priority in the European Union (EU) since 1992. Over the years, various policy adjustments have been made at the EU level to achieve this goal. While early EU policies were linked to labor market needs, especially regarding employability and equality, recent efforts have focused on reforms aimed at creating high-quality, fair, and efficient education and training systems. In 2009, the EU Council launched a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training until 2020, with the objective of increasing participation in EC and ECSE for all

©2024 Authors. This is an open access article under the CC BY- NC- ND license.

Article History

Received: 22 January 2024 Accepted: 22 October 2024

Keywords

Inclusive preschool; Early childhood quality; Early childhood inclusion

¹ University of North Carolina at Greensboro, School of Education, Department of Specialized Education Services, North Carolina, USA, e-mail: <u>Inbutterwor@uncg.edu</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1608-0805</u>

² University of North Carolina at Greensboro, School of Education, Department of Specialized Education Services, North Carolina, USA, e-mail: <u>s_rakap@uncg.edu</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7853-3825</u>

³ Ondukuz Mayıs University, School of Education, Department of Special Education, Samsun, Türkiye, e-mail: <u>emrah.gulboy@edu.tr</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7802-6839</u>

individuals (European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education [EASNIE], 2017). By 2014, 32 million children in Europe were eligible for the EC provisions of the European Commission, with approximately 15 million needing ECSE (European Commission, 2013; EASNIE, 2017). To address this need, the EASNIE (2024) has made it a mission to facilitate access to EC and ECSE, particularly for the most vulnerable groups—children with disabilities, migrants, and children at risk. The Agency's efforts focus on supporting educators, providing access to resources, fostering interdisciplinary cooperation, and promoting parental collaboration. EASNIE also advocates for the accountable use of public funding and leadership models to ensure that EC and ECSE services are both high quality and widely accessible, focusing on the holistic development of every child (EASNIE, 2024).

Although there is not a commonly accepted or agreed upon definition of inclusion in the field of EC and ECSE, the Division of Early Childhood (DEC) and the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) described defining feature of early childhood inclusion in their joint position statement as (a) access, (b) participation and (c) supports. *Access* refers to children with and without disabilities being able to access all learning opportunities and environments of the early childhood program. *Participation* refers to teachers making the accommodations needed for individual needs of the children to encourage active engagement in the early childhood program. *Supports* refers to resources and professional development provided to form a strong system of support for children who need additional support (e.g., disabilities or at-risk children) and professional working with these children (DEC/NAEYC, 2009).

Inclusive education in preschool classrooms can be beneficial for children with and without disabilities. For children with disabilities, inclusive programs provide the environment to encourage social engagement with peers, social acceptance by peers and progress toward individualized education plan goals (Green et al., 2014; Odom et al., 2011). Several studies compared the progress children with disabilities made in inclusive preschool classrooms and separate preschool settings. Findings showed that children with disabilities in inclusive preschool classrooms showed greater progress in cognitive and communication development in comparison to those who were placed in segregated special education settings (Holahan & Costenbader, 2000; Lawrence et al., 2016). Children without disabilities also benefit from inclusive education. Research has shown that children without disabilities develop positive attitudes, empathy, and great compassion for individuals with disabilities (Diamond & Huang, 2005).

Success of inclusive practices in early childhood depends on several factors including environmental quality of the classrooms in which children with disabilities are supported along with their typically developing peers. Quality as it applies to early childhood does not have a universally implemented definition. One definition of quality is "a collection of measurable characteristics in the childcare environment that affect children's social and cognitive development (Siraj-Blatchford & Wong, 1999, p. 10)." Researchers such as Pianta et al. (2016) have provided dimensions of quality in preschool classrooms. Structural quality refers to the features and characteristics of a preschool classroom such as the hours of operation and the teacher's education and experience levels. Classroom environment quality refers to the activities and spaces indoor and outdoor in a preschool classroom including the learning experiences, furniture, and equipment. Quality teacher and student interactions occur on a daily basis and foster an environment for development to occur. Clifford et al. (2010) base their view of quality on the needs of the children; maintaining their health and safety, encouraging positive relationships, and stimulating their learning through experiences.

Research shows that children who attend high-quality early childhood programs achieve higher scores on standardized cognitive and language tests than their peers who attended early childhood programs with lower quality ratings (Burchinal et al., 2000; Cunningham, 2010). High quality early childhood programs provide children with developmentally appropriate curriculum and activities and employ early childhood teachers who are responsive to individual children's needs and understand how to meet these individualized needs. Early childhood educators in high quality programs are able to build stronger attachments with children and provide an environment that supports positive experiences (Vandell & Wolfe, 2000). Studies showed that inclusive preschool classrooms did not result in classrooms

with less quality. For example, Hestenes et al. (2008) found that inclusive classrooms had higher global quality than classrooms that did not enroll children with disabilities. Moreover, Odom et al. (2011) reported positive gains in cognitive, communication and motor skills for children with disabilities because of the individualized support provided in inclusive settings.

Numerous studies have examined the quality of early childhood classrooms. Several reviews of literature summarized the findings of these studies. For example, Aguiar and Aguiar (2020) reviewed 25 studies that focused on quality of early childhood programs that enrolled children from low socioeconomic status and at risk. Classroom quality in these studies were assessed using the Early Childhood Environment Rating Scales (ECERS) or Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS) scales. Findings showed that classrooms with lower quality scores did not meet the developmental needs of children from low socioeconomic status or minorities (e.g., Hispanic/Latino). Slot (2018) reviewed 72 studies and reported consensus in lower classroom enrollment providing better literacy and vocabulary skills and emotional regulation. Although several reviews (e.g., Aguiar & Aguiar, 2020; Slot, 2018) have summarized the literature focused on the quality of preschool classrooms in general, extant literature does not include a study that specifically summarized results of studies focused on investigating quality of inclusive preschool classrooms.

Purpose and Research Questions

The purpose of this systematic review is to identify studies focused on examining quality of inclusive preschool classrooms, determine characteristic features of these studies and summarize information about the overall quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. This review is guided by the following research questions:

- 1. What are the descriptive characteristics of the studies focused on examining the quality of inclusive preschool classrooms?
- 2. How was quality measured in the studies focused examining the quality of inclusive preschool classrooms?
- 3. What is the overall quality reported in the studies focused on examining the quality of inclusive preschool classrooms?

Method

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

In order for a study to be included in this literature review, it had to meet four criteria. First, the study had to be conducted in preschool classrooms that enrolled both children with and without disabilities who are between the ages of three to five years. Second, the study had to measure classroom quality as the main purpose of the study. Third, the article had to be published in a peer reviewed journal. Fourth, the full text of the article had to be available in English. Articles were excluded if they included classrooms outside of preschool range and separate data were not provided for preschool classrooms. Articles that included childcare homes or regular preschool classrooms with no children with disabilities enrolled were also excluded from the review. There were no date restrictions included in the criteria for inclusion or exclusion.

Article Search

The process to search and identify articles to include in this review was completed in two stages. The first stage included an online database search using a set of predetermined search terms. The databases used for the search included Academic Search Complete, APA Psychinfo, Child Development & Adolescent Studies (connecting with EBSCO), ERIC, Education Source, PubMed, Scopus, and SAGE. Combinations of the following search terms were used to conduct the data base search: early childhood, preschool, early child development, early childhood development, child care, childcare, special education, disabilities, disabled, special needs, inclusive, inclusion, classroom quality, program quality, quality

ratings, early childhood environment rating scale, inclusive classroom profile, classroom assessment scoring system, assessing classroom sociocultural equity scale, brief early childhood quality inventory, or developmental environment rating scale. In the second stage, a hand search of the reference and citation lists of articles that qualified for the current review was conducted. In this stage, the curricula vitae of researchers who conduct studies focused on early childhood classroom quality were also reviewed to identify additional studies.

Screening and Coding

As shown in Figure 1 (PRISMA flow diagram; Page et al., 2021), the two-stage search process described above yielded 427 articles. Once the duplicate articles were removed, a total of 184 unique articles remained. These 184 articles were screened using the inclusion criteria by reviewing the title and abstract. When it was not clear whether the study met the inclusion criteria based on the title or abstract, the full text of the article was reviewed. Twenty-five articles met the inclusion criteria. The studies were mainly excluded because they did not include classrooms serving both children with and without disabilities or age range of the children served in the classrooms were out of range. A coding form with 27 items was developed to extract data from qualifying articles. These 27 items were grouped under seven categories including purpose, setting (type of program), adult participants (e.g., role, education, experience), child participants (e.g., age, gender, disability), quality measurement tool(s) used, administration of quality measurement tool (i.e., credentials, training), and results.



Figure 1. Article search process flowchart

Reliability

Interrater reliability data were collected for screening of the articles based on inclusion and exclusion criteria and coding descriptive information from studies qualified for this review. For this purpose, a second researcher screened and coded 20% of the articles. Interrater reliability percentage scores were calculated using the following formula: (agreement/agreement + disagreement) x 100 (Kazdin, 2010). The interrater reliability coefficients were 99% for screening and 99% for coding. Cohen's Kappa coefficient

(Cohen, 1960) was also calculated as an additional measure of interrater reliability for the screening phase, and it was reported to be 0.94, indicating very strong agreement among raters.

Results

The 25 studies that met the inclusion criteria were published from 1993 through 2022. Four studies (16%) were conducted in the 1990s, 3 studies (12%) from 2000 to 2009, 16 studies (64%) from 2010 to 2019 and 2 studies (8%) from 2020 to 2022. Nineteen of the 25 studies (76%) were designed to provide descriptive analysis of inclusive preschool classroom quality while the remaining 6 studies (24%) compared quality of inclusive and noninclusive preschool classrooms. The studies were conducted in various locations around the world including 16 studies in the United States (n = 64%), 2 studies in Greece (n = 8%), 2 studies in Portugal (n = 8%), 2 studies in Spain (n = 8%), 1 study in Botswana (n = 4%), 1 study in Denmark (n = 4%), and 1 study in Türkiye (n = 4%).

Descriptive Characteristics of the Studies

Study Settings

All 25 studies identified the type of preschool settings in which the classroom quality was measured. Twelve studies included more than one type of preschool setting. Across the 25 studies, settings included private child care programs in 14 studies (n = 603), public preschool classrooms (located inside a public-school setting) in 11 studies (n = 744), preschool classroom in Head Start programs in 10 studies (n = 161), religious child care program in 2 studies (n = 44), university child care program in 1 study (n = 6), and developmental day program in 1 study (n = 13). In one study, the setting was identified as preschools (n = 1357), 1 study provided the type of preschool setting but did not separate the total number of settings into each type (n = 36) and 1 study only provided the type of preschool setting without reporting the total number of settings into each type. Table 1 presents descriptive characteristics of studies included in this review.

Attributes of Study Participants

Teacher Participants. Seventeen of the 25 studies (68%) provided data on the number of preschool teachers included in the studies (n = 2633). Six studies (24%) provided the mean ages of the teachers (M = 41.83). Ten studies (40%) conducted in the United States reported information about race of adult participants while six studies from the United States and studies that were implemented in other countries did not report such data. Six studies (24%) reported the race of the teachers in numeric form (Black = 251, White = 240, Native American = 2, Hispanic = 7, Latino = 1, Asian Pacific Islander = 3, Mixed Races = 4, Other = 1) while four studies (16%) reported the information in percentages (Black = 1.5%-50%, White = 49%-95%, Native American = 1%-2%, Hispanic = 1%-3%, Latino = 6%, Asian Pacific Islander = 10%, Mixed Races = 1.5%). Thirteen studies (52%) reported the gender of the classroom teachers (range = 93.8% to 100% female).

Six studies (24%) reported teachers' level of education in numeric form (high school = 59, child care credential = 96, associate's = 16, some college = 10, bachelor's = 182, master's = 79, not specified = 20) while nine studies (36%) reported this information in percentages (high school = 9.4%-70%, child care credential = 6%-30.5%, associate's = 11%-27%, bachelor's = 17.2%-100%, master's = 12%-75%, not specified=7%). One study (4%) provided a mean number of years in education for teachers (M = 15.18 years). Twelve studies (48%) reported a mean for teachers' years of experience (range = 5.64 - 22.74) while three studies (12%) provided a range for years of teacher's experience (e.g., 2 - 6 years = 18 teachers, 7-11 years = 23 teachers, 5-14 years = 10 teachers, 12-21 years = 6 teachers). One study (4%) provided whether teachers received any training or courses focused on inclusion (yes = 19 teachers, no = 28 teachers).

Table 1. Study Participants and Setting

				Educat	tors			Students				
Country	Setting	Total	Age (in years)	Race - Gender	Education/ PD	Years of Experience	Total	Age (in months)	Race - Gender	Disabilities		
Aguiar et al. (2019) Portugal	39 HS 5 PRI	44	48	N/A – 1 M	NA	22.74	222 (42 w/d)	63.75	N/A – INC: 90 M, 132 F, NI: 29 M	12 DD, 9 ASD, 7 OTR, 4 UD, 3 RD, 3 SLD, 2 DS, 2 MIN		
Aguiar et al. (2010) Portugal	64 PUB	N/A	46.81	N/A – N/A	N/A	INC:12.33, NI:22.67	1121	62.74	N/A – 594 M	403 DD, 280 ASD, 107 CP, 102 OTR, 71 MUL, 53 ADHD, 35 DS, 35 HEA, 35 SLD		
Bakkaloglu et al. (2019) Türkiye	13 PRI	47	25+	N/A – N/A	Training in Inclusion: 19 Yes, 28 No	2+	N/A	39+	N/A – N/A	12 ID, 11 SLP, 10 ASD, 9 PHY, 5 HEA		
Buysse et al. (1999) United States	115 PRI 38 REL 20 HS 7 PUB	180	N/A	N/A – N/A	INC: 9 HS, 33 CC, 11 BAC, 9 NA NI: 26 HS, 62 CC, 19 BAC, 11 NA	INC 7.65, NI 7.06	N/A	N//A	N/A – N/A	N/A		
Cadima et al. (2018) Spain	130 PUB 48 PRI	N/A	N/A	N/A – 99% F	12% MAS	21.18	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A		
Campbell et al. (2005 <u>)</u> United States	228 PUB	228	39.86	177 B, 50 W, 1 L – 224 F	56% HS, 11% ASC, 22% BAC, 6% CC	10.57	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A		
Chhabra et al. (2018) Botswana	34 PRI	N/A	N/A	N/A – 93.8% F	36% EDU, 31% CC, 17% BAC, 9% HS, 7% OTH	Range: 1 - 10	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	10 SLD, 10 TS, 3 CP, 3 DS, 2 ASD, 2 HEA		
Classen and Westbrook. (2022) United States	26 PRI, 2 HS, 6 REL, 6 UNV	83	N/A	45 B, 36 W, 2 MD – 83 F	7 MAS, 27 BAC, 15 ASC, 10 Some College 24 HS	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A		
Clawson and Luz. (2008) United States	7 HS 4 PRI	11	N/A	8 W, 1 H, 1 B, 1 O – N/A	7 MAS, 4 BAC	N/A	60 (30 w/d)	56.52	49 W – 24 M	40 SLD, 28 BEH, 16 PHY, 6 COG, 4 VIS		
Coelho et al., (2019)	39 PRI	39	49.49	N/A – 100% F	100% BAC	10.86	184 (104 w/d)	47.06	N/A – N/A	40 RD, 20 DD, 17 ASD, 4 CP, 3 DS, 2 SLD, 2 ADHD, 1 PHY, 1 HEA		

Spain										
File and Kontos (1993) United States	PRI, UNV	36	N/A	N/A – 35 F, 1 M	30% BAC	N/A	28	56	N/A – 24 M	14 COG/SLD
Fyssa and Vlachou (2015) Greece	52 PUB	96	N/A	N/A – N/A	95- BAC	N/A	93 w/d	72	N/A – 65 M	38 ASD, 26 DD, 15 ID, 13 NEU, 1 HEA
Grisham-Brown et al.(2010) United States	64 PRI 2 HS	59	N/A	INC: 16% B, 84% W, NI: 9% B, 2% NAT, 88 % W, 2% MR, – N/A	INC: 67% HS, 27% BAC NI: 50% HS, 54% BAC	NI 5.64, INC 6.38	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	42% SLD+MD, 24% PHY, 18% SEL, 3% COG
Hestenes et al. (2008) United States	1357 Pre- school	1357	N/A	Study 1: N/A, Study 2: 49% W, 50% B, 1% H – 72 F	Study 1: N/A, Study 2: 70% HS 30% BAC	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	Study 1: 658 SLD, 240 DD, 78 PHY, 52 OTH, 46 COG, 40 ASD, 27 BEH, 26 ADHD, 16 DS, Study 2: 11 ADHD, 11 SPD, 10 DD, 10 PHY 7 ASD, 3 BEH, 3 DS, 2 OTH, 1 COG, Study 2: N/A
Jeon et al. (2010) United States	54 HS 52 PRI	106	N/A	64 W, 22 B, 6 H, 2 API – 106 F	15.18	10.17	138	62.16	78 W, 34 B, 16 H, 10 O – 69 M	N/A
Keesbury (2015) United States	5 PUB	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A	N/A	34 (20 w/d)	N/A	N/A – 19 M	N/A
Kontos et al. (1998) United States	PUB, HS, PRI, UNV	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A	N/A	48	53.16	N/A – N/A	14 COG, 14 SLD, 8 PHY, 4 ASD
La Paro et al. (1998) United States	16 PRI 7 HS 33 PUB	N/A	NI: 36.38 INC: 39.66	INC: 79% W, 17% B, 3% H, NI: 69% W, 28% B, 3% H – N/A	INC: 62% BAC NI: 100% BAC	INC: 11.39NI:10.30	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A

A Systematic review of studies investigating quality...

Muccio et al. (2014) United States	9 HS	71	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	32%-56% B, 4%-42% W, 2%-4% AIP 3%-13% NAT, 29-36% MD, 5%-10%MR 7% O - N/A	N/A
Næsby (2020) Denmark	88 PRI	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A – N/A	N/A
Pelatti et al. (2016) United States	85 PUB 79 PRI	N/A	N/A	INC: 95% W, 2% NAT, 1.5% B, 1.5% AIP, NI: 62% W 21% B, 10% AIP, 6% L 1% NAT - INC: 99% F, NI: 95% F,	INC: 75% MAS, 25% BAC, NI: 37% BAC, 27% ASC, 18% MAS, 18% HS	INC: 11.6, NI: 8.44	1192 (96 w/d)	52	723 W, 272 B, 46 MR, 73 L, 78 O – 681 M	N/A
Soukakou et al. (2014) United States	13 HS 20 PRI 5 PUB 13 DEV	150	N/A	N/A – N/A	HS: 54% BAC, PUB: 100% BAC DD: 92% BAC, CC: 25% BAC	HS 13.62 PRI 12.85 PUB 5.60 DD 8.10	150 w/d	4.43	N/A – N/A	SLD; 38%, DD; 37%, ASD: 12%, OTR: 8% HEA: 2%, MD: 1%, PHY: 1%, VIS: 1%,
Stanton- Chapman et al. (2016) United States	10 HS	10	28.8	4 W, 4 B, 2 MR – 9 F, 1 M	4 MAS , 4 BAC, 1 CC, 1 ASC	Range: 5-14.	179	N/A	88 B, 56 W, 35 H – 91 M	14 SLD,11 DD, 11 ESL, 2 ASD
Vlachou and Fyssa (2016) Greece	52 PUB	96	N/A	N/A – 94 F	N/A	N/A	93 w/d	72.68	N/A – 65 M	38 ASD, 26 DD, 15 ID, 13 NEU, 1 HEA
Yeomans- Maldonado et al. (2019) US	83 PUB	83	N/A	78 W, 2 B, 2 NAT, 1 AIP – 82 F	22 BAC 61 MAS	12.66	670	52	438 W, 99 MD, 62 B, 30 L, 41 O, 436 M	N/A

Notes. Types of Programs: INC: Inclusive; NI: Noninclusive; HS: Head Start; PUB: Public School PreK; PRI: Private or Community Child Care; REL: Religious; UNV: University; DEV: Developmental Day Program. *Education Levels/Professional Development:* HS: High School; CC: Child Care Credential; ASC: Associates; BAC: Bachelors; MAS: Masters. *Total Children:* w/d: With Disabilities; *Race:* B: Black/African American; W: White; L: Latino; H: Hispanic; NAT: Native American; AIP: Asian Pacific Islander; MR: Multi-Racial; O: Other; MD: Missing Data. *Gender:* F: Female; M: Male. *Type of Disability:* ASD: Autism Spectrum Disorder; BEH: Behavior; COG: Cognitive Delays; CP: Cerebral Palsy; DD: Developmental Delays; ESL: English As Second Language; FMD: Fine Motor Delay; GMD: Gross Motor Delay; HEA: Hearing Impairment; ID: Intellectual Delays; MD: Multiple Disabilities; MIN: Missing Information; NEU: Neurological Delay; OTR: Other; PHY: Physical Delay; RD: Rare Disorder; SEN: Sensory Delay; SLD: Speech/Language Delays; TS: Turner Syndrome; VIS: Vision Impairment.

A Systematic review of studies investigating quality...

Table 2. Measurement of classroom quality

Reference/Country	Measure	Observer/Qualification/Training	Reliability (Frequency/IOA Score)
Aguiar et al. (2019)/Portugal	CLASS	4 certified independent observers; 2-day training; Trained to a reliability standard of 80%	
Aguiar et al. (2010)/Portugal	QuIEM	N/A	11% of classrooms; Mean IOA range across subscales = 91%-96%
Bakkaloglu et al. (2019)/Türkiye	ICP	N/A	IOA = 92%.
Buysse et al. (1999)/United States	ECERS	N/A	Mean IOA = 86% (range = 75% - 92%)
Cadima et al. (2018)/Spain	CLASS	2-day training; certification test; Reached reliability criterion (80%)	N/A
Campbell et al. (2005)/ United States	ECERS	14 observers; Trained to reliability using videotapes; Live observation with a trained rater for a minimum of three observations or until IOA of greater than 85% on each subscale was achieved.	N/A
Chhabra et al. (2018)/Botswana	ICP	N/A	N/A
Classen and Westbrook (2022)/United States	ICP	Formal level 2 reliability training with a certified ICP training team; Trained to a reliability standard of 80%	N/A
Clawson and Luz. (2008)/United States	ECERS-R	Two research assistants; 24 hours of training; Trained to a reliability standard of 85%	17% of observations; Mean IOA = 90% (range = 75% - 95%), mean kappa = .96 (range .82–.96)
Coelho et al. (2019)/Spain	CLASS	2 independent observers; Trained before data collection; Trained to a reliability standard of 80%	25% of the observations; Exact IOA = 67%, IOA within one point = 99.50%
File and Kontos (1993)/United States	ECERS	IOA prior to data collection = 94%	20% of the classrooms, Mean IOA = 94%
Fyssa and Vlachou (2015)/Greece	ICP	Formal ICP reliability training; 2-day training program	Mean IOA = 92.5% (range = 87.3% - 98.1%), mean kappa = .87
Grisham-Brown et al. (2010)/United States	ECERS-R	Observers were trained in ECERS-R	
Hestenes et al. (2008)/United States	ECERS-R	Trained evaluators; Extensive training; Trained to a reliability standard of 85%	Study 1: Met a minimum of 85% reliability. Study 2: Mean interrater reliability = 92% (range = 86%–98%)
Jeon et al. (2010)/United States	ECERS-R	Trained research assistants: IOA within one-point was at least 85%	N/A
Keesbury (2015)/United States	ECERS-R	Smart Start Evaluators	N/A
Kontos et al. (1998)/United States	ECERS	2 trained graduate students	Mean IOA = 93%, mean kappa = .86

La Paro et al. (1998)/United States	ECERS	3 observers were trained by watching videotapes and visiting classrooms; Trained to a reliability standard	N/A
Muccio et al. (2014)/United States	ICP	N/A	N/A
Næsby (2020)/Denmark	ECERS-3	2 certified observers were trained	N/A
Pelatti et al. (2016)/ United States	CLASS	2-day CLASS training; IOA of 90 % agreement with 6 master-coded videos.	Mean IOA = 92 %
Soukakou et al. (2014)/United States	ECERS-R ICP	4 Trained evaluators; ICP 3 hr. training and 4 hr. reliability observations; Met reliability standard of 85% IOA	Mean IOA = 98% (range = 91% - 100%)
Stanton-Chapman et al. (2016)/United States	ECERS-R CLASS	2 research associates and 2 master's students; Trained to a reliability standard of 90%	N/A
Vlachou and Fyssa (2016)/Greece	ICP	Research completed a reliability training	9.6% of the classrooms; Mean IOA= 92.5% (range = 87.3% - 98.1%)
Yeomans-Maldonado et al. (2019)/United States	CLASS	2-day training; Trained to a reliability standard of 90%	N/A

Note. INC: Inclusive; NI: Noninclusive; M: Mean Scores; PC: Personal care; FR: Furnishings; LA: Language reasoning; FG: Fine and gross motor; CA: Creative activities; SD: Social development; AN: Adult needs; SF: Space and furnishings; LE: Learning activities; IN: Interactions, PS: Program structure; PA: Parents and staff; ECERS: Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale

Child Participants. Fourteen studies (56%) included data for the number of preschool children enrolled in preschool classrooms. Eight of the fourteen studies (57%) included data that differentiated between children with and without disabilities. A total of 4258 preschool children participated in these studies and 628 had a disability. Child gender was reported in 11 of the 25 studies (44%). A total of 2187 males and 2025 females participated in these studies. Thirteen studies (52%) reported the age of the children. One of the thirteen studies provided the range of ages, and twelve studies provided the mean. Range of mean age reported across studies was 52 months – 72.68 months. Fourteen studies (56%) included data on the types of disabilities children had. Eight studies (28%) included children that were characterized as developmentally delayed or at risk for developmental delay. Other disability categories reported were speech and language delay (n = 12 studies), autism spectrum disorder (n = 11 studies), physical disability (n = 7 studies), cognitive or neurological delays (n = 7 studies), hearing impairment (n = 7 studies), Down syndrome (n = 6 studies), cerebral palsy (n = 3 studies), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (n = 3 studies), multiple disabilities (n = 2 studies), other disabilities (n = 10; for example, vision impairment, social emotional delay). Only 6 of the 25 studies (24%) reported data regarding the race of preschool children.

Measurement of Quality

Measures Used

Across the 25 studies, 23 (92%) used one classroom quality measure while 2 (8%) used two measures of classroom quality. Across the studies, four classroom quality measures were used: Early Childhood Environment Ratings Scale (ECERS; n = 13), Inclusive Classroom Profile (ICP; n = 7), Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS, n = 6), and Quality of Inclusive Experiences Measure (QuIEM; n = 1). Table 2 presents information about measurement of classroom quality across studies.

The original version of ECERS (Harms & Clifford, 1980) was introduced in 1980. As one of the initial measures of early childhood classroom quality, ECERS became a commonly used measure of quality during the 1980's. In 2005, a revised edition, ECERS-R (Harms et al., 2005) was introduced. The revised edition expanded the notes for clarification and combined or deleted redundant indicators. Examples of how to meet quality standards for diversity and inclusion were added to the notes for clarification. In 2015, a revised edition, ECERS-3 (Harms et al., 2015) was introduced. ECERS-3 revised the beginning age from 2 ½ to 3 years old. The teacher interview portion has been removed and an increased emphasis on language and math has been incorporated. Indicator 37, provisions for children with disabilities, has also been removed in ECERS-3. ECERS and ECERS-R have 7 subscales with a total of 37 and 43 items, respectively while original ECERS-3 have 35 items under 6 subscales. Each item is individually scored on a scale between 1 (inadequate) and 7 (excellent), with higher scores indicating better quality.

The QuIEM was developed by Wolery et al. (2000) to measure the quality of inclusive experiences in conjunction with other quality assessment tools. The QuIEM was specifically designed to address the quality of experiences for children with disabilities and comprised of 7 areas. The measure utilizes a 5-point scoring system, with higher scores denoting better quality. It is intended to assist in identifying areas where improvement is needed and to help guide program planning and implementation to enhance the quality of inclusive experiences for children with disabilities.

The CLASS is developed by Pianta et al. (2008) as an observation instrument that evaluate the quality of teacher-child interactions in center-based preschool classrooms. CLASS contains 10 dimensions under three domains: Emotional Support, Classroom Organization, and Instructional Support. Each dimension is rated based on a 7-point scale with a score of 1-2 meaning low levels of teacher-child interactions and 6-7 meaning the teacher and child interactions occurred consistently.

The ICP is a structured observation rating scale designed to evaluate the quality of provisions and daily practices that support the developmental needs of children with disabilities in early childhood settings serving children ages 2–5. The scale was developed to complement other scales that measure classroom quality (Soukakou, 2012). The ICP contains 12 key practices/items. Each item on the ICP is rated using a 7-point rating scale ranging from 1 (practices considered highly inadequate for promoting

children's active participation in the group and meeting their individual needs) to 7 (practices that promote to the highest degree children's active participation in the group through individualized supports).

Observer Characteristics

Seven studies (28%) of the 25 reported who and how many observers were included. These included 5 research assistants in 3 studies, 4 ttained evaluators in 1 study, 4 graduate students in 2 studies, and 2 authors in 2 studies. In 5 studies (20%), researchers reported employing 25 independent observers (e.g., doctoral students, researchers, trained observers) for data collection. However, they did not specify the role or credentials of these observers. Three of the 25 studies (12%) included who the observers were but did not include how many. Ten studies (40%) did not specify who or how many observers were employed.

Observer Training

Nineteen of the 25 studies (76%) reported that the observers were trained prior to collecting data for the study. Of these 19 studies, 18 studies (72%) reported that the observers met a required reliability criteria before collecting data. Twelve of the studies (48%) reported the reliability criterion required for observers to become a reliable observer during the training (range = 80% - 90%).

Reliability of Classroom Quality Ratings

Interobserver agreement (IOA) reliability data was reported in 14 of 25 studies (56%). The mean IOA ranged between 86% - 99.5% across the 14 studies. Five of the 25 studies (20%) reported the percentage of classrooms in which the IOA reliability data were collected (range = 9.6% - 25%).

Classroom Quality Reported

As noted earlier, the quality of inclusive classrooms was evaluated using four measures including ECERS measures, ICP, CLASS, and QuIEM. Results obtained from each measure were presented separately in the following section.

ECERS, ECER-R and ECERS-3

As seen in Table 3, 13 studies used a version of the ECERS as the measurement tool. This includes five studies using ECERS (Harms & Clifford, 1980), seven studies using ECERS-R (Harms et al., 2005) and one study using ECERS-3 (Harms et al., 2015). Of the five studies using ECERS (Harms & Clifford, 1980), three studies reported an overall mean score for all ECERS subscales combined (range = 4.51-4.8) and two studies reported individual mean subscale scores (range of mean scores across studies; Personal Care = 3.25 - 4.72, Furnishings = 3.28 - 4.41, Language Reasoning = 2.9 - 4.38, Fine/Gross Motor = 3.44 - 4.64, Creative Activities = 2.98 - 4.45, Social Development = 2.83 - 3.99, and Adult Needs = 3.5 - 4.49)

Of the seven studies using ECERS-R (Harms et al., 2005), four reported overall mean scores (range = 4.52 - 5.45) as well as individual subscale scores (range across studies; Space and Furnishings = 4.68 - 5.02, Personal Care Routines = 2.88 - 4.58, Language and Literacy = 4.66 - 5.81, Learning Activities = 4.18 - 5.29, Interactions = 5.29 - 6.18, Program Structure = 49.94 - 5.99, Parents and Staff = 5.44 - 6.13). One study only reported the overall mean score (M = 5.16). One study reported individual subscale means only and provided them for four subscales (Language and Literacy = 5.50, Learning Activities = 4.19, Interactions = 5.38, Program Structure = 5.55). The last study using ECERS-R (Harms et al., 2005) reported overall mean scores obtained from ECERS-R based on the type of child care programs ($M_{Head Start} = 4.95$, $M_{Child Care} = 4.58$, $M_{Public PreK} = 5.14$, $M_{Developmental Day} - 5.31$, and $M_{Overall} = 4.92$). One study using ECERS-3 (Harms et al., 2015) reported findings as individual mean subscale scores. This included Space and Furnishings = 2.97, Personal Care Routines = 2.56, Language and Literacy = 3.3, Learning Activities = 2.14, Interactions = 4.46, and Program Structure = 4.04).

A Systematic review of studies investigating quality...

Table 3. Early childhood environment	t rating scale mear	n scale and subsca	le/indicator scores (SD)								
				ECERS								
Reference/Country/n	М	PC	FR	LA	FG	CA	SD	AN				
Buysse et al. (1999)/United States/ n = 180	N/A	INC = 4.72 (.87), NI = 1 (.87), AI = 4	NC = 4.41 (.78), NI = .13 (.79)	INC = 4.38 (1.02) NI = 3.99 (.93)	INC = 4.64 (.62) NI = 4.45 (.49)	INC = 4.45 (.82) NI = 4.24 (.62)	INC = 3.99 (1.01) NI = 3.61 (.78)	INC = 4.49 (1.06) NI = 4.08 (.94)				
Campbell et al. (2005)/United States/ n = 228	N/A	3.25 (range = 1.8-7.0) 3	28 (range 1.0-7.0)	2.9 (range 1.0- 7.0)	3.44 (range 1.4- 5.0)	2.98 (range 1.0- 6.14)	2.83 (range 1.0- 6.67)	3.50 (range 1.5- 6.5)				
File and Kontos (1993)/United States/n = 36	4.51 (.70)											
Kontos et al. (1998)/United States; n = N/A	4.8											
La Paro et al. (1998) United States; n = N/A	INC = 4.77 (.83) NI = 4.68 (.60)											
ECERS-R												
M SF PC LA LE IN PS PA												
Clawson and Luz. (2008) United States; n = 11	N/A	N/A	N/A	5.50 (1.30)	4.19 (0.88)	5.38 (1.51)	5.55 (1.34)	N/A				
Grisham-Brown et al. (2010), United States; n = 59	INC = 4.74 (.9) NI = 3.93 (.95)	INC = 4.79 (1.03 NI = 4.05 (.99)	3) INC = 2.88 (1.29) NI = 2.62 (1.09)	INC = 5.00 (1.13) NI = 4.40 (1.3)	INC = 4.70 (1.67) NI = 3.33 (1.19)	INC = 5.64 (1.15) NI = 5 (1.4)	INC = 5.68 (1.3) NI = 3.73 (1.17)	INC = 5.44 (.96) NI = 4.96 (1.2)				
Hestenes et al. (2008) United States; n = 1357	Study 1; INC: 5.19, NI: 4.90, Study 2; INC: 4.68, NI: 4.19	Study 1; IN0 5.02, NI: 4.91 Study 2: IN0 4.88, NI: 4.38	 2: Study 1; INC: 3.97, NI: 3.8, 2: Study 2; INC: 4.58, NI: 3.71 	Study 1; INC; 5.62, NI; 5.30, Study 2: INC: 4.66, NI: 4.11	Study 1; INC: 5.29, NI: 5.02, Study 2: INC: 4.18, NI: 4.06	Study 1; INC: 5.86, NI: 5.45, Study 2: INC: 5.29, NI: 4.38	Study 1; INC: 5.88, NI: 5.56, Study 2: INC: 4.94, NI: 4.79	Study 1; N/A, Study 2; N/A				
Jeon et al. (2010) United States; n = 106	INC = 4.52 (.78) NI = 3.71 (1.22)	N/A	N/A	INC = 5.81 (.82) NI = 4.49 (1.51)	INC = 4.41 (.83) NI = 3.83 (1.10)	INC = 5.92 (1.22) NI = 5.18 (1.49)	INC = 5.66 (1.66) NI = 4.83 (1.88)	N/A				
Keesbury (2015) United States; n = N/A	5.45	4.68	4.45	5.69	5.16	6.18	5.99	6.13				
			E	ECERS-3								
Næsby (2020) Denmark; n = N/A	N/A	2.97	2.56	3.3	2.14	4.46	4.04	N/A				
Soukakou et al. (2014) United States; $n = 148$	4.92											
Stanton-Chapman et al. (2016) United States; n = 10	5.16											

Note. INC:Inclusive; NI: Noninclusive; M: Mean Scores; PC: Personal care; FR: Furnishings; LA: Language reasoning; FG: Fine and gross motor; CA: Creative activities; SD: Social development; AN:

Adult needs; SF:Space and furnishings; LE: Learning activities; IN: Interactions; PS: Program structure; PA: Parents and staff; ECERS: Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale

Reference/ Country/n	М	Key practice/Item											
		AS	AI	AG	CR	ME	RE	SC	AD	TR	FE	FO	МО
Bakkaloglu et al. (2019)	N/A	3.38 (.67)	1.80 (.61)	2.02 (.76)	.08	2.19 (.77)	2.46 (.85)	1.72	2.02	2.02	1.87	1.00	1.21
Türkiye; n = 47					(.35)			(.53)	(1.52)	(.14)	(.49)	(.00)	(.41)
Chhabra et al. (2018)	N/A	4.38 (1.0)	4.48)	3.71 (1.0)	3.81 (1.3)	4.19 (.91)	4.46 (.67)	4.62	5.04 (.93)	4.46 (.80)	4.33	2.91 (.70)	4.29 (.67)
Botswana; n = N/A			(1.34)					(.80)			(1.09)		
Classen and Westbrook (2022)	N/A	4.93	3.14	3.36	N/A	3.19	3.39	2.87	3.72	2.23	3.08	1.60	2.17 (1.15)
United States; n = 83		(1.67)	(1.67)	(1.32)		(1.56)	(1.48)	(.947)	(1.58)	(1.33)	(1.24)	(1.33)	
Fyssa and Vlachou (2015)	N/A	3.69	2.73	2.96	1.33	2.58	3.37	2.88	2.73	2.73	3.17	N/A	1.17 (.55)
Greece; $n = 96$		(1.50)	(1.50)	(1.73)	(0.51)	(1.58)	(1.14)	(1.42)	(1.54)	(1.54)	(1.25)		
Muccio et al. (2014)	N/A	4.89 (.6)	4	4.38 (.92)	4.44 (.73)	4.67 (.87)	4.78	4.44	5	5.22 (.97)	4.78 (.97)	N/A	N/A
United States; n = 71			(.87)				(1.09)	(1.13)	(1.5)				
Vlachou and Fyssa (2016)	NA	3.69	2.73 (1.4)	2.96	N/A	.58 (1.58)	3.37	2.88	2.73	2.92	3.17	N/A	N/A
Greece; n = 96		(1.5)		(1.73)			(1.14)	(1.42)	(1.54)	(1.45)	(1.25)		
Soukakou et al. (2014)	Mean: C	verall (4.39),	Head Start (4	4.64), Child (Care (3.67), P	ublic PreK (4	.76), Develop	mental Da	y (5.12)				
United States: n = 148			,		. //	`	, I						

Table 4. Inclusive classroom profile mean scale and item scores (SD)

Note. M: Mean Scores; AS: Adapt space; AI: Adult involved-Interaction; AG: Adult guide play; CR: Conflict resolution; ME: Membership;, RE: Relation between adults/ children; SC: Support communication; AD: Adaptation of group activities; TR: Transition between activities; FE: Feedback; FP: Family-professional partnership; MO: Monitor child learning.

Table 5 Classroor	n assessment scoring system	mean scale and domain	dimension scores	(SD)
1 abie 5. Classiool	ii assessment scornig system	mean scale and doman	quinchision scores	(DD)

Reference/ Country/n	М	Emotional Support			Classroom Organization			Instructional Support			
		POS	NEG	TSE	RFS	BEH	PRO	ILF	COD	QOF	LMO
Aguiar et al. (2019)	N/A		medium quality			medium quality		low quality			
Portugal; n = 44											
Cadima et al. (2018)	N/A	4.84	1.52	4.36 (1.12)	4.24 (1.12)	4.69 (1.08)	5.19 (0.84)	4.13 (0.99)	2.02	2.28	2.51 (1.01)
Spain; $n = N/A$		(1.01)	(0.60)						(0.87)	(0.91)	
Coelho et al. (2019)	N/A			4.83			3.97			2.4	18
Spain; n = 39				(.65)			(.65)			(.7	0)
Pelatti et al. (2016)	N/A		Inclus	sive: 5.20 (.64)		Ine	clusive: 4.62 (.	64)		Inclusive:	2.19 (.54)
United States; $n = N/A$			Non-Inc	lusive: 4.91 (.88	3)	Non-	Inclusive: 4.38	8 (.86)		Non-Inclusiv	ve: 3.86 (.97)
Stanton-Chapman et al. (2016)	5.16			N/A			4.67			2.9	95
Unites States; n = 10											
Yeomans-Maldonado et al. (2019)	5.23	5.23 (1)	1.35	4.68 (.99)	4.11	N/A	N/A	N/A	2.18 (.76)	2.23	2.11 (.80)
United States; n = 83	(1)		(.46)		(.99)					(.81)	

Note. M: Mean; POS: Positive Climate; NEG: Negative Climate; TSE: Teacher Sensitivity; RFS: Regard for Student Perspective; BEH: Behavior Management; PRO: Productivity; ILF: Instructional Learning Formats; COD: Concept Development; QOF: Quality of Feedback; LMO: Language Modeling.

ICP

As illustrated in Table 4, seven studies used the **ICP** as the measurement tool to assess quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. Of the seven studies, six reported individual mean subscale scores. The range of mean subscale scores reported across studies were Adaptation of Space and Materials = 3.38 - 4.93, Adult Involvement in Peer Interactions = 1.8 - 4.48, Adult's Guidance of Children's Play = 2.02 - 4.38, Conflict Resolution = .08 - 4.44, Membership = 2.19 - 4.67, Relationships Between Adults and Children = 2.46 - 4.78, Support for Communication = 1.72 - 4.62, Adaptation of Group Activities = 2.02 - 5.04, Transitions Between Activities = 2.02 - 5.22, Feedback = 1.87 - 4.78, Family Professional Partnership = 1.0 - 2.91, Monitoring Children's Learning = 1.17 - 4.29. Of the seven studies using the ICP, one study reported overall mean scores obtained from ICP based on the type of child care programs ($M_{Head Start} = 4.64$, $M_{Child Care} = 3.67$, $M_{Public PreK} = 4.76$, $M_{Developmental Day} = 5.12$, and $M_{Overall} = 4.39$).

CLASS

As presented in Table 5, six studies used CLASS as the measurement tool to evaluate preschool classroom quality. Across the six studies, three studies reported mean domain scores (range of mean scores across studies; Emotional Support = 4.83-4.91, Classroom Organization = 3.97-4.67, and Instructional Support = 2.48-3.86). Two studies reported mean dimension scores for 7 of the 10 dimensions (range of mean scores across studies; Positive Climate = 4.8 - 5.23, Negative Climate = 1.35 - 1.5, Teacher Sensitivity = 4.36 - 4.68, Regard for Student Perspectives = 4.11 - 4.24, Concept Development = 2.02 - 2.18, Quality of Feedback = 2.23 - 2.28, and Language Modeling = 2.11 - 2.51). One of these studies provided mean dimension scores for the three remaining dimensions while the other did not (Behavior Management = 4.69, Productivity = 5.19, Instructional Learning Formats = 4.13). One study did not report accrual mean scores obtained from CLASS but categorized scores as range (Classroom Organization – medium range, Emotional Support – medium range, Instructional Support – low range).

QuIEM

One study used the QuIEM and reported mean scores for each area. The mean area scores were 65.94 for Program Goals and Purpose, 86.99 for Staff Supports and Perceptions, 16.86 for Accessibility/Physical Movement, 28.66 for Individualization, 90.72 for Children's Participation and Engagement, 39.06 for Adult to Child Contacts, and 53.16 for Child to Child Contacts.

Discussion

The purpose of this systematic review was to identify studies focused on examining quality of inclusive preschool classrooms, determine characteristic features of these studies and summarize information about the overall quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. Twenty-five articles met the inclusion criteria and were analyzed using a 27-item coding system developed by the researcher. In the following sections, I discuss the findings of the present study with respect to each research question, describe limitations of the present review, and offer implications for future research.

Descriptive Characteristics

Across the 25 studies, there was not a consistent method of reporting classroom demographics including characteristics of early care providers or preschool teachers. The majority of the studies reported the type of preschool classroom. However, some of the studies did not specify the type of preschool classroom and only referred to the data as occurring in preschool classrooms. Limited data in relation to early care providers' or preschool teachers' demographics were reported across the studies including age, years of experience or training on inclusion. Racial demographics were only provided in studies conducted in the United States. The majority of the teachers in the studies identified as white or Black females which is consistent with the demographics of early child care providers in the United States (Whitebook et al., 2018). The limited data on the classroom characteristics and demographics of early care providers or preschool teachers, is a significant limitation in understanding the characteristics of teachers who are

successful in promoting high-quality inclusive classrooms. Moreover, it limits the generalizability of the findings to larger populations. The EASNIE (2014) highlighted the importance of addressing the diverse needs of teachers and ensuring equitable representation in early childhood education settings to improve inclusive practices. Future studies should provide detailed information on classroom characteristics, such as the type of the classroom (inclusive versus non-inclusive), the size of the classroom and consider including more detailed information on the demographics and qualifications of teachers, which could provide valuable insights for developing effective professional development programs for teachers in relation to improving classroom quality.

Measurement of Classroom Quality

Earlier studies investigating preschool classroom quality used CLASS, ECERS, and ECERS-R, measures designed to evaluate general preschool classroom quality. The provision of children with disabilities in these measures is limited as they were not specifically designed to assess the quality of inclusive classrooms. While these measures do include some items related to the provision of services for children with disabilities, they may not capture the full range of practices needed to create high quality inclusive environments. For example, the ECERS-R includes items related to the provision of specialized equipment and materials for children with disabilities but does not assess the extent to which children with disabilities are actively engaged in classroom activities and routines or involved in peer interactions. As a result of these limitations, researchers have developed measures that are specifically designed to evaluate the quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. One such measure is the Inclusive Classroom Profile which has been used in seven more recent studies included in this review to assess the quality of inclusive early childhood settings.

Fifteen studies reported some information about individuals who conducted classroom quality measures. This includes roles/credentials and number of observers. Nineteen studies specified that observers were trained prior to data collection for the study but training procedures or trainers' credentials were rarely described. These inconsistent reporting practices make it difficult to evaluate whether observers were trained to use these observational measures using valid training procedures by trainers who were qualified to provide training. For example, if ECERS is being used as a high stakes assessment, the training must come from an authorized trainer, which is currently the authors. Environment Rating Scale Institute (ERSI) does acknowledge that agencies may be using unauthorized trainers which can result in unrealistic scores for programs (Environment Rating Scale Institute [ERSI], n. d.), which may also be true for research studies.

Interobserver agreement (IOA) reliability data was only reported in 14 studies. The studies had a broad range of acceptable IOA percentages ranging between 86% to 99.5%. Eleven studies did not report that they met any IOA standards in their studies. The lack of reporting of IOA in observational research is problematic as it raises questions about the reliability and validity of the data collected. IOA is a measure of the extent to which multiple observers agree on the occurrence or non-occurrence of a behavior or event and is crucial for ensuring that the data collected is accurate and consistent (Ledford et al., 2018). The fact that only 14 studies reported IOA in this review suggests that many studies may not have conducted adequate reliability checks, which can undermine the credibility and usefulness of their findings. Future studies should collect and report IOA data more systematically to improve the rigor and credibility of observations. Moreover, future studies should report how observers were trained, whether they were certified, or reached to a reliability standard before collecting data for the study.

Classroom Quality

Six studies compared the quality of preschool classrooms with and without children with disabilities in the United States. Of six studies, three used ECERS-R, two used ECERS, and one used CLASS. The findings of the studies using the ECERS or ECERS-R tools indicate that inclusive classrooms had higher overall and mean subscale scores than classrooms that only served typically developing children. However, the mean subscale scores for both classroom types generally fell within the good quality range (between 4 and 6). This suggests that both inclusive classrooms and classrooms that only served typically developing children generally provided good quality care as measured by ECERS or ECERS-R. One study that utilized the CLASS tool found that inclusive classrooms had higher mean scores for the Emotional Support and Classroom Organization domains, while classrooms that only served typically developing children had a higher score for the Instructional Support domain. The mean domain scores for Emotional Support and Classroom Organization were in the mid-range quality across classroom types. However, the mean quality score for Instructional Support was in the mid-range for classrooms that only served typically developing children and low range for inclusive classrooms. These findings suggest that while both types of classrooms generally provided good quality care, there may be areas for improvement in terms of instructional support, particularly in inclusive classrooms. Further research is needed to explore the factors that contribute to these differences and to identify strategies for improving the quality of early childhood education for all children.

Of the thirteen studies that utilized one of the ECERS measures, twelve were conducted in the United States, while one was conducted in Denmark. The studies conducted in the United States reported overall subscale scores that were in the good quality range (between 4 and 6), while the study conducted in Denmark reported overall subscale scores that were in the minimal quality range (between 2 and 4). Across the six studies that utilized the CLASS, three were conducted in the US, two were conducted in Spain, and one was conducted in Portugal. The reported mean domain scores for Emotional Support and Classroom Organization were in the medium quality range across the countries, while the mean score for Instructional Support domain was in the low-quality range.

The examination of the seven studies utilizing the ICP reveals significant geographical disparities in preschool classroom quality, which prompts a deeper inquiry into the factors influencing these outcomes. Among the studies, three were conducted in the United States, two in Greece, one in Türkiye, and one in Botswana. Findings from the United States show that average quality scores range from Poor to Good, while in Greece and Türkiye, they predominantly fall within the Poor to Minimal range. In Botswana, mean quality scores ranged from Minimal to Good. Although comparing the progress of different countries in promoting inclusion is challenging due to varying interpretations of inclusion in national policies and among researchers, this variability highlights the influence of different socio-cultural contexts and educational policies. Pianta et al. (2009) noted that systemic factors, such as teacher training and curriculum standards, play a crucial role in determining classroom quality. The impact of poor classroom quality in early childhood settings is significant, potentially affecting children's developmental trajectories and long-term educational outcomes (Burchinal, 2016). Therefore, further research is needed to explore the unique educational strategies employed in various countries.

These findings suggest that there are differences in preschool classroom quality across different countries, as measured by the ECERS, CLASS, and the ICP. While preschool classrooms in the United States generally scored well on the ECERS measures, there were differences in quality between the United States and Denmark on this measure. On the CLASS measure, preschool classrooms across countries scored similarly across all domains. For the ICP measure, the United States had higher scores overall than Botswana, Greece, and Türkiye, but there were variations in quality within the United States and within the other countries. These findings suggest that efforts are needed to improve preschool classroom quality globally and that further research is needed to understand the factors that contribute to differences in quality across countries. The EASNIE (2014) also stressed that teacher collaboration and professional development are key in raising these quality levels. Such approaches can help improve classroom environments, making them more inclusive and responsive to diverse needs.

Limitations

First, this study only included articles published in English, which may have limited the range of studies reviewed. There may be studies conducted in the international context that could provide additional evidence for the quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. Second, some relevant literature may have been excluded because the researchers did not clearly report whether the classroom environment was inclusive or not. This could have resulted in the exclusion of studies that met the other inclusion criteria

but did not explicitly state that the classroom included both children with and without disabilities. Finally, the study did not provide a detailed analysis of the quality of the articles included in the review.

Implications for Future Researc and Practice

The current systematic review provides valuable insights into the characteristics of studies focused on examining quality of inclusive preschool classrooms. The lack of consistent reporting of classroom and teacher demographics in studies focused on inclusive preschool classrooms is a significant limitation in understanding the characteristics of successful inclusive classrooms and limits the generalizability of the findings. Therefore, researchers should prioritize collecting and reporting detailed information on classroom characteristics and teacher demographics, including age, years of experience, and training on inclusion. This information could provide valuable insights for developing effective professional development programs for teachers in relation to improving classroom quality. Future studies should also consider including more diverse samples of teachers and classrooms to increase the generalizability of the findings. Additionally, the development of a standardized method for reporting classroom and teacher demographics in studies focused on inclusive preschool classrooms could improve the consistency and accuracy of future research in this area. Inconsistent reporting practices regarding the roles and training of individuals who conduct classroom quality measures raise concerns about the reliability and validity of the data collected. Future studies should provide more detailed information about the training and credentials of observers to ensure that data is collected using valid and reliable procedures. The limited reporting of the interobserver agreement reliability data across studies is another limitation that must be addressed in future research. Researchers should collect and report IOA data systematically to improve the rigor and credibility of their findings. The findings of the current review highlight differences in preschool classroom quality across different countries. It would be valuable to investigate country-specific factors that may be affecting preschool quality, such as funding, teacher training, and cultural differences, to develop tailored interventions to improve quality. Finally, future research should focus on developing a quality appraisal tool specifically designed for observational studies. This would fill a critical gap in the field and provide researchers with a standardized method to assess and compare the quality of observational research more effectively.

The results also suggest that inclusive classrooms may need improvement in the area of instructional support. Educators and policymakers should focus on identifying strategies to improve instructional support in inclusive classrooms to ensure that all children receive high-quality early childhood education. To ensure successful implementation of inclusive practices, professional development programs should be designed to equip educators with the necessary skills to support diverse learners. Training should focus on evidence-based strategies for fostering social interactions, adapting curricula, and implementing individualized support for children with disabilities. By investing in ongoing training and support, educators will be better prepared to create high quality inclusive environments that meet the needs of all children. The EASNIE (2014) further emphasizes that continuous professional development should incorporate collaboration between educators and families to create personalized support systems for each child.

The use of established quality assessment tools, such as the Inclusive Classroom Profile, can provide valuable insights into the effectiveness of inclusive practices. Regular evaluations of classroom quality can help educators identify areas for improvement and track progress over time. Schools and programs should adopt a culture of continuous assessment to enhance the overall quality of inclusive education. The EASNIE (2014) supports the idea of embedding ongoing assessments into daily practices, ensuring that inclusivity and quality are monitored at every stage.

Collaboration among educators, families, and support services is crucial for creating effective inclusive environments. Schools should promote open communication with families and involve them in the decision-making process regarding their child's education. Building strong partnerships with families can enhance support systems for children with disabilities, ultimately leading to better educational outcomes. Policymakers should advocate for the allocation of resources to support high-quality inclusive

A Systematic review of studies investigating quality...

programs. This includes funding for professional development, classroom materials, and resources that facilitate inclusive practices. By creating policies that prioritize inclusivity and classroom quality, stakeholders can ensure that all children have access to high-quality early childhood education.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: The study was conceptualized and the paper was written by the first and second authors. The third author contributed to the completion of interrater reliability coding.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: Not applicable.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Not applicable.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Ibrahim H. Acar through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

* Studies that met all inclusion criteria.

- Aguiar, A. L., & Aguiar, C. (2020). Classroom composition and quality in early childhood education: A systematic review. *Children* and Youth Services Review, 115(2020), 105086. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105086</u>
- *Aguiar, A. L., Aguiar, C., Cadima, J., Correia, N., & Fialho, M. (2019). Classroom quality and children's social skills and problem behaviors: Dosage and disability status as moderators. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 49(2019), 81–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.05.005</u>
- *Aguiar, C., Moiteiro, A. R., & Pimentel, J. S. (2010). Classroom quality and social acceptance of preschoolers with disabilities. *Infants* and Young Children, 23(1), 34–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/IYC.0b013e3181c9766e</u>
- *Bakkaloglu, H., Sucuoglu, B., & Yilmaz, B. (2019). Quality of inclusive preschool classrooms: Predictive variables. *Education and Science*, 44(199), 223–238. <u>https://doi.org/10.15390/EB.2019.7839</u>
- Burchinal, M. (2016). Large-scale evaluations of child care as a context for development: Implications for research and practice. In K.
 E. Sanders & A. W. Guerra (Eds.), *The culture of child care: Attachment, peers, and quality in diverse communities* (pp. 205–228).
 Oxford University Press.
- Burchinal, M. R., Roberts, J. E., Riggins, R., & Zeisel, S. A. (2000). Relating quality of center-based child care to early cognitive and language development longitudinally. *Child Development*, 71(2), 339–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00149</u>
- *Buysse, V., Wesley, P. W., Bryant, D., & Gardner, D. (1999). Quality of early childhood programs in inclusive and noninclusive settings. *Exceptional Children*, 65(3), 301–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001440299906500302</u>
- *Cadima, J., Aguiar, C., & Barata, M. C. (2018). Process quality in Portuguese preschool classrooms serving children at-risk of poverty and social exclusion and children with disabilities. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 45(2018), 93–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.06.007</u>
- *Campbell, P., Milbourne, S., Silverman, C., & Feller, N. (2005). Promoting inclusion by improving child care quality in inner-city programs. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 28(1), 65–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/105381510502800107</u>
- *Chhabra, S., Bose, K., & Chadha, N. (2018). Early childhood educators' perspectives and practices about inclusion of children with special needs in Botswana. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 32(2), 234–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2018.1425223</u>
- *Classen, A. I., & Westbrook, A. (2022). Professional credential program: Impacting early childhood inclusive learning environments. International Journal of Inclusive Education, 26(7), 719–736. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2020.1717652</u>
- *Clawson, C., & Luze, G. (2008). Individual experiences of children with and without disabilities in early childhood settings. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 28(3), 132–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121407311482</u>
- Clifford, R. M., Reszka, S. S., & Rossbach, H.-G. (2010). *Reliability and validity of the early childhood environment rating scale*. FPG Child Development Institute.

- *Coelho, V., Cadima, J., & Pinto, A. I. (2019). Child engagement in inclusive preschools: Contributions of classroom quality and activity setting. *Early Education and Development*, 30(6), 800–816. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2019.1591046</u>
- Cohen, J. (1960). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 20(1), 37-46. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000104
- Cunningham, D. D. (2010). Relating preschool quality to children's literacy development. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 37(6), 501–507. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-009-0370-8</u>
- DEC/NAEYC. (2009). Early childhood inclusion: A joint position statement of the Division for Early Childhood (DEC) and the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina, FPG Child Development Institute. <u>https://doi-org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1177/1096250609344935</u>
- Diamond, K. E., & Huang, H.-H. (2005). Preschoolers' ideas about disabilities. Infants and Young Children, 18(1), 37-46.

European Commission. (2013). Support for children with special educational needs (SEN). Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion.

- European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (EASNIE). (2014). Five key messages for inclusive education. https://www.european-agency.org/sites/default/files/Five%20Key%20Messages%20for%20Inclusive%20Education.pdf
- European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (EASNIE). (2017). *Inclusive Early Childhood Education: Literature Review*. Denmark. <u>https://www.european-agency.org/sites/default/files/IECE%20Literature%20Review.pdf</u>
- European Agency for Special Needs and Inclusive Education (EASNIE). (2024, October). Inclusive early childhood education. https://www.european-agency.org/activities/inclusive-early-childhood-education
- Environment Rating Scales Institute (ESRI), Inc. (n.d.) Information on Authorized Trainers for the Environment Rating Scales (ERS). Retrieved from <u>https://www.ersi.info/PDF/Info%20on%20Authorized%20ERS%20trainers.pdf</u>
- *File, N., & Kontos, S. (1993). The Relationship of program quality to children's play in integrated early intervention settings. *Topics* in Early Childhood Special Education, 13(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/027112149301300104</u>
- *Fyssa, A., & Vlachou, A. (2015). Assessment of quality for inclusive programs in Greek preschool classrooms. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 37(3), 190–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815115606908</u>
- Green, K., Terry, N., & Gallagher, P. (2014). Progress in language and literacy skills among children with disabilities in inclusive early reading first classrooms. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*. 33(4), 249-259. <u>https://doi.org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1177/0271121413477498</u>
- *Grisham-Brown, J., Cox, M., Gravil, M., & Missall, K. (2010). Differences in child care quality for children with and without disabilities. *Early Education and Development*, 21(1), 21–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409280902783491</u>
- Harms, T., & Clifford, R. M. (1980). Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale. Teachers College Press.
- Harms, T., Clifford, R., & Cryer, D. (2005). Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale-Revised edition. Teachers College Press.
- Harms, T., Clifford, R. M., & Cryer, D. (2015). Early Childhood Environment Rating Scale, Third Edition (ECERS-3). Teachers College Press.
- *Hestenes, L., Cassidy, D., Shim, J., & Hegde, A. (2008). Quality in inclusive preschool classrooms. *Early Education and Development*, 19(4), 519-540. <u>https://doi.org:10.1080/10409280802230973</u>
- Holahan, A., & Costenbader, V. (2000). A comparison of developmental gains for preschool children with disabilities in inclusive and self-contained classrooms. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 20(4), 224–235.
 <u>https://doi.org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1177/027112140002000403</u>

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Regulations, 34 CFR § 300.1, (2004).

- *Jeon, H.-J., Langill, C. C., Peterson, C. A., Luze, G. J., Carta, J. J., & Atwater, J. B. (2010). Children's individual experiences in early care and education: Relations with overall classroom quality and children's school readiness. *Early Education and Development*, 21(6), 912–939. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10409280903292500</u>
- Kazdin, A. E. (2010). Single-case research designs: Methods for clinical and applied settings (2nd ed.). Oxford University Press
- *Keesbury, S. A. (2015). Student outcomes in a blended preschool program. Journal of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals, 2015(1),147–173.
- *Kontos, S., Moore, D., & Giorgetti, K. (1998). The ecology of inclusion. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 18(1), 38-48. https://doi.org/10.1177/027112149801800107
- *La Paro, K. M., Sexton, D., & Snyder, P. (1998). Program quality characteristics in segregated and inclusive early childhood settings. Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 13(1), 151–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0885-2006(99)80030-1</u>
- Lawrence, S., Smith, S., & Banerjee, R. (2016). Preschool inclusion: Key findings from research and implications for policy. https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/doi/10.7916/D8571C1C

A Systematic review of studies investigating quality...

- Ledford, J., Lane, J., & Severini, K. (2018). Systematic use of visual analysis for assessing outcomes in single case design studies. *Brain Impairment*, 19(1), 4-17. https://doi.org/10.1017/BrImp.2017.16
- *Muccio, L. S., Kidd, J. K., White, C. S., & Burns, M. S. (2014). Head Start instructional professionals' inclusion perceptions and practices. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 34(1), 40–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0271121413502398</u>
- Musgrove. (2012). United States Department of Education, Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) [Dear Colleague Letter]. Preschool LRE. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/speced/guid/idea/memosdcltrs/preschoollre22912.pdf
- *Næsby, T. (2020). The quality of inclusion in Danish preschools. *Early Child Development and Care, 190*(10), 1561–1573. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2018.1541320
- Odom, S., Buysse, V., & Soukakou, E. (2011). Inclusion for young children with disabilities: a quarter century of research perspectives. Journal of Early Intervention, 33(4), 344–356. <u>https://doi-org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1177/1053815111430094</u>
- Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (ED). (2011). 33rd Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the" Individuals with Disabilities Education Act," 2011.
- Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services (ED). (2021). 43rd Annual Report to Congress on the Implementation of the" Individuals with Disabilities Education Act," 2021.
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T., Mulrow, C., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., McDonald, S., ... Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *British Medical Journal*, 372(71), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71</u>
- *Pelatti, C. Y., Dynia, J. M., Logan, J. A. R., Justice, L. M., & Kaderavek, J. (2016). Examining quality in two preschool settings: Publicly funded early childhood education and inclusive early childhood education classrooms. *Child and Youth Care Forum*, 45(6), 829–849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-016-9359-9</u>
- Pianta, R. C., Barnett, W. S., Burchinal, M., & Thornburg, K. R. (2009). The effects of preschool education: What we know, how public policy is or is not aligned with the evidence base, and what we need to know. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, 10(2), 49-88. https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100610381908
- Pianta, R., Downer, J., & Hamre, B. (2016). Quality in early education classrooms: Definitions, gaps, and systems. *The Future of Children*, 26(2), 119-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/foc.2016.0015</u>
- Pianta, R. C., La Paro, K., & Hamre, B. K. (2008). Classroom Assessment Scoring System (CLASS). Paul H. Brookes.
- Siraj-Blatchford, I., & Wong, Y. (1999). Defining and evaluating 'quality' early childhood education in an international context: dilemmas and possibilities. *Early Years*, 20(1), 7–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0957514990200102</u>
- Slot, P. (2018). *Structural characteristics and process quality in early childhood education and care: a literature review* (Ser. OECD education working papers, no.176). OECD Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/edaf3793-en</u>
- Soukakou, E. P. (2012). Measuring quality in inclusive preschool classrooms: Development and validation of the Inclusive Classroom Profile (ICP). *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27(3), 478-488. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2011.12.003</u>
- *Soukakou, E. P., Winton, P. J., West, T. A., Sideris, J. H., & Rucker, L. M. (2014). Measuring the quality of inclusive practices: Findings from the Inclusive Classroom Profile pilot. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 36(3), 223–240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815115569732</u>
- *Stanton-Chapman, T. L., Walker, V. L., Voorhees, M. D., & Snell, M. E. (2016). The evaluation of a three-tier model of positive behavior interventions and supports for preschoolers in Head Start. *Remedial and Special Education*, 37(6), 333–344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932516629650</u>
- Vandell, D., & Wolfe, B. (2000). Child care quality: Does it matter and does it need to be improved? Madison: Institute for Research on Child Poverty, University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- *Vlachou, A., & Fyssa, A. (2016). Inclusion in practice: Programme practices in mainstream preschool classrooms and associations with context and teacher characteristics. *International Journal of Disability, Development & Education, 63*(5), 529–544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2016.1145629</u>
- Whitebook, M., McLean, C., Austin, L.J.E., & Edwards, B. (2018). Early Childhood Workforce Index–2018. Berkeley, CA: Center for the Study of Child Care Employment, University of California, Berkeley. <u>http://cscce.berkeley.edu/topic/early-childhoodwork-force-index/2018/</u>
- Wolery, M., Pauca, T., Brashers, M. S., & Grant S. (2000). *Quality of inclusive experiences measure*. Frank Porter Graham Child Development Center, University of North Carolina.
- *Yeomans-Maldonado, G., Justice, L. M., & Logan, J. A. R. (2019). The mediating role of classroom quality on peer effects and language gain in pre-kindergarten ECSE classrooms. *Applied Developmental Science*, 23(1), 90–103. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1321484</u>

An international scoping review focused on gifted and talented children: Early identification and inclusive education

Fanny Mossberg¹, Johanna Lundqvist², Louise Sund³

Abstract: Gifted and talented children should be identified at an early stage and provided with opportunities to thrive, flourish, and develop in inclusive education. Inclusive education refers to a sense of belonging, and development to one's fullest, including talent development. This international scoping review aims to investigate contextual and environmental factors contributing to well-functioning inclusive education, with a particular focus on early identification of gifted and talented children. The Bioecological model for human development and the Differentiating Model of Giftedness and Talent constituted the framework. Twenty-three (N=23) research articles were included and two thematical analyses were conducted. Regarding early identification, five influential factors (i.e., themes) were created: Knowledge about giftedness and talent; Opportunities for all children to demonstrate their abilities; Identification strategies; Collaborations; and Teacher education and professional development. Regarding well-functioning inclusive education, five factors (i.e., themes) were created, which, in addition to early identification, will also play a role; these were: Policies recognising inclusion and gifted and talented children; Appreciation of diversity; Additional educational provisions; Peer interactions and learning; and Home-school partnership. A factor model for early identification and well-functioning inclusive education targeting giftedness and talent is presented, and suggestions for practitioners and further research are provided.

Introduction

Article History

Received: 02 September 2024 Accepted: 22 October 2024

Keywords

Education; Gifts and talents; Identification strategies; Preschool and school

This international scoping review is about inclusive education, early identification, and giftedness and talent. It aims to investigate contextual and environmental factors that contribute to well-functioning inclusive education, with a particular focus on early identification of gifted and talented children.

The article begins with an introductory section covering inclusive education, early identification, and gifted and talented children. Subsequently, the aim and research questions are clarified. Following this, there is an outline of the review method, and the results are presented. Finally, the article concludes with a discussion.

Inclusive Education and Early Identification

Inclusive education is an appreciation of diversity, where all children obtain a sense of belonging and are able to develop to their fullest (Lundqvist, 2018; Sandall et al., 2019; Tirri & Laine, 2017). Therefore, inclusive education is about children who thrive and flourish, and have opportunities to develop further, together with peers. Thriving covers a child's sense of belonging and psychological well-being, whereas flourishing refers to developing to one's fullest and having the opportunity to contribute to the greater good of society (Sayler, 2009; Sternberg, 2023). However, it is also about ensuring that all staff members

¹ Mälardalen University, School of Education, Culture and Communication, Department for Special Education, Eskilstuna, Sweden, e-mail:<u>fanny.mossberg@mdu.se</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0009-0004-4909-5685</u>

² Mälardalen University, School of Education, Culture and Communication, Department for Special Education, Eskilstuna, Sweden, e-mail:<u>johanna.lundqvist@mdu.se</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3092-1738</u>

³ Mälardalen University, School of Education, Culture and Communication, Department for Special Education, Eskilstuna, Sweden, e-mail:<u>louise.sund@mdu.se</u>, ORCID: <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3690-9879</u>

Fanny MOSSBERG et al.

and families who work and are enrolled in education feel that they are supported and have a sense of belonging (Sandall et al., 2019).

Inclusive education takes various forms (Guralnick et al., 2008; Lundqvist et al., 2015). One example is full inclusion, in which all the children participate in the classroom activities taking place. Another example is partial inclusion, in which inclusive education is combined with some pulled-out educational provisions, when needed.

Previous studies concentrating on inclusive education and gifted and talented children have shown that those children attend inclusive education but are not always provided with opportunities to experience a sense of belonging or to develop to their fullest (Harju-Luukkainen et al., 2022; Margrain & Lundqvist, 2019; Pardeck & Murphy, 2018), for example in preschool and school in Sweden (Margrain & van Bommel, 2022; Mattsson & Bengmark, 2011; Persson, 2010). Consequently, there is room for improvement, and it is important to provide knowledge about factors that contribute to well-functioning inclusive education.

Today, inclusive education is an international agreement and goal, and development to one's fullest is the right of every child. For example, the Salamanca declaration (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation [UNESCO], 1994) promotes inclusion, the worldwide Sustainable Development Goal Number 4 aims to ensure "inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all" (United Nations [UN], 2015, Goal Number 4) by 2030, and the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child states that "the education of the child shall be directed to |...| the development of the child's personality, talents and mental and physical abilities to their fullest potential" (1989, Article 29).

It goes without saying that a teacher who knows the children well in a class can plan and provide an inclusive education that matches the children's abilities. Consequently, identification of children's abilities, such as giftedness and talents, is a factor that contributes to well-functioning inclusive education.

Even at an early age, it is possible to identify children's gifts and (emerging) talents (Brighton & Jarvis, 2017; Coates et al., 2009; Čotar Konrad, & Kukanja Gabrijelčič, 2015). In fact, childhood is considered a crucial period for this (Huang, 2008). Yet, previous studies on early identification, and gifted and talented children have shown that this is not always achieved (Brighton & Jarvis, 2017; Grant & Morrissey, 2021; Luria et al., 2016; Peters et al., 2020). Thus, there is room for improvement in this regard, and it is important to provide knowledge about factors that contribute to early identification of giftedness and talent.

Unidentified and unnurtured giftedness and talents can negatively affect a child, leading to problems such as misinterpretations and underachievement (Brighton & Jarvis, 2017; Delisle & Schultz, 2021; Sayler, 2009; Veas et al., 2016). Some examples are boredom, depression, a low level of self-esteem, and an overall unpleasant inclusive educational experience. Such manifests can create a situation where a child is misunderstood as arrogant, disruptive, and unmannerly, and not, correctly, as a gifted and talented child. Underachievement refers to a considerable gap between expected and actual performance consistent over time, unrelated to a disability (Reis & McCoach, 2000; Ridgley et al., 2020; White et al., 2018). Regarding a child with both gifts and talents, and a disability (i.e., twice-exceptionality), his or her gifts and talents and disability may mask one another (Baldwin et al., 2015). Therefore, only one of these may be identified and addressed during planning and provision of inclusive education. This can also negatively affect a child.

Gallagher and Gallagher (1994) and Sternberg (2022, 2023) have stressed that identifying and nurturing giftedness (and talent) also have great significance for society at large and in the progress towards a better and more sustainable world; thus, these are not only beneficial for individual children's sense of belonging, development, and talent development. Gallagher and Gallagher (1994) explained this as follows:

Failure to help gifted children reach their full potential is a societal tragedy, the extent of which is difficult to measure but which is surely great. |...| These gifted students are a substantial part of the difference between what we are and what we could be as a society. (p. 4)

An international scoping review focused on gifted and talented children...

Theories

In this review, alignment is established with the Bioecological model for human development (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 1998, 2006). The model encompasses four interplaying contextual systems that, together with two other systems (i.e., the biosystem and chronosystem), influence children's intellectual, social, emotional, and moral development. These four contextual systems are: the microsystem (i.e., the child's immediate settings), the mesosystem (i.e., linkages between these immediate settings), the exosystem (i.e., distal events, seen from a child's perspective, that influence immediate settings and their linkages), and the macrosystem (i.e., characteristics of a culture, such as policy content). These influences from contextual factors on child development are often illustrated by trees' growth rings. One practical scenario is that an education act in a country (macrosystem), allocations of resources to a preschool or school (exosystem), teacher-parent communications (mesosystem), and teacher-child interactions (microsystem) interplay, and jointly influence a child's development.

Alignment is also established with the Differentiating Model of Giftedness and Talent (DMGT, Gagné, 2021), explicitly focused on talent development. Gifts (and giftedness) refer to aptitudes in one or several domains (i.e., intellectual, creative, social, perceptual, muscular, and motor control), whereas talents refer to competencies in one or several fields (i.e., academic, technical, science and technology, arts, people service, management and sales, business systems, sports and athletics, and games). Figure 1 presents an overview of the DMGT. The model presents gifts (G) to the left and talents (T) to the right. In the middle is the developmental process (D) – from giftedness to talent – influenced by both intrapersonal (I) catalysts (i.e., physical, psychological, motivation and volition) and environmental (E) catalysts (i.e., social, interpersonal, and educational). Chance (C) represents opportunities to develop talent and relates to both genetic and family background. It is placed behind G, E, I and D components since it influences these.

DMGT links giftedness and talent to the top 10% of the population. This percentage can be understood as being one or a few children in every preschool group or school class.

These two models are compatible, and, in this review, they are considered to complement one another. Constituting the conceptual and theoretical framework for the review, they provide useful and valuable concepts and explanations.



Figure 1. The Differentiating Model of Giftedness and Talent (DMGT) summary

Note. Obtained from "Dr. Françoys Gagné, 2012-2023, 'DMGT EN', para. DMGT Popular Slides". Reprinted with permission.

Aim and Research Questions

This scoping review aims to investigate contextual and environmental factors contributing to wellfunctioning inclusive education for gifted and talented children. Particular attention is given to early identification of giftedness and talent. The following questions are posed: (RQ1) What factors contribute to
the early identification of gifted and talented children? (RQ2) In addition to early identification, what factors contribute to well-functioning inclusive education in which gifted and talented children experience a sense of belonging and develop to their fullest?

Method

In this international scoping review, guidelines from Arksey and O'Malley (2005), Peters et al. (2015), Levac et al. (2010) and Peters, Marnie et al. (2020) were followed. Using these guidelines, it was possible to identify research results, including implications and conclusions. An online software platform (i.e., Covidence; www.covidence.org) was used in the review as well as the Excel database program. Two reflexive thematic analyses, as presented by Braun and Clarke (2006, 2022), were conducted; one for each research question. Using such analyses, it was possible to identify patterns (i.e., themes) within research results of the chosen topics of interest, and to answer the research questions.

Since the review paid particular attention to early identification, articles dealing with this were sought. Furthermore, since the review also focused on other factors promoting well-functioning inclusive education (i.e., a sense of belonging, and development), such factors were also sought in these articles.

Inclusion Criteria

To begin we set the inclusion criteria. An article had to fulfil several requirements to be included. The criteria related to time, target population, topics, contained articles, the geographical location of researchers, the language used, and peer-review processes (Table 1).

Table 1. Inclusion criteria

Description
1 January 2010 – 30 April 2023
Children and teachers in educational settings, such as inclusive preschool
and early school years, teacher educators, evaluators, and researchers
Social science, education
Empirical studies or reviews
International
English
Peer-reviewed

Search Strategy and Selection of Articles

To identify articles for the review, the first author searched the electronic database SCOPUS, using a broad set of terms. The query for SCOPUS was:

(TITLE-ABS-KEY (giff* OR talent* OR "high* ab*" OR "more ab*") AND TITLE-ABS-KEY (child* OR student* OR pupil*) AND TITLE-ABS-KEY (k OR k-12 OR k-3 OR "childhood education*" OR education* OR preschool* OR kindergarten OR daycare* OR "infant school*" OR school*) AND TITLE-ABS-KEY (identif* OR notic* OR detec* OR recogn* OR discov*) AND TITLE-ABS-KEY (environment* OR "environment* factor*" OR context OR setting* OR influencing OR "influenc* factor*") OR TITLE-ABS-KEY (scale* OR assess* OR observ* OR test OR trace OR character*) AND PUBYEAR > 2009 AND PUBYEAR < 2024 AND (LIMIT-TO (SUBJAREA , "SOCI")) AND (LIMIT-TO (LANGUAGE , "English")) AND (LIMIT-TO (SRCTYPE , "j"))

The result of the SCOPUS search on 26 April 2023: N=994. The articles (N=994) were uploaded into Covidence. Thereafter, the first author, through manual scanning and reading of titles and abstract, excluded a total of 785 articles, and included 207 in the initial selection. Articles were disregarded if they did not meet the inclusion criteria in Table 1 and were kept when they did. To further refine the selection of articles, the first author conducted a second round of reading, involving a full-text review of these 207 articles. Once again, the inclusion criteria were controlled. At the same time, the first author assessed the quality of these articles (i.e., scientific article disposition; the use of empirical data). This phase of review resulted in the additional exclusion of 189; 18 articles were left in the review. Additionally, the first author conducted a hand-search via the reference lists in these remaining articles, as well as a hand-search in these articles' journals. On 23 May 2023, this additional search yielded three more articles. The first author then

performed a search using the electronic database ProQuest (ERIC) to identify relevant studies on the topic, although this did not yield any further articles for inclusion in the review. However, two articles previously known to the authors were added to the review. In summary, 23 articles were included in the review process. This total is calculated as the sum of the initially included 18 articles, the three articles found in the hand-search, and the two articles previously known about. Figure 2 presents a flowchart of the search and selection.

With two exceptions, author two confirmed the inclusion of theses 23 articles. Authors one and two discussed these two minor discrepancies and jointly decided to retain the two articles in the review.





¹ No additional articles were obtained from ProQuest (ERIC) but three articles using hand-searching were found and two articles previous known to the authors were added.

Data Chartering for an Overview of the Included Articles

To gain an overview of the included articles, the first author entered data for each of the 23 included articles using the Excel database program. For each article, this author charted the following information: author(s), year of publication, study location, study population (Table 2), aim of the study, methodology, concept, key findings, and important results from the included articles.

Article	Author(s)	Year of	Geographical	Educational settings
number		publication	location	and participants
1	Adedoyin and Chisiyanwa	2018	Botswana	Pre-school teachers
2	Akman et al.	2017	Turkey	Preservice preschool teachers
3	Al-Mahdi et al.	2021	Bahraini	School teachers
4	Bačlija Sušić and Brebrić	2022	Croatia	Preschool/kindergarten children
5	Bildiren	2018	Turkey	Parents to gifted children in
				preschool

Table 2. Articles reviewed

6	Bildren et al.	2023	Turkey	Gifted children and their families
7	Carman et al.	2020	USA	Kindergarten students
8	Dağlıoğlu and Suveren	2013	Turkey	Kindergartens of elementary school
				teachers and parents
9	Dereli and Deli	2022	Turkey	Pre-school teachers
10	Havigerová et al.	2013	Czech Republic	Preschool nursery teachers and
				parents
11	Idsøe et al.	2022	Norway	Early Childhood Education and
				Care (Kindergarten) teachers and
				parents
12	Jawabreh et al.	2022	Palestine	Pre-school teachers
13	Kaplan Sayı and Yurtseven	2022	Turkey	Primary school students
14	Kazem et al.	2014	Oman	School students
15	Lee et al.	2022	South Korea	Elementary school teachers
16	Mack et al.	2021	Germany	Elementary school teachers
17	Matthews and Rhodes	2020	USA	Kindergarten-2nd grade policies
18	Mohamed and Elhoweris	2022	United Arab Emirates	Preschool teachers
19	Nissen	2019	Denmark	School children, adolescents,
				parents, and teachers
20	Nordström	2022	Sweden	Preschool teachers and principals
21	Winsler et al.	2013	USA	Childcare or pre-K
22	Yetti et al.	2021	Indonesia	Kindergarten teachers
23	Zhang	2023	China and Scotland	Primary school teachers

In-depth Review Using Two Reflexive Thematic Analyses

The first author conducted reflexive thematic analyses of research results, implications, and conclusions obtained from the included articles. These were not strictly linear analyses, but rather progressive but recursive.

Analysis one was related to RQ1. The first author initiated the analysis by familiarising herself with research data linked to factors contributing to early identification, involving reading and rereading of the included articles, and noting sections or sentences concentrated on such factors (Phase 1). The author semantically coded these research data through a critical reading (Phase 2). The codes were organised into potential themes (Phase 3), the first author reviewed the themes, and ensured all data coded were related to a theme (Phase 4). The author generated a definition for each theme and named the themes (Phase 5). Finally, the first author finessed and finished the writing process and wrote the result for RQ1 (Phase 6). Analysis two, related to RQ2, with one exception, was the same as the first analysis: it was linked to factors, in addition to early identification, contributing to well-functioning inclusive education. One example of the non-linear analyses was going back to previous phases, when needed.

With few exceptions, author two confirmed the themes. Authors one and two discussed these discrepancies and jointly decided to make refinements. These were to merge four themes into two themes, to omit one theme, and to add some more articles to some themes.

The results include numbers related to the articles (Table 2), as well as examples and some quotations from the articles to increase trustworthiness.

Results

The results begin with RQ1.

Contextual and Environmental Factors That Contribute to Early Identification of Giftedness and Talent

Five factors (i.e., themes) were created in the first analysis:

(1.1) Knowledge about giftedness and talent

- (1.2) Opportunities for all children to demonstrate their abilities
- (1.3) Identification strategies
- (1.4) Collaborations (professionals and parent)
- (1.5) Teacher education and professional development

Knowledge about Giftedness and Talent

The first factor (i.e., theme) revolves around the importance of teachers (does not exclude other preschool and school staff members in this review) having knowledge about characteristics of giftedness and talent. Teachers need to know what giftedness and talent are to identify such abilities.

According to the review, there are several characteristics of giftedness and talent (Table 3). One overall characteristic is a high ability to learn, that is, rapid and effortless learning. These are characteristics that teachers should pay attention to during early identification. All reviewed articles relate to this factor.

Table 3. Characteristics presented in the articles, and examples

Characteristics	Examples
Curiosity-driven behaviour	Asks specific and clever questions, wonders, engages oneself in theories, and explores further. Is a keen and curious observer.
Concentration, motivation, and intense interests	A long attention span, a willingness to learn, lots of energy and enthusiasm in a topic, and stays on task despite setbacks. Loves, for example, art, dance, music, and/or sport.
A high general intelligence and ability for logical thinking; also creativity and problem-solving ability	Enjoys solving puzzles designed for older children, engages in complex games, thinks quickly and processes information rapidly, foresees outcomes, imagination, makes connections between topics, understands abstract concepts, and solves problems. Imagination, perfectionism, flexibility, structuredness and high ambitions.
A strong memory	Demonstrates strong memory and retention of what has been learned.
Developed perceptions	Good understanding of both visual and verbal impressions, for example in dances and lyrics.
High ability to express oneself and language competence	Early talk, broad vocabulary, long and correct sentences, verbalization, and communications skills. Early reading and above average ability in reading, both decoding and reading comprehension. High language competence regarding writing (i.e., early letter and sounds awareness, and writing skills).
Advanced motor skills	Early and advanced fine motor skills (e.g., grasping and holding objects), gross motor skills (e.g., early walking, high bodily awareness, and smooth movement), a high degree of energy, kinesthetic intelligence, and spatial abilities.
Social competence and leader skills	Prefers older companions/friends, excels in leadership, and shows interest in social issues. Maturity for his/her age, self-confidence, and precociousness.
Subject-specific knowledge and high academic performance	Rapid and effortless learning in preschool and school (e.g., computer program, language, and mathematics) and performs well on tests.
Humour	Great sense of humour.
Compassion	Sensitivity, a sense of fairness, conscientiousness, empathy, and responsibility.
Other examples	At time, bluntness and non-flexibility in socializing with others and question authorities in ways that can be perceived as negative.

Note. The examples should be read as in relation to same-age peers.

Opportunities for All Children to Demonstrate Their Abilities

The second factor reflects that teachers should provide challenges for all children to make it possible for them to demonstrate their abilities. Teachers who provide challenges, for example a problem to be solved, are likely to stimulate children to express themselves in various ways and perform at levels that display giftedness and talent, making it possible and easier to identify gifts and talent among children. Articles related to the second factor are those numbered 2-4, 6-12, 15, 17-18, 21 and 22, and explicitly 4, 17 and 22.

Identifications Strategies

The third factor, closely related to factor 2, focuses on strategies that teachers should be familiar with

and use to identify giftedness and talent among children, according to the review. This factor implies that several strategies (Table 4) are useful and valuable for teachers. Strategies relate to one child, a few selected children, or the whole class, and different methods, instruments, and media are useful and valuable. Articles related to the third factor are 2-4, 6-12, 14-15, 17-19, 21 and 22.

Table 4. Identification strategies presented in the articles and descriptions

Strategies	Descriptions
Observation	A teacher observes children and identifies characteristics of giftedness and talent.
Comparison	A teacher compares a child's abilities, test results or grades with those of same age peers and makes a conclusion regarding giftedness and talent.
Teacher nomination	A teacher nominates a child whom he/she thinks is gifted and talented.
Self-nomination	A child tells a teacher of his/her giftedness and talent, the teacher listens and recognises this.
Peer nomination	A peer nominates a child whom he/she thinks has outstanding abilities.
Video recording or pictures and analysis	Video recording and analysis of a child's characteristics (giftedness and talent). One example is a recording and analysis of a child's dance movements to identify early dance talents via the instrument Measures of Creativity in Sound and Music developed by Wang in 1985 (see article 4).
Portfolio	Having a portfolio for each child in a preschool or school. A portfolio comprises samples (e.g., texts, photographs) of a child's educational activities and work, and shows a child's development over time. A teacher follows and analyses a child's development through a portfolio and makes a conclusion regarding giftedness and talent.
Interview	A conversation regarding giftedness and talent.
A school contest or competition	A contest or competition in which children demonstrate their abilities. A teacher observes and identifies characteristics of giftedness and talent. "Contents and competitions serve as a means to spot talented students" (18, p. 7).
Screening test	 A teacher screens the whole class or some selected children by means of a screening tool. Screening is useful and valuable in the beginning of an early identification process, "which involves selecting the potentially gifted and talented from among the students" (18, p. 7). Screenings are universal or near universal; "universal screening provides the best opportunity to identify the highest number of students with gifted potential" (16, p. 430). Two examples of screening test: Naglieri Non-Verbal Ability Test7 (NNAT2) developed by Naglieri in 2008 (see article 7) is used to assess general abilities through non-verbal tests. Cognitive Abilities Test7 (CogAT7) developed by Lohman in 2011 (see article 7) is used in groups, covering verbal, quantitative, and non-verbal ability domains.
Tests	 Tests developed to identify gifts and talents. Examples are: Gifted Identification Kit developed by a research team in the USA, to discover gifted children through ten different learning settings, including mathematical, analytical, spatial, and linguistic settings. The Primary Mental Abilities Test (PMA 5-7), developed by Thurstone and Thurstone in 1981 (see article 8), widely used for prequalification (8, p. 447) consisting of subsections for language, discrimination ability, concept of number and space. Goodenough-Harris' Draw-a-person Test for children, developed by Harris in 1963 (see article 5 and 8), is a general aptitude test to measure mental development.
Structured observation	 A teacher observes children in everyday activities and identifies characteristics of giftedness and talent using structured observation. One example is: Teacher Observation Forms (TOF), developed by Leroux and McMillian in 1993, (see article 8) to nominate potentially gifted children. It consists of general features and characteristics of gifted behaviour, including sections on learning, creativity, and leadership.
Checklists and scales	 A protocol taking the form of a checklist comprising characteristics of giftedness and talent. A teacher compares a result related to a child with one or several same-age peers. A protocol taking the form of scale (e.g., 1=never to 6=always) to identify giftedness and talent. Examples of checklists and scales are: The Characteristics of Giftedness Scale (CGS), developed by Silverman in 1973 (see article 10), for early identification of intellectually gifted children; it captures behavioural characteristics through a four-level scale. Scale for Rating the Behavioural Characteristics of Gifted and Talented Students, developed by Demirok and Ozcan in 2016 (see article 12), regarding teachers' perception about gifted children and their characteristics. Through a 5-point Likert scale, graded from 1=strongly disagree to 5=strongly agree, 33 items in five factors - willingness to learn (n=9), expressions characteristics (n=8), personal characteristics (n=6), learning characteristics (n=6), and mental characteristics (n=4) - are considered. Having Opportunities Promotes Excellence (HOPE-scale), developed by Peter and Gentry in 2012 (see article 15), to identify characteristics that may indicate giftedness and talent in children from low-income and/or culturally diverse families/hackgrounds "who may net 'sbing' academically"

	An international scoping review focused on gifted and talented children
	 (15, p. 425). Eleven items are sorted as academic (n=6) and social (n=5). Examples include eager to explore new concepts, thinks outside the box, and shows compassion for others on a 6-point scale (1=never to 6=always). Scale for Rating the Behavioural Characteristics of Superior Students (Renzulli scale), developed by Renzulli in 2002 (see article 14). Three extracts from this scale are: "The student demonstrates: advanced vocabulary for his or her age or grade level, the ability to grasp underlying principals, the ability to deal with abstractions". The answer is 1=never, 2=very rarely, 3=rarely, 4=occasionally, 5=frequently or 6=always.
Questionnaire	A teacher and/or parent answers a questionnaire in which giftedness and talent are in the foreground.

Note. Descriptions of instruments are created from the explanations in the articles.

Collaborations

The fourth factor (theme) demonstrates that teachers should collaborate with other professionals and parents during early identification. For example, teachers should cooperate with second language teachers and special education needs coordinators since they may have other insights on gifts and talents that the teachers do not have. Two more examples are a child or school psychologist who helps a teacher to identify giftedness, for example using WISC-R, and an administrator who cooperates during the administration and conduct of standardised tests. Articles related to this element of the fourth factor are 1, 3, 5, 9, 17-18 and 20-21.

This factor also revolves around teachers interacting and collaborating with parents. The theme reflects the importance of parents (i.e., a child's caregiver) sharing information about their child, and teachers listening to parents. This information from parents may encompass descriptions of gifts and talents, and also any difficulties those children may have (i.e., twice exceptionality). One quote from article 8 is: "It is an undeniable fact that parents and teachers are indispensable in the early identification of gifted children" (p. 449). Another quotation (article 18) is as follows: "From parents to teachers, everybody plays a vital role in determining students with giftedness" (p. 5). Parents' motivation for early identification is a decisive factor, and, at times, a formal request from a parent is what initiates an early identification process. This can be referred to as a parent nomination. For example, a parent observes his/her child, makes recordings or a portfolio, compares with other children, and tells a teacher of his/her child's giftedness and talent. The Parent Observation Form (POF), developed by Leroux and McMillian in 1993, is one example of an observational form for parents; it contains general features and characteristics of children's gifted behaviour. However, at times, parents can overestimate their children.

Articles related to this element of the fourth factor are 5, 6, 8-10, 17-19 and 21-22.

Teacher Education and Professional Development

The fifth factor implies that teacher students (i.e., prospective teachers) should be given opportunities to acquire knowledge about giftedness and talent, and early identification, for example by way of a (compulsory) course on giftedness and talent within their teacher education. Articles related to this element of the fifth factor are 1-2, 9 and 20.

This factor also implies that teachers and other staff members already working in a preschool group or school class should be given opportunities to continuously develop and increase their knowledge about the characteristics of giftedness and talent, and early identification, as required, for example by way of inservice training, an online course (perhaps the course given to teacher students), webinars, workshops, academic conferences, and a professional learning community. According to the review, other ways include the use of books, brochures, television programmes, and seminars. Articles related to this element of the fifth factor are 1, 8-9, 12 15, 20 and 23.

Furthermore, according to the review, some teachers experience uncertainty about identifying gifted and talented children while simultaneously expressing a desire to learn and know more, for example about characteristics of giftedness and talent and ways to identify them. Well-educated teachers prepared for these matters easily notice characteristics of giftedness and talent and are also aware of various methods strategies of identification and how to make these (more) equitable.

Contextual and Environmental Factors that Contribute to Well-Functioning Inclusive Education

The results continue with RQ2. In addition to early identification, five factors (themes) were created in the second analysis:

(2.1) Policies recognising inclusion and gifted and talented children

- (2.2) An appreciation of diversity
- (2.3) Additional educational provisions
- (2.4) Peer interactions and learning
- (2.5) Home-school partnership

Policies Recognising Inclusion and Gifted and Talented Children

The first factor stresses that inclusion and gifted and talented children should be recognised in educational policies and recommendations. One example is to advocate for additional educational provisions. From such a governmental level, adequate resources should also be provided. Article 1 concludes that "it should be mandatory that all early years teachers engage with the concept of giftedness" (p. 226), and article 20 underlines the importance "of an education that allows all children to develop as far as possible" (p. 282). Article 23 concludes: "To meet the learning needs of highly able children, the government should reform the education system and provide more educational resources so that highly able children are properly supported in regular class teaching" (p. 13). Articles related to the first factor are 1, 12, 17-18, 20 and 23.

Appreciation of Diversity

The second factor reflects the importance of teachers appreciating all children, including gifted and talented children. Some examples include: teachers who provide children a secure everyday life in preschool and school; teachers who are willing to support and stimulate children in their learning; teachers who ensure that children sense success, accomplishment, and meaningfulness; and teachers who are aware of twice-exceptionality and pay attention to both special educational needs and gifts and talents in preschool and school. Articles related to this element of the second factor are 1, 13, 15, 17, 20 and 23.

This theme also reflects the importance of principals appreciating all children at their preschools and schools, including the gifted and talented children. Principals should demonstrate an insight (such as knowledge about giftedness and talent), a willingness to cater for all children, and provide adequate resources (e.g., time for planning and collaboration with colleagues) to teachers. When given these resources, teachers can provide the necessary support and additional educational provisions to the children. Article 20 states that principals "have a key role in terms of if and how gifted children are supported" (p. 271). Articles related to this element of the second factor are 3, 9, 18, 20 and 23.

Additional Educational Provisions

The third factor indicates the importance of giving additional educational provisions to gifted and talented children to ensure they receive a suitable education. According to the review, there are several types of educational provisions. These are inclusive and are referred to as challenging learning tasks and stimulating activities, such as extra or more work, additional tasks, activities, and homework. They also encompass enriched activities, enrichments, and enrichment programs to help children develop interests; differentiated programs, different tasks, activities, and programs; projects rooted in the children's interests; and acceleration (e.g., an acceleration program or grade skipping). These often include opportunities for high-level thinking and assignments aligned with the child's strengths and interests, aiming to motivate and inspire, as well as offering opportunities for a child to exchange ideas, solve problems, conduct experiments, participate in discussions, and engage in tasks on a higher abstract level. These provisions are also referred to as gifted programming, special programs, special classes in selected subjects away from their class, elements of pull-out (e.g., a mentor outside his or her regular classroom, separate special classes,

and special out-of-school activities like weekend, summer or holiday programs and courses), which are not always inclusive oriented.

For these provisions, a wide range of activities (e.g., various types of teacher instructions, brainstorming, group work and self-discovering learning, and teachers who model, interact, scaffold, and endorse), materials (i.e., a variety of supplementary materials such as advanced reading material), and technology tools (e.g., mind and intelligence games) are needed. For this, curricula flexibility and a flexible pacing are also necessary, along with less crowded classrooms, larger classrooms, classroom modifications, teacher energy and willingness, and teachers who collaborate with others.

According to the review, inclusive education benefits gifted and talented children and their peers. Two reasons are that gifted and talented children encourage their peers to pursue excellence, and they develop social skills in inclusive education. However, there are concerns that inclusive education may curb the development of gifts and talent. Therefore, the following conclusion, relating to partial inclusion, is made in article 18: "inclusion with adjunct special sessions or classes might be a better learning set-up" for gifted and talented children (p. 8). Articles related to the third factor are 1, 3-4, 7, 9, 13, 15, 17-21 and 23.

Peer Interactions and Learning

The fourth factor demonstrates the importance of teachers encouraging peer interactions and learning with peers, as well as between like-minded gifted and talented children. Having gifted and talented students together is what 'like-minded' refers to. According to the review, gifted and talented children need and benefit from peer interactions, also with like-minded, for example, facilitated through enrichments, group work, or a special class or similar. Articles related to the fourth factor are 3, 9, 13, 17 and 18.

Home-school Partnership

The fifth factor highlights the importance of teachers working in partnership with and supporting families of gifted and talented children. Teachers need to meet these families with a positive attitude, helping parents to understand the characteristics of giftedness and talent when this is new for them, and supporting them in how to cater for a child with gifts and talents. When working in partnership with families and supporting them, both the (pre)school and home environment will play a significant role in the children's development, two examples being their reading skills and talent development. Articles related to the fifth factor are 9, 10, 18, 20 and 23.

Conclusion and Discussion

The review revealed various contextual and environmental factors contributing to early identification, and to achieving well-functioning inclusive education. These factors do not conflict with each other; instead, they can be understood as interplaying factors complementing one another.

The authors have created a factor model for early identification and well-functioning inclusive education targeting giftedness and talent (Figure 3). It is rooted in the review's results and provide a visual overview. The model can form the basis for important preschool and school discussions and professional development, since it shed light on factors, from the micro to the macro, in need of attention and improvements. The small circles in the model demonstrate, and remind its users of, that early identification is an ongoing process.



Figure 3. A Factor Model for Early Identification and Well-Functioning Inclusive Education targeting Giftedness and Talent Note. Various contextual and environmental factors contributing to achieving well-functioning inclusive education. The small circles demonstrate early identification as an ongoing process.

All the created factors (i.e., themes) can be placed within the four contextual systems outlined in the bioecological model for human development (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 1998, 2006). This includes the microsystem (e.g., knowledge about giftedness and talent; opportunities for all children to demonstrate their abilities; identification strategies; appreciation of diversity; peer interactions and learning; additional educational provisions), the mesosystem (e.g., home-school partnership), the exosystem (e.g., collaborations, teacher education, and professional development), and the macrosystem (e.g., policies recognising inclusion and gifted and talented children). Thus, according to the bioecological model, these are influential contextual factors on children's intellectual, social, emotional, and moral development. It is also possible to relate some elements of the factors to the biosystem (i.e., the child as a person) and chronosystem (e.g., when identification should occur). All the factors (themes) can also be related to the DMGT proposed by Gagné (2021). Corresponding to the DMGT, these are environment catalysts (i.e., social, interpersonal, and educational) for talent development, allocated in between gifts and talents in this model. It is also possible to relate some parts of the factors to the intrapersonal catalysts (i.e., the child as a person). This means that the review provides insight into early identification and well-functioning inclusive education in relation to these two theoretical models. This may facilitate and enhance the use and

value of these factors and theories in preschools and schools.

Noteworthy Results and Implications Related to Early Identification

First, the results show that early identification of gifted and talented children goes beyond IQ tests, and that a high IQ alone should not be equated with giftedness and talent. Thus, one important implication is to not solely rely on an IQ test during early identification, but rather view giftedness and talent in a broader perspective. *Second*, even though early identification is a process depending on several factors, all its elements do not necessarily require considerable amounts of a teacher's time. For example, using a scale does not need to take much time. *Third*, the results of the review suggest that early identification is a shared responsibility. Teachers play an important role but so do principals, colleges, parents, and peers. It is, however, crucial for teachers and principals to understand their pivotal role and undertake leadership positions on this matter. This is reflected in the many factors (i.e., themes) directly related to teachers and principals. These noteworthy results are acknowledged in the model's small circles (Figure 3).

Noteworthy Results and Implications Related to Well-Functioning Inclusive Education

First, the factors contributing to well-functioning inclusive education go beyond one or two additional educational provisions; policies recognising inclusion and gifted and talented children; appreciation of diversity; additional educational provisions; peer interactions and learning; and home-school partnership, also have an influence, as illustrated in the model (Figure 3). *Second*, an early identification of giftedness and talent is not a motive for exclusion, that is, a direct placement in segregated education or special classes. Rather full inclusion or partial inclusion with some elements of pull-out provisions is to be preferred, according to this review. *Third*, the results of the review suggest that child development, including talent development, is a shared responsibility. Teachers and principals play an important role but so do parents, as also illustrated in the model.

Limitations, Knowledge Contribution and Suggestions for Further Research

This review has limitations. It was restricted to articles published in English. Only two databases and some hand searches were used. The review does not reveal whether there are identification strategies that are more widespread or effective than others, or if a certain order of identification strategies is to be preferred. Moreover, under-achieving children and under-represented groups of children with gifts and talents are not in the foreground of this review. Neither does the review reveal whether there are factors that are more important than others for achieving well-functioning inclusive education.

Despite its limitations, this international scoping review provides knowledge on factors that contribute to well-functioning inclusive education, with a particular focus on early identification of gifted and talented children. The review and its theoretical framework are not context-bound but relevant in different countries and educational systems. Some examples of differences are available resources in educational settings, collaboration strategies (e.g., between teacher and parents, and between teachers, special education teachers, and specialists in giftedness and talent), teacher training opportunities, culture emphases on giftedness and talent, and policy implementation (see Adedoyin & Chisiyanwa, 2018; Al-Mahdi et al., 2021; Persson, 2010; Reis & McCoach, 2000). For example, a country with low-resource educational settings, lack of specialized educational training, or cultural barriers such as negative attitudes towards giftedness and inclusive educational training, and positive attitudes. While different countries and educational systems can learn and gain insights from the review and its theoretical framework, they have various pathways to early identification and achieving well-functioning inclusive education for gifted and talented children.

Further research could investigate whether there are more influentials factors, and whether some factors are more widespread or effective than others. Further research could also explore how gifted and talented children and their parents experience early identification of giftedness and talent to ensure these are linked to positive experiences. In further research, parents and families can be mentioned in the target population, alongside children and teachers in educational settings (Table 1). Moreover, further research

on early identification and inclusive education could pay particular attention to under-achieving and under-represented groups of children with gifts and talents. In addition, further research might investigate and validate the use and value of the Factor Model for Early Identification and Well-Functioning Inclusive Education targeting Giftedness and Talent, in particular identification strategies (i.e., factor and theme 1.3) suggested in the review, in different countries and inclusive educational settings. One final suggestion for further research is innovative models for teacher training.

Relevance

The review provides important knowledge since previous studies have shown there is room for improvement on such matters as inclusive education and early identification of giftedness and talent (Brighton & Jarvis, 2017; Grant & Morrissey, 2021; Harju-Luukkainen et al., 2022; Luria et al., 2016; Margrain & Lundqvist, 2019; Pardeck & Murphy, 2018; Peters et al., 2020). Inclusive education is an international agreement and goal (UN, 2015; UNESCO, 1994), development to one's fullest is a human right (UN, 1989), and identifying and nurturing giftedness (and talent) have great significance for society at large in the progress towards a better and more sustainable world (Gallagher & Gallagher, 1994; Sternberg, 2022, 2023).

It has relevance to policymakers, principals, head teachers, teachers, parents, teacher educators, educational researchers and others interested in early identification of giftedness and talent, childhood, inclusive education, and sustainable society. The review is, as we see it, of particular importance in countries where giftedness and talent in preschool and school is a growing field of knowledge, for example Sweden.

Declarations

Authors' Declarations

Acknowledgements: Not applicable.

Authors' contributions: FM, a PhD student enrolled in the GiftED research school in Sweden, planned the study, conducted the review and analysis, and wrote the article. JL, an associate professor and researcher, planned the study, contributed to conducting the review and analysis, and the revision of the article. LS, an associate professor and researcher, planned the study and contributed to the revision of the article.

Competing interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Funding: The review was supported by "Educational provisions for gifted or highly able students in inclusive educational systems: Gifted Education Doctoral Programme for teacher educators" and the Swedish Research Council.

Ethics approval and consent to participate: Not applicable.

Publisher's Declarations

Editorial Acknowledgement: The editorial process of this article was completed under the editorship of Dr. Aileen S. Garcia through a double-blind peer review with external reviewers.

Publisher's Note: Journal of Childhood, Education & Society remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliation.

References

References marked with an asterisk (*) are studies included in the scoping review.

- *Adedoyin, O. O., & Chisiyanwa, L. A. (2018). Predictors of numeracy skills giftedness in young children: Perceptions of Botswana early childhood practitioners. *African Educational Research Journal*, 6(4), 218. <u>https://doi.org/10.30918/AERI.64.18.080</u>
- *Akman, B., Mercan Uzun, E., Kardeş, S., & Yazıcı, D. (2017). Preservice preschool teachers views on the characteristics of gifted children. *Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists*, 5(3), 70-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.17478/JEGYS.2017.65</u>
- *Al-Mahdi, O., Yaakub, A. B., & Abouzeid, A. (2021). Gifted education: Perspectives and practices of school principals in Bahrain. International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education, 10(2), 576. <u>https://doi.org/10.11591/ijere.v10i2.21176</u>
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: Towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 8(1), 19-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616</u>

- *Bačlija Sušić, B., & Brebrić, V. (2022). Encouraging and assessing preschool children's musical creativity. *Early years*, 44(2), 328–340. https://doi.org/10.1080/09575146.2022.2139356
- Baldwin, L., Baum, S., Pereles, D., & Hughes, C. (2015). Twice-exceptional learners: The journey toward a shared vision. Gifted Child Today, 38(4), 206-214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217515597277</u>
- *Bildiren, A. (2018). Developmental characteristics of gifted children aged 0-6 years: Parental observations. *Early Child Development* and Care, 188(8), 997-1011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2017.1389919</u>
- *Bildiren, A., Firat, T., & Kavruk, S. Z. (2023). Developmental characteristics of a 0- to 3-year-old gifted child based on video analysis. *Gifted Education International*, 39(3), 459-481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02614294221146623</u>
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77-101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp0630a
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). Thematic analysis: a practical guide. SAGE. https://doi.org/10.53841/bpsqmip.2022.1.33.46
- Brighton, C. M., & Jarvis, J. M. (2017). Early identification and intervention in gifted education: Developing talent in diverse learners. In *Handbook of Special Education* (Second Edition,pp. 882-893). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315517698-68</u>
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (1998). The ecology of developmental processes. In W. Damon & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development (pp. 993–1028). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2006). The bioecological model of human development. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (Eds.), Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development (pp. 793–828). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470147658.chpsy0114</u>
- *Carman, C. A., Walther, C. A. P., & Bartsch, R. A. (2020). Differences in Using the Cognitive Abilities Test (CogAT) 7 Nonverbal Battery Versus the Naglieri Nonverbal Ability Test (NNAT) 2 to Identify the Gifted/Talented. *The Gifted child quarterly*, 64(3), 171-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986220921164</u>
- Coates, D., Shimmin, A., & Thompson, W. (2009). Identifying and supporting gifted children in a nursery school (kindergarten). *Gifted Education International*, 25(1), 22-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/026142940902500105</u>
- Čotar Konrad, S., & Kukanja Gabrijelčič, M. (2015). Professional competences of preschool teachers for working with gifted young children in Slovenia. Journal for the Education of Gifted Young Scientists, 3(2), 65-78. https://doi.org/10.17478/IEGYS.2015214279
- *Dağlıoğlu, H. E., & Suveren, S. (2013). The role of teacher and family opinions in identifying gifted kindergarten children and the consistence of these views with children's actual performance. *Educational sciences: Theory & practice*, 13(1), 444.
- Delisle, J. R., & Schultz, R. A. (2021). Underachievement and the quest for dignity: Contemporary perspectives on a timeless issue. In S. R. Smith (Ed.), Handbook of giftedness and talent development in the Asia-Pacific (pp. 607-629). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3041-4_28</u>
- *Dereli, E., & Deli, H. (2022). Pre-school teachers' knowledge and needs related to noticing gifted children and the enrichment model. *Participatory Educational Research*, 9(2), 219-239. <u>https://doi.org/10.17275/per.22.37.9.2</u>
- Gagné, F. (2021). Implementing the DMGT's constructs of giftedness and talent: What, why, and how?. In S. R. Smith (Ed.), *Handbook* of giftedness and talent development in the Asia-Pacific (pp. 71-99). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3041-4_3</u>
- Gallagher, & Gallagher. (1994). Teaching the gifted child. Allyn and Bacon.
- Grant, A., & Morrissey, A.-M. (2021). The young gifted learner: What we know and implications for early educational practice. In S. R. Smith (Ed.), Handbook of giftedness and talent development in the Asia-Pacific (pp. 129-150). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3041-4_57</u>
- Guralnick, M. J., Neville, B., Hammond, M. A., & Connor, R. T. (2008). Continuity and change from full-inclusion early childhood programs through the early elementary period. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 30(3), 237-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815108317962</u>
- Harju-Luukkainen, H., Björklund, C., Sandberg, E., & Rhinehart, L. (2022). Experiences of educational support for mathematical highability children in Finland. A netnography of parental perspective from ECE to the school context. In H. Harju-Luukkainen, N. B. Hanssen, & C. Sundqvist (Eds.), Special education in the early years: Perspectives on policy and practice in the Nordic countries (pp. 135-149). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91297-0_10
- *Havigerová, J., Juklová, K., & Haviger, J. (2013). When parents and teachers assess intellectual giftedness of preschool children. New Educational Review, 34(4), 188-197.
- Huang, S.-Y. (2008). Early identification: Cultivating success for young gifted children. *Gifted Education International*, 24(1), 118-125. https://doi.org/10.1177/026142940802400113
- *Idsøe, E. C., Campbell, J., Idsøe, T., & Størksen, I. (2022). Development and psychometric properties of nomination scales for high academic potential in early childhood education and care. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 30(4), 624-637. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2021.2007969</u>

- *Jawabreh, R., Danju, İ., & Salha, S. (2022). Exploring the characteristics of gifted pre-school children: Teachers' perceptions. Sustainability, 14(5), 2514. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14052514
- *Kaplan Sayı, A., & Yurtseven, N. (2022). How do gifted students learn? Their learning styles and dispositions towards learning. *Education* 3-13, 50(8), 1031-1045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004279.2021.1929380</u>
- *Kazem, A., Alzubaidi, A., Mohamed, A., & Renzulli, J. (2014). The factor structure of the scales for rating the behavioural characteristics of superior students (SRBCSS): Results on an Omani sample. *International Journal for Talent Development and Creativity*, 2(1), 127-136.
- *Lee, H., Seward, K., & Gentry, M. (2022). Equitable identification of underrepresented gifted students: The relationship between students' academic achievement and a Teacher-Rating Scale. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 33(3), 400-432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X221088816</u>
- Levac, D., Colquhoun, H., & O'Brien, K. K. (2010). Scoping studies: Advancing the methodology. *Implementation Science*, 5(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-69
- Lundqvist, J. (2018). *Tidiga insatser och barns utbildningsvägar: inkludering och specialpedagogik* [Early interventions and children's educational pathways: inclusion and special needs education] (Första utgåvan ed.). Natur & kultur.
- Lundqvist, J., Allodi Westling, M., & Siljehag, E. (2015). Inclusive education, support provisions and early childhood educational pathways in the context of Sweden: A longitudinal study. *International Journal of Special Education*, 30(3), 3-16.
- Luria, S. R., O'Brien, R. L., & Kaufman, J. C. (2016). Creativity in gifted identification: increasing accuracy and diversity. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1377(1), 44–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.13136</u>
- *Mack, E., Breit, M., Krischler, M., Gnas, J., & Preckel, F. (2021). Talent development in natural science in elementary school: A juxtaposition of research and practice. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 104, 103366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103366</u>
- Margrain, V., & Lundqvist, J. (2019). Talent development in preschool curriculum and policies: Implicit recognition of young gifted children. In V. Margrain & A. Löfdahl Hultman (Eds.), Challenging democracy in early childhood education: Engagement in changing global contexts (pp. 41-55). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-7771-6_4</u>
- Margrain, V., & van Bommel, J. (2022). Implicit and inclusive early education for gifted children Swedish policy and international possibilities. In H. Harju-Luukkainen, N. B. Hanssen, & C. Sundqvist (Eds.), Special education in the early years: Perspectives on policy and practice in the Nordic countries (pp. 43-57). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91297-0_4</u>
- *Matthews, M. S., & Rhodes, H. A. (2020). Examining identification practices and services for young advanced and gifted learners in selected North Carolina school districts. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 31(4), 411-435. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X20908878</u>
- Mattsson, L., & Bengmark, S. (2011). On track to gifted education in mathematics in Sweden. In Sriraman, B., Lee, K.H. (Eds), The elements of creativity and giftedness in mathematics. Advances in creativity and giftedness (Vol 1., pp. 81-101). SensePublishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6091-439-3_6</u>
- *Mohamed, A., & Elhoweris, H. (2022). Perceptions of preschool teachers of the characteristics of gifted learners in Abu Dhabi: A qualitative study. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1051697. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1051697</u>
- *Nissen, P. (2019). Detecting talent from the perspectives of students, parents, and teachers. US-China Education Review B, 9(4), 119-127. <u>https://doi.org/10.17265/2161-6248/2019.04.001</u>
- *Nordström, M. E. (2022). Swedish preschool teachers and principals' conceptions of giftedness and gifted education. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 45(3), 271-291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01623532221105602</u>
- Pardeck, J.T., & Murphy, J.W. (Eds.). (2018). Young gifted children: Identification, programming and socio-psychological issues (1st ed.). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429469008</u>
- Persson, R. S. (2010). Experiences of intellectually gifted students in an Egalitarian and inclusive educational system: A survey study. Journal for the Education of the Gifted, 33(4), 536-569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/016235321003300405</u>
- Peters, M., Marnie, C., Tricco, A., Pollock, D., Munn, Z., Alexander, L., McInerney, P., Godfrey, C., & Khalil, H. (2020). Updated methodological guidance for the conduct of scoping reviews. *JBI Evidence Synthesis*, 18(10), 2119-2126. <u>https://doi.org/10.11124/JBIES-20-00167</u>
- Peters, M. D., Godfrey, C. M., Khalil, H., McInerney, P., Parker, D., & Soares, C. B. (2015). Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews. Int J Evid Based Healthc, 13(3), 141-146. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/XEB.000000000000050</u>
- Peters, S. J., Carter, J., & Plucker, J. A. (2020). Rethinking how we identify "gifted" students. Phi Delta Kappan, 102(4), 8-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721720978055
- Reis, S. M., & McCoach, D. B. (2000). The underachievement of gifted students: What do we know and where do we go?. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 44(3), 152-170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001698620004400302</u>
- Ridgley, L. M., DaVia Rubenstein, L., & Callan, G. L. (2020). Gifted underachievement within a self-regulated learning framework:

Proposing a task-dependent model to guide early identification and intervention. *Psychology in the Schools, 57*(9), 1365-1384. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22408

- Sandall, S. R., Schwartz, I. S., Joseph, G., Gauvreau, A. N., & Hemmeter, M. L. (2019). Building blocks for teaching preschoolers with special needs. Paul H. Brookes Pub. Co.
- Sayler, M. F. (2009). Gifted and thriving: A deeper understanding of meaning of GT. In L. V. Shavinina (Ed.), International Handbook on Giftedness (pp. 215-230). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6162-2_9</u>
- Sternberg, R. J. (2022). Identification for utilization, not merely possession, of gifts: What matters is not gifts but rather deployment of gifts. *Gifted Education International*, 38(3), 354-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/02614294211013345</u>
- Sternberg, R. J. (2023). Giftedness does not reside within a person: Defining giftedness in society is a three-step process. *Roeper Review*, 45(1), 50-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02783193.2022.2145400</u>
- Tirri, K., & Laine, S. (2017). Ethical challenges in inclusive education: The case of gifted students. In A. Gajewski (Ed.), *Ethics, Equity,* and Inclusive Education (Vol. 9, pp. 239-257). Emerald Publishing Limited. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-36362017000009010</u>
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation.(1994). *The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education*. Paris: UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/notice?id=p::usmarcdef_0000098427</u>
- United Nations. (1989). Convention on the Rights of the Child. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-rights-child
- United
 Nations.
 (2015).
 Sustainable
 Development
 Goals.

 https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable%20Development%2
 0web.pdf
- Veas, A., Gilar, R., Castejón, J. L., & Miñano, P. (2016). Underachievement in compulsory secondary education: A comparison of statistical methods for identification in Spain. European Journal of Investigation in Health, Psychology and Education, 6(3), 133-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ejihpe6030010</u>
- White, S. L. J., Graham, L. J., & Blaas, S. (2018). Why do we know so little about the factors associated with gifted underachievement? A systematic literature review. *Educational Research Review*, 24, 55-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.03.001</u>
- *Winsler, A., Gupta Karkhanis, D., Kim, Y. K., & Levitt, J. (2013). Being black, male, and gifted in Miami: Prevalence and predictors of placement in elementary school gifted education programs. *The Urban review*, 45(4), 416-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-013-0259-0</u>
- *Yetti, E., Siti Syarah, E., & Machfauzia, A. (2021). Which educational dance programs can be used to identify children's talents. *Cakrawala Jurnal Pendidikan*, 40(2), 445-456. <u>https://doi.org/10.21831/cp.v40i2.33942</u>
- *Zhang, T. (2023). Meeting the needs of highly able readers in the primary classroom: Teachers' perceptions in China and Scotland. *Educational review*, 75(6), 1150-1167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2021.2001437</u>